Signals of Physiological Status Modulate

Food- and Food-Cue-Driven Activity of Dopamine Neurons

ΒY

VAIBHAV R. KONANUR B.S. & B.A., University of California, San Diego, 2010 M.S., University of California, San Diego, 2012

THESIS

Submitted as partial fulfillment of the requirements For the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Neuroscience in the Graduate College of the University of Illinois at Chicago, 2023

Chicago, Illinois

Defense Committee:

Christian J. Peters, Chair Mitchell F. Roitman, Advisor Jamie D. Roitman Janet Richmond Daniel McGehee, University of Chicago

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis is a culmination of a lot of hard work from a lot of people. I am but a flag atop a hill of dedicated individuals who fortified my tenure in graduate school.

I consider myself extremely fortunate to have had Dr. Mitchell Franklin Roitman as my graduate student advisor. I am grateful for Mitch's endless patience for my antics and his guidance for when I felt rudderless. I always felt supported and secure under his tutelage. His humor brightened my dull moments, while his wisdom highlighted the depth of his dedication to my success. In the future, I hope to find myself as good a mentor as he has been to me.

My journey into graduate school would not have started without Dr. Scott Kanoski. Serving as a manager and technician in his lab was instrumental in forming my interest in studying ingestive behaviors. I appreciate his support and encouragement at the beginning stages of my academic career.

A special mention goes to my dear friends Dr. Ted Hsu and Sam Hurh. Thank you, Ted, for providing me with mentorship so that I may be a better scientist. Thank you, Sam, for enriching my life in and out of the lab.

Thank you to both my parents for attending to my every need. I could not have managed my sanity without your support— especially during the most difficult times. You have always enabled me to be my best self, regardless of where I directed my life.

Finally, my fiercest appreciation goes to my wife, Dr. Erika Olson. This kind, understanding, beautiful, thoughtful, and generous human inspires and propels me every day. I cherish every moment with you, and I will be forever grateful for your unending support.

ii

AUTHORSHIP STATEMENT

Chapter III has been previously published as "Phasic dopamine responses to a food-predictive cue are suppressed by the glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist Exendin-4" in the journal Physiology and Behavior (vol 215: 0031-9384; PMID# 31821815). I (V.R.K.) was the primary co-author with Dr. Ted M. Hsu (T.M.H.) and Drs. Scott E. Kanoski (S.E.K.), Matthew R. Hayes (M.R.H.), and Mitchell F. Roitman (M.F.R.) were co-authors. Author contributions were as follows: V.R.K, T.M.H., S.E.K., M.R.H, and M.F.R. designed research; V.R.K. performed research; V.R.K. analyzed data; V.R.K, T.M.H., S.E.K., M.R.H, and M.F.R. M.R.H., and M.F.R. wrote the paper.

<u>CHAPTER</u> <u>PAGE</u>
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION 1
A. Preface 1
B. Neural control of eating behaviors 1
C. Dopamine control of motivated behavior6
D. The neuroanatomical organization of the mesolimbic dopamine system
E. Eating behavior is multifaceted and is encoded in the mesolimbic dopamine system13
F. Hunger modulates aspects of eating behavior related to dopamine signaling15
G. The hindbrain is a gatekeeper in gut-brain communication
H. Glucose utilization is a harbinger of hunger19
I. Glucagon-like peptide 1 signaling regulates satiety and the suppression of motivated eating behavior21
J. Implications for current studies23
CHAPTER II: CYTOGLUCOPENIA POTENTIATES DOPAMINE NEURON ACTIVITY EVOKED BY FOOD REWARD AND FOOD PREDICTIVE CUES
A. Introduction
B. Materials and methods27
B. 1. Subjects
B. 2. Surgeries
B. 3. Intraoral infusion and photometry sessions28
B. 4. Drug injections
B. 5. In Vivo Fiber Photometry
B. 6. Signal normalization and processing31
B. 7. Immunohistochemistry and verification of recording sites
B. 8. Statistical analyses
C. Results
C. 1. Food restriction enhances phasic dopamine signaling in the ventral tegmental area to food .33

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

C. 2. 5TG induced cytoglucopenia potentiates food evoked phasic dopamine signaling	34
C. 3. Insulin induced cytoglucopenia potentiates food evoked phasic dopamine signaling	35
C. 4. 5TG fails to potentiate phasic dopamine signaling to intraoral water	37
C. 5. Central glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor (GLP-1R) stimulation suppresses phasic dopamin signaling to food	ie 37
C. 6. Food-cues evoke robust phasic dopamine signaling in the ventral tegmental area	. 38
C. 7. 5TG potentiates food-cue evoked and sucrose evoked dopamine signaling in a site-specific manner	c 39
D. Discussion	.39
CHAPTER III: PHASIC DOPAMINE RESPONSES TO A FOOD-PREDICTIVE CUE ARE SUPPRESSED BY THE GLUCAGON-LIKE PEPTIDE-1 RECEPTOR AGONIST EXENDIN-4	Г . 51
A. Introduction	.51
B. Materials and methods	.53
B. 1. Subjects	53
B. 2. Behavior	54
B. 3. Surgery	54
B. 4. Fiber photometry	55
B. 5. Signal normalization	56
B. 6. Pharmacology	56
B. 7. Immunohistochemistry and verification of recording sites	57
B. 8. Statistical analyses	57
C. Results	.58
C. 1. Selective expression of calcium-dependent fluorescent construct captures dynamic fluctuations in dopamine signaling	58
C. 2. GLP-1R activation suppresses sucrose directed behavior	. 60
C. 3. Central GLP-1R activation selectively suppresses cue evoked dopamine activity in the VTA	61
C. 4. Magnitude of cue-evoked dopamine is correlated with indices of behavior	. 62
D. Discussion	.62
CHAPTER IV: GENERAL DISCUSSION	75
A. Physiological state modulates the neural representation of taste	76

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

B. Dopa	mine responses to food predictive cues are modulated by physiological state	.78
C. Cytog	glucopenia potentiates dopamine signaling to food and food-cues	.80
D. Gluca	agon-like peptide 1 suppresses dopamine signaling to food and food-cues	.84
E. The ir	mplications of a multiplexed dopamine signaling for obesity	.87
CITATION	IS	90
COPYRIG	HT STATEMENT1	39
CURRICU	LUM VITAE 1	40

TABLE OF FIGURES

CHAPTER II
Figure II.1: Intraoral sucrose evokes dopamine neuron activity in the VTA45
Figure II.2: 5TG induced cytoglucopenia modulates sucrose evoked dopamine neuron activity in a site- and time-dependent manner
Figure II.3: Peripheral insulin induced cytoglucopenia potentiates sucrose evoked dopamine47
Figure II.4: 5TG fails to potentiate water evoked dopamine neuron activity48
Figure II.5: Satiety inducing glucagon-like 1 receptor (GLP-1R) stimulation suppresses sucrose evoked dopamine neuron activity
Figure II.6: 5TG potentiates CS+ and sucrose evoked dopamine signaling in a site-specific manner
CHAPTER III
Figure III.1: Selective expression of calcium-dependent fluorescent construct in dopamine neurons captures dynamic fluctuations in dopamine signaling
Figure III.2: Ex4 dose-dependently suppresses indices of sucrose-directed behavior (n=5 male and n=5 female rats)
Figure III.3: Spontaneous VTA dopamine transients are not modulated by central Ex472
Figure III.4: Central Ex4 suppresses cue evoked dopamine activity73
Figure III.5: Magnitude of cue evoked dopamine activity is correlated with indices of sucrose- directed behavior

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

2DG	2-deoxy-glucose
4V	fourth ventricle
5TG	5-thio-D-glucose
aCSF	artificial cerebrospinal fluid
ADP	adenosine monophosphate
AMPK	5' adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase
Angll	angiotensin II
ANOVA	analysis of variance
AP	anterior-Posterior
ARC	arcuate nucleus
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
CA	catecholamine
Ca2+	calcium
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
ССК	cholecystokinin
CGRP	calcitonin gene-related peptide
CNS	central nervous system
Cre	cre recombinase
CS-	negative conditioning stimulus
CS+	positive conditioning stimulus
DV	dorsal-ventral
Ex4	exendin-4
Ga	guage
GABA	gamma-aminobutyric acid
GC/mL	genome copies per mL
GFP	green fluorescent protein
GLP-1	glucagon-like peptide 1
GLP-1R	glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor
GPCR	g protein-coupled receptor
h	hours
HLM	hierarchical linear model
Hz	hertz
i.c.v.	intracerebroventricular
i.p.	intraperotineal
ICSS	intracranial self stimulation
kg	kilogram
KPBS	potassium phosphate buffered saline
LDTg	lateral dorsal tegmental nucleus
LH	lateral Hypothalamus
LHA	lateral Hypothalamus
IPBN	lateral parabrachial nucleus
LV	lateral ventricle

mg	milligram
min	minutes
ML	medial-lateral
mL	milliliter
mm	millimeter
n	sample size
NAc	nucleus accumbens
NaCl	sodium chloride
ng	nanograms
nm	nanometer
NPY	neuropeptide Y
NTS	nucleus of the solitary tract
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
РКА	protein kinase A
PR	progressive ratio
PVN	paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus
RPE	reward prediction error
S	seconds
S.C.	subcutaneous
sEPSC	spontaneous excitatory postsynaptic currents
ТН	tyrosine hydroxylase
U/kg	units per kilogram
VTA	ventral tegmental area
ΔF/F	ratiometric change in fluorescence
μL	microliter
μm	micrometer

Summary

An animal's survival depends on a stable internal physiological status. Homeostasis must be maintained to adaptively navigate the world. Various physiological mechanisms are controlled within narrow ranges and deviations from homeostasis are detrimental to the organism's survival. Return to homeostasis is critical and largely governed by the organism's adaptive motivated behaviors. One neural substrate that initiates and maintains motivated behaviors is the mesolimbic dopamine system. Food and food associated stimuli evoke phasic increases in dopamine neuronal activity and dopamine release that correlate with approach behavior. Moreover, physiological state changes how food and food-cues influence behaviors that are dependent on phasic dopamine signaling. However, it is unclear how physiological state modulates dopamine signaling to generate appropriate behaviors. Identifying modulators of dopamine response magnitude may serve as viable interventions for maladaptive motivated behavior. The present thesis aims to explore signals that convey physiological state information to the mesolimbic dopamine system in the service of motivated behaviors and ultimately, homeostasis. Within homeostasis, energy status is tightly controlled. Perturbations in available energy generate hunger or satiety, leading an organism to engage in or cease behaviors directed at calories, respectively. Manipulating physiological state and understanding its role in modulating dopamine signaling will help unravel the neural circuitry of motivated behaviors.

The central nervous system to conveys energy status through many signals, including glucose and glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1). Glucose is a ubiquitous energy substrate monitored by the brain. Importantly, low glucose utilization (cytoglucopenia) is detected by the brain to promote robust motivated behavior directed at food - and is refered as a 'hunger' signal. Conversely, GLP-1 acts to suppress food intake and is known as a 'satiety' signal. Here, I manipulated these signals while measuring mesolimbic dopamine neural activity to characterize a node in a circuit responsive to appetitive and consummatory food reward.

Х

My research elucidates the neural mechanisms, originating in the mesolimbic dopamine system, that process food and food-cues in the face of caloric deficit and surfeit. In the first study I recorded real-time dopamine neuron activity in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) using a calcium sensor, GCaMP, while subjects were given intraoral sucrose. Central cytoglucopenia increased the magnitude of phasic VTA dopamine signaling evoked by intraoral sucrose and by sucrose associated cues. Interestingly, cytoglucopenia failed to augment water evoked phasic dopamine signaling, supporting that this circuit is tuned toward caloric stimuli. Furthermore, forebrain cytoglucopenia but not hindbrain cytoglucopenia potentiated sucrose-cue evoked phasic VTA dopamine signaling, suggesting a forebrain control of learned associations. In contrast, only hindbrain cytoglucopenia potentiated sucrose evoked VTA dopamine signaling, implying that hindbrain circuits may provide the VTA information regarding the sucrose reward. In the second study, I recorded activity in dopamine neurons with GCaMP while subjects were allowed to approach and ingest sucrose from a sipper which was preceded by an audio cue. I showed that GLP-1 suppressed phasic dopamine signaling to sucrose and sucrose-associated cues, while also suppressing food-directed behaviors. Together, this work supports that cytoglucopenia and GLP-1R signaling modulate eating behavior via central dopamine signaling.

Chapter I: Introduction

A. Preface

Many physiological parameters (e.g., pH, temperature, energy balance) of an organism are tightly controlled and are essential for survival. Any perturbations from the homeostatic set points result in compensatory behaviors to restore balance in that system. For example, food seeking and eating behaviors are compensatory responses to caloric deficiency and are a significant part of our daily life. However, we don't engage in eating behaviors passively to replenish our energy deficit. Rather, hunger and satiety inform how we view food and foodassociated cues, which in turn have powerful influence on our decisions on whether to seek and consume food. The signals and neural pathways that integrate physiological state and the drive directed toward food are only recently being elucidated.

Clinical and preclinical studies have characterized and implicated specific regions of the central nervous system in the expression of food-related behaviors during caloric deficiency. However, in today's obesogenic society, where the "sum of influences that the surroundings, opportunities, or conditions of life have on promoting obesity in individuals," (Swinburn et al., 1999) environmental factors undoubtedly influence the problem of obesity. To help ameliorate the global obesity crisis, we must understand the mechanisms through which signals that convey physiological state modulate neural representations of environmental cues and food stimuli.

In this manuscript, I will first provide a general overview of the neural control of eating behaviors. Then, I will describe the mesolimbic dopamine system's role in driving motivated behaviors, specifically in the context of eating. I will continue by discussing the hindbrain as a key region in the communication between the periphery and the brain via neural mechanisms and hormonal mechanisms. Then, I will discuss the role of glucose-sensing in hunger and the role of GLP-1 in satiety. This introduction section will culminate with the main implications and

questions answered by my work— those questions regarding how physiological state modulates mesolimbic dopamine signaling to appetitive and consummatory food reward. Collectively, these novel studies show that cytoglucopenia (signal of caloric deficit) and GLP-1 (signal of caloric surfeit) are both integrated in dopamine representations of food and food-cues that guide motivated behaviors toward food.

B. <u>Neural control of eating behaviors</u>

Eating is a motivated behavior directed toward food and is aroused by interoceptive and exteroceptive stimuli (Watts, 2001). Eating consists of four phases: initiation, appetitive (e.g. foraging), consummatory (e.g. biting, chewing, swallowing, etc.), and termination (Craig, 1917). Decades of research have been dedicated to understanding the neural substrates that govern each phase of eating behavior, with one of the largest contributions made by Eliot Stellar in 1954. He established a "dual-center" hypothesis that posited that the hypothalamus contained two population of neurons, one excitatory and one inhibitory that orchestrated the drive for and the cessation of motivated behaviors (Stellar, 1954). In Stellar's scheme, exteroceptive sensory stimuli and interoceptive physiological signals are integrated at the hypothalamus. The importance of the hypothalamus in appetitive behaviors was highlighted by pioneering work by Harvey Grill and Ralph Norgren. Rats were decerebrated by transecting the brain at the level of the superior colliculus, leaving the hypothalamus disconnected from the rest of the central nervous system. Decerebrate rats failed to approach food and only eat when food was delivered directly into their oral cavities (H. Grill & Norgren, 1978). Because decerebrate rats do not spontaneously eat, changes in food intake are measured by the amount of intraoral sucrose consumed until the rats reject the sucrose solution by passively letting it drip out of their mouths. Therefore, the hindbrain is sufficient to enact consummatory behaviors (the consummatory phase-stereotypical action that acquires the goal and terminates the motivated behavior (Freeman & Sherrington, 2006)). However, the motivation to eat (the appetitive phasecomponent of motivated behavior that increases the likelihood in acquiring the goal (Freeman & Sherrington, 2006)) seems to be controlled somewhere in the forebrain. While not necessary for consummatory behavior, communication between the hypothalamus and the hindbrain is critical for appetitive drive.

Although decerebration provides much needed insight into motivated behaviors, it essentially removes the whole forebrain, making it difficult to isolate the importance of the hypothalamus. More focal lesions of the hypothalamus were performed in seminal work by Bal Anand and John Brobeck, who Stellar featured in his appraisal of the hypothalamus in his hypothesis. Within the Stellar dual-center hypothesis, an excitatory center in the hypothalamus provides the drive for motivated behavior and the excitatory center is held in check by an upstream inhibitory hypothalamic center. In Anand and Brobeck's experiments, large bilateral electrolytic lesions in the lateral hypothalamus (LH) abolished food intake, whereas bilateral lesions of the ventromedial hypothalamus (VMH) resulted in voracious eating (Anand & Brobeck, 1951). Interestingly, the hypophagia of LH-lesioned animals could not be rescued with lesions in the VMH. Such lesions supported Stellar's idea that the LH served as an excitatory circuit held in check by VMH inhibition. Strong hypophagia resulting from LH destruction came to be known as "LH syndrome." The syndrome was defined with four clear-cut stages in the recovery from lateral hypothalamic lesions: aphagia and adipsia; anorexia and adipsia; adipsia with a secondary dehydration-aphagia; and recovery (Teitelbaum & Epstein, 1962). Due to LH ablation effects on eating behaviors, the LH was named the "eating center" of the brain and the VMH was named the "satiety center."

While the hypothalamic lesions linked the hypothalamus to motivated behaviors, gross lesions failed to account for any cell-type specificity. Recent literature has characterized cell-specific contributions to eating behavior. Firstly, studies that specifically destroyed neurons and spared any fibers of passage show that the LH contains neurons that are necessary for eating

(Grossman et al., 1978; Grossman & Grossman, 1982; Marshall et al., 1976). Glutamate receptor activation in the LH increases food intake (Stanley et al., 1993), while activating γ-Aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptors suppresses food intake (Kelly et al., 1979). The LH contains different cell types that express a variety of combinations of receptors and neuropeptides (Allen & Cechetto, 1995; Burdakov & Alexopoulos, 2005; Goforth et al., 2014; Griffond & Risold, 2009; Knight et al., 2012; Laque et al., 2013; Leinninger et al., 2009; Rosin et al., 2003). Majority of these cell types are either GABAergic or glutamatergic and some co-express neuropeptides. Some GABAergic neurons co-express melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH) and some glutamatergic neurons co-express orexin. MCH and orexin are unique to the LH and are never expressed in the same neurons (Broberger et al., 1998). Indeed, the stimulation of either of these populations stimulates eating behavior (Barson et al., 2013). Although orexin (Peyron et al., 1998) and MCH (Bittencourt, 2011) neurons project throughout the brain, MCH is also released into the cerebrospinal fluid (Noble et al., 2018) as a complementary means of stimulating MCH receptors throughout the brain. The LH has a diverse population of neuronal cell types and is still under intense investigation.

In addition to sending efferents that control eating behavior, the LH neurons receive input from various other nuclei that are involved in food intake, including the arcuate nucleus (ARC). The ARC contains cell bodies that are necessary for eating and is located at the base of the brain near the median eminence, a fenestrated region with highly permeable blood vessels (Ciofi, 2011). The ARC has privileged hormonal access and can regulate various eating behaviors based on physiological signals (R. Cone et al., 2001). Indeed, ARC neurons express receptors for various circulating factors that regulate eating behaviors, such as leptin, ghrelin, glucose, and insulin (Könner et al., 2009; Q. Wang et al., 2014; R. Wang et al., 2004). Key ARC neurons involved in hunger can be distinguished by their production of neuropeptide Y (NPY) and agouti-related peptide (AgRP). The NPY/AgRP neurons stimulate eating behaviors by

releasing NPY, especially after a fasting period (Kalra et al., 1991). Selective stimulation of NPY/AgRP neurons increases eating (Aponte et al., 2011; Krashes et al., 2011) and selective ablation decreases eating and body weight (Gropp et al., 2005; Luguet et al., 2005). However, decreasing the expression of either NPY or AgRP alone, or both together, does not decrease eating in the same fashion (Palmiter et al., 1998; Qian et al., 2002), suggesting that there are other necessary mechanisms that add to the control of eating. Conversely, ARC neurons that produce proopiomelanocortin (POMC) generally have the opposite effect on feeding-behavior relative to ARC NPY/AgRP neurons. POMC neurons co-express and release α-melanocytestimulating-hormone (α-MSH) and stimulate melanocortin receptor 4 (MC4R) of paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus (PVN) neurons to suppress eating (Fenselau et al., 2017). Interestingly, AgRP acts as an inverse agonist on the MC4R (Nijenhuis et al., 2001) and inhibits α-MSH action (Ollmann et al., 1997). NPY/AgRP neurons also co-express GABA and inhibit POMC neurons through GABA-A receptor activation (Tong et al., 2008). Furthermore, AgRP neurons directly innervate the PVN to increase eating (Atasoy et al., 2012) and AgRP overexpression leads to obesity (Yen et al., 1994). In general, AgRP neurons drive eating via direct action on MC4R on PVN neurons and indirect inhibition of POMC neurons. Meanwhile POMC neurons counter the AgRP drive to eat by α-MSH action on MC4R of PVN neurons to suppress eating. Collectively, the ARC acts on the PVN with inputs that can either drive or suppress eating behaviors.

The PVN sits next to the third ventricle and contains a dense population of heterogeneous neurons (Sawchenko & Swanson, 1983; Swanson & Sawchenko, 1983). PVN administration of almost any orexigenic (i.e., to generate eating) signal results in increased food intake (Dube et al., 1999; Kalra et al., 1991; Kelly et al., 1979; Kelly & Grossman, 1979; Morley, 1987; Stanley & Leibowitz, 1984), suggesting that the PVN is a critical site of action of signals that convey physiological state. Experiments that label cFos, an immediate early gene expressed in recently active cells, show that there is increased activity in PVN neurons that receive input from orexigenic (B.-H. Li et al., 1994; Xu et al., 1995) and anorxigenic signals (Elmquist et al., 1997; Schwartz et al., 1996; Yokosuka et al., 1998). Lesions in the PVN cause hyperphagia and obesity, further highlighting the importance of this region in the regulation of food intake (Leibowitz et al., 1981; Weingarten, 1985). Therefore, the ARC, LH, and PVN all act together to regulate eating behaviors. LH neuronal activity is correlated with either appetitive or with consummatory behaviors (Jennings et al., 2015). However, the influences of the hypothalamus alone are insufficient to explain how activity in these regions influence motivating drive. The following section will describe how this missing link between orexigenic factors and motivation is provided by the brain's dopamine circuitry.

C. Dopamine control of motivated behavior

Lesions in the LH destroy eating behaviors (Anand & Brobeck, 1951). Although LH cell bodies are critical for producing behaviors toward food, electrolytic lesions not only destroy cell bodies but also sever fibers of passage. Fibers of passage in the LH comprise the medial forebrain bundle, a majority of which are dopamine axons that course from the midbrain to the striatum (Andén et al., 1966). Therefore, it is possible that the loss of dopamine signaling may contribute to the loss of eating behaviors. Urban Ungerstedt addressed the ambiguity of whether eating behavior was controlled solely by the LH cell bodies or also by dopamine fibers of passage. Bilateral LH injections of a dopamine-specific neurotoxic compound, 6-OHDA, produced rats that did not approach or consume food, recapitulating the hypophagic nature of "LH syndrome" (Ungerstedt, 1970). This strategy of only destroying the dopamine fibers while leaving LH cell bodies intact was a first step in suggesting a role for dopamine signaling in eating behaviors. Later work by Richard Palmiter and colleagues further supported dopamine involvement by showing that mice could be made hypoactive, adipsic, and aphagic by a selective knockout of tyrosine hydroxylase, the rate limiting enzyme for the cellular production of

dopamine (Zhou & Palmiter, 1995). Eating behavior in dopamine deficient mice could then be rescued by restoring dopamine production via administering L-DOPA, a dopamine precursor (Szczypka et al., 2001). Collectively, data support that dopamine signaling is necessary in the expression of the approach behavior (appetitive phase) toward food.

Dopamine plays an essential role in producing and maintaining motivated behaviors, including those directed at rewarding stimuli such as food, sex, or drugs of abuse. For example, all drugs abused by humans (e.g., opiates, ethanol, nicotine, amphetamine, and cocaine) increase extracellular dopamine concentrations in the nucleus accumbens and in the caudate nucleus (Chiara & Imperato, 1988). Dopamine lesions eliminate reward-seeking toward stimulants or opiates (Bozarth & Wise, 1986). Furthermore, blocking dopamine receptors with pimozide suppresses motivated behaviors toward food (Wise et al., 1978) and toward sex (Pfaus et al., 1995; Pfaus & Phillips, 1989; Wenkstern et al., 1993). To understand whether the behavioral effects of blocking dopamine were related to dopamine release, Fibiger and colleagues measured dopamine concentrations in the terminal regions using microdialysis. A food-associated cue elicits higher dopamine concentrations in the nucleus accumbens (a site of dopamine release) relative to cues not associated with food (Blackburn et al., 1989). In general, dopamine release is critical for motivated behavior for various rewarding stimuli, including food.

Interestingly, an extrinsic reward isn't required to elicit motivated behavior. Behaviors can be reinforced by inducing neuronal activity via intracranial self-stimulation (ICSS) in specific brain regions (Margules & Olds, 1962; Olds & Milner, 1954). Behaviors are said to be positive reinforced when a desired stimulus (e.g. food) increases the probability of that behavior to occur again in the future (Thorndike, 1898). Seminal work of James Olds and Peter Milner shows that rats engage in reinforced behavior to work for electrical stimulation (i.e., ICSS), which serves in itself as a reward (Olds & Milner, 1954). ICSS-reinforced behaviors suggest that the regions being stimulated contribute to reward-seeking behavior. ICSS-sensitive regions are proximal to

catecholamine (i.e., dopamine and norepinephrine) cell bodies and their processes (Crow, 1972; Fibiger, 1978; Stein, 1964). Detailed mapping studies show that the dopamine neuron density at an ICSS stimulator's tip is proportional to the magnitude of behavioral responding (Corbett & Wise, 1980), suggesting that dopamine neurons stimulate motivated behaviors. However, ICSS is a nonspecific approach that recruits more than just dopamine circuits. Recent studies show that dopamine recruitment alone is sufficient to recapitulate the data observed by Olds and Milner. Specific optogenetic stimulation dopamine neurons is sufficient to reinforce behavior (Steinberg et al., 2014). Stimulation of dopamine neurons is dependent on frequency and ICSS reinforces behavior only at stimulation frequencies of greater than 20Hzfrequencies that elicit phasic bursts of activity (Carlezon & Chartoff, 2007; Liebman, 1983). Phasic dopamine activity is defined as the brief bursts of dopamine neuron action potentials and the resulting dopamine release in the terminal regions. Only phasic stimulation of dopamine cell bodies or terminals, not slow tonic stimulation, reinforces behavior (Berke, 2018; Palmiter, 2008; Tsai et al., 2009). The causal link between phasic dopamine signaling and reinforcement is corroborated by the fact that dopamine neurons burst fire upon the receipt of reward and cues that predict reward (Romo & Schultz, 1990; Schultz & Romo, 1990). Seminal work from Wolfram Schultz and colleagues shows that dopamine neurons fire to food reward (Apicella et al., 1991; Schultz, 1986; Waelti et al., 2001). If cues that predict reward are presented, then over training, dopamine neurons develop a response to the earliest cue that predicts reward (Schultz, 2007; 2013). Recent work shows that brief increases in dopamine neuronal firing and dopamine release is correlated with approach behavior toward reward (J. J. Day et al., 2007; Hoffmann & Nicola, 2014; Roitman et al., 2004). Phasic dopamine signaling is also involved in the reinforcing aspects of reward (K. M. Kim et al., 2012; Steinberg et al., 2014; Wise et al., 1978) and reward value (Hamid et al., 2015; Howe et al., 2013; Roitman et al., 2008). Clearly, dopamine systems are essential for the motivating drive toward reward, including food rewards.

To understand how motivation translates to behavior, it is necessary to understand how dopamine modulates activity in dopamine receptor expressing neurons—discussed below.

D. The neuroanatomical organization of the mesolimbic dopamine system

Dopamine cell bodies of the mesolimbic dopamine system originate in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) and their axons project to cortical and limbic structures (Domesick, 1988). One such limbic structure is the nucleus accumbens (NAc), also referred to as the ventral striatum. Dopamine cell bodies are identified histologically by their expression of the rate limiting enzyme in the production of dopamine, tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) (Kaufman & Milstein, 2013). Dopamine neurons are heterogeneous in that they co-release either GABA or glutamate (Morales & Margolis, 2017) and send topographical projections to the NAc (Ikemoto, 2007). The lateral VTA projects mainly to the NAc shell subregion, whereas more medial portions of the VTA project to the NAc core subregion. Dopamine projections mainly innervate GABAergic medium spiny neurons (MSNs) in the striatum (Gerfen et al., 1990). MSNs are the main output neurons of the basal ganglia, a circuit mainly responsible for motor control of behaviors (Lanciego et al., 2012). Although the anatomical delineation suggests that VTA subcompartments might be functionally divided, a single dopamine neuron can innervate a vast region of the striatum (Aransay et al., 2015; Matsuda et al., 2009) while also diffusely releasing dopamine through volume transmission (Dreyer et al., 2010; Garris et al., 1994; Rice & Cragg, 2008). Conversely, a single dopamine neuron may receive input from a variety of regions, including the laterodorsal tegmental nucleus (LDTg), superior colliculus, the nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS), and the hypothalamus (Alhadeff et al., 2012; Watabe-Uchida et al., 2012). Collectively, it's clear that the diverse inputs into VTA dopamine neurons affords them the ability to integrate a variety of information and project to output regions (i.e. NAc) to influence behavior.

Dopamine is a ligand to multiple g-protein coupled receptors, of which there are two categories: D1-like and D2-like. The D1-like category consists of D1 (D1R) and D5 receptors, whereas the D2-like category is comprised of D2 (D2R), D3, and D4 receptors. In the striatum, dopamine acts mainly on D1Rs and D2Rs (Beckstead et al., 1988; Berendse & Richfield, 1993), which are largely located extrasynaptically on distinct MSNs (Gerfen, 1992; Gerfen et al., 1990; Levey et al., 1993; Weiner et al., 1991; Yung et al., 1995). D1Rs activate the $G\alpha_s$ and the $G\alpha_{olf}$ g-proteins, activating adenylate cyclase, increasing intracellular cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), stimulating protein kinase A (PKA) activity, and ultimately regulating a variety of ion channels and gene products (Neve et al., 2004). In general, D1Rs in the striatum increase sodium and L-type calcium currents, while attenuating potassium currents (Dong et al., 2004; Gorelova & Yang, 2000; Paupardin-Tritsch et al., 1985; Yang et al., 1999). On the other hand, D2Rs are coupled to Gi/o g-proteins and have the opposite effect on ion channels than the D1Rs via an inhibition of cAMP (Neve et al., 2004; Stoof & Kebabian, 1981). Effectively, D1Rs increase excitability and D2Rs decrease excitability of MSNs. Additionally, D2R affinity for dopamine is approximately 100-fold higher than D1R (Martel & McArthur, 2020). The imbalance in D1R and D2R affinity results in mostly D2R receptor activation at low extracellular dopamine concentrations and both D1R and D2R activation at high extracellular dopamine concentrations (Caravaggio et al., 2019; Dreyer et al., 2010; Nair et al., 2014). Therefore, dopamine concentrations may trigger functionally different pathways-the so-called movement-related "direct" and "indirect" pathways of the basal ganglia (Calabresi et al., 2014). These functionally distinct pathways will be further discussed later in this section. A notable exception in the D1R and D2R cellular segregation lies in the NAc (ventral striatum), where some neurons express both receptors (Meredith et al., 2008). In this case, D1R and D2R may work cooperatively, as only co-activation of both D1Rs and D2Rs elicits an increase in PKA activity (Hopf et al., 2003). This cooperative activation is also evident in behavioral studies where animals will work to selfadminister D1R and D2R agonists together but will not work to receive either agonist alone (Ikemoto et al., 1997). VTA dopamine neuron activity likely engages both D1Rs and D2Rs to facilitate motivated behaviors.

Dopamine concentration in the terminals is regulated by (1) burst firing of dopamine neurons, (2) D2R inhibition, (3) dopamine transporters, and (4) cholinergic interneurons. In addition to slow tonic firing (~4Hz), dopamine neurons fire brief (phasic) bursts of action potentials (~20Hz), which are dependent on LDTg input (Lodge & Grace, 2006). It is likely that it is phasic activity (and not the periodic slow firing rate) in dopamine neurons that is responsible for effective dopamine modulation of MSNs (Berke, 2018). Due to D1R and D2R's differential affinity for dopamine, it is theorized that phasic release of dopamine engages D1R neurons as dopamine reaches high enough concentrations (Drever et al., 2010; Nair et al., 2014). Furthermore, phasic dopamine signaling also drives synaptic plasticity (Wieland et al., 2015), suggesting that although phasic signaling occurs at short time scales, its effects last longer than the signaling itself. Secondly, presynaptic D2Rs on dopamine neurons are activated by volumetric transmission of dopamine out of the synaptic cleft, resulting in negative feedback and suppression of dopamine release (Kennedy et al., 1992). On longer time scales D2Rs also decrease terminal dopamine production by downregulating tyrosine hydroxylase phosphorylation (Lindgren et al., 2001). Although a few regions of the brain use dopamine breakdown (Bigl et al., 1974; Weller et al., 1987), dopamine transporters (DAT) are the main mechanism through which dopamine is recycled (Ciliax et al., 1995). Since dopamine receptors and DATs are mainly expressed on axons rather than in synapses (Ciliax et al., 1995), it is thought that DAT-facilitated dopamine reuptake allows for dopamine to act on receptors over longer distances (past the synapse) than other neurotransmitters, such as glutamate. Finally, recent reports show that dopamine release may not only be activity-dependent but also is regulated by local cholinergic innervation (Cachope et al., 2012; Threlfell et al., 2012). Nicotinic

acetylcholine receptors on dopamine terminals can elicit *de novo* activity-independent dopamine release (Cachope et al., 2012). Cholinergic interneurons also enhance activity-dependent dopamine release (Threlfell et al., 2012). Taken together, dopamine concentration in the striatum is tightly orchestrated by both intracellular and extracellular architecture to modulate NAc MSN output to the basal ganglia.

In addition to dopamine innervation, the NAc receives input from cortical and limbic structures, such as the amygdala (Kelley et al., 1982), hippocampus (Brog et al., 1993), and thalamus (Berendse & Groenewegen, 1990), while sending projections to structures related to the production of motor responses, such as the ventral pallidum (Groenewegen et al., 1999). Therefore, the NAc is named the "limbic-motor" interface (Mogenson et al., 1980) to emphasize that the NAc is a central hub of integrating memory, emotion, and complex cognition into activity that results in action. Indeed, the NAc is thought to be the interface between the production of movement and the inhibition of movement via the direct and indirect pathways of the basal ganglia, respectively (Calabresi et al., 2014). It is largely accepted that D1R activation in the striatum activates movement through the direct pathway, while D2R activation inhibits movement via the indirect pathway (Gerfen & Surmeier, 2011; Yawata et al., 2012). The NAc acts as a conduit for encoding reinforcement to rewarding stimuli (Cardinal et al., 2002; Kelley & Berridge, 2002; Robbins & Everitt, 1996) and linking motivation to the action necessary for consummation (Mogenson et al., 1980). Pharmacologically interrupting this NAc conduit indeed alters eating behaviors (Bakshi & Kelley, 1993; Stratford & Kelley, 1997). Because NAc dopamine input from the VTA integrates a host of signals that convey physiological state (Alhadeff et al., 2012; J. J. Cone et al., 2014; Hsu et al., 2020; X. F. Wang et al., 2015), Mogenson's view of the NAc as a converter of motivation to action is largely supported. Therefore, the mesolimbic dopamine system that arises from the VTA to innervate the NAc is a critical component in producing appetitive and consummatory behaviors toward food.

E. Eating behavior is multifaceted and is encoded in the mesolimbic dopamine system

Dopamine is necessary for eating behaviors and movement (Szczypka et al., 2001; Ungerstedt, 1971; Zhou & Palmiter, 1995). Clinically, the loss of dopamine neurons in Parkinson's disease patients results in a severe movement disorder (Fahn, 2008; Sacks, 1973). However, it is important to note that movement is not completely abolished, as rats move to an alerting stimulus (Marshall et al., 1976) and patients can make fast and effective motor responses to salient events such as an earthquake (Bonanni et al., 2010; Distler et al., 2016), in a phenomenon called "paradoxical kinesia." Similarly, preservation of specific consummatory movements are observed in dopamine lesioned or decerebrated rats, where rats perform orofacial movements associated with the "liking" of reward identically to intact rats (Berridge et al., 1989; H. Grill & Norgren, 1978). Since dopamine lesioned rats can eat but don't expend effort to seek food, dopamine is less necessary for some consummatory behaviors but is necessary for appetitive behaviors.

Initiating eating behaviors (i.e., initiating a meal) requires that the previous behavior be terminated and then a sufficient "agitating" stimulus to eat be present (Craig, 1917). First, behavioral selection occurs, where specific motor sequences are selected to carry out the prioritized behavior (Klaus et al., 2016). Then an appropriate series of actions (e.g., approach, licking, biting, chewing, and swallowing) for that motor program are executed in a specific order (Aldridge & Berridge, 1998). This sequence of motor actions, or behavioral syntax, can be as complex as human behaviors or can be highly stereotyped species-specific sequences (Sachs & Richmond, 1980). To initiate behaviors, various interoceptive and exteroceptive cues provide agitating stimuli (Anderson, 2016), which are then integrated by multiple neural networks, which then feed pertinent information to circuits that execute the motor programs (Arber & Costa, 2018). One of these integrators is the mesolimbic dopamine system.

Regions such as the LH, paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus (PVN), and arcuate nucleus (ARC) funnel prioritizing information (likely through GABAergic disinhibition) into the dopamine system to initiate appropriate motor programs (Arber & Costa, 2018; Lammel et al., 2012; Nieh et al., 2016; Yamanaka et al., 2003). For example, the dopamine system is essential in predator hunting (M. Huang et al., 2021; Pribadi et al., 2022). However, due to the physical and practical limitations of experimental design, very few studies describe mechanisms that govern naturalistic food acquisition (e.g., foraging, hunting, planning, etc.). Thus, more focus has been targeted toward the phases of eating that are more proximal to consummatory behaviors. Appetitive behaviors such as an animal poking its nose into an opening to receive a sugar pellet or an animal pressing a lever for reward (termed operant behavior) are much easier to identify and quantify (Atalayer & Rowland, 2007; D. E. Day & Bartness, 2003; McMurray et al., 2014) than naturalistic behaviors such as an animal's attempts to procure food in its natural environment. An example of the relationship of dopamine neurons to rewards and operant behaviors was demonstrated by seminal work from Wolfram Schultz and colleagues. Animals can associate food with cues, which then elicit phasic firing in dopamine neurons (Ljungberg et al., 1992; Romo & Schultz, 1990; Schultz, 1998; 2015; Schultz & Romo, 1990; Waelti et al., 2001). Additionally, dopamine neurons fire immediately before and during actions toward food rewards (J. J. Cone et al., 2014; Hsu et al., 2020; Wilson et al., 1995), suggesting that dopamine neurons are necessary to initiate and maintain motivated behaviors. Furthermore, the magnitude of dopamine signaling scales with the physiological state and with the vigor with which animals engage in food seeking behaviors (J. J. Cone et al., 2014; Hoffmann & Nicola, 2014; Hsu et al., 2020; Palmiter, 2008; Salamone et al., 1997; Salamone & Correa, 2012; Wilson et al., 1995). Taken together, data support that dopamine signaling is critical in producing appetitive behaviors while integrating information regarding physiological state from various sources.

Physiological state and the value of food stimuli inform the learning of post-ingestive consequences, terminating eating behaviors, and updating future behaviors. The value of food may vary based on the caloric density, the flavor preference, post-ingestive history, emotional status, and especially physiological state (Berridge, 1991; Hajnal et al., 2004; Hamid et al., 2015; Roitman et al., 2005; Smith, 2004; Spector et al., 1993; Willner et al., 1991). Phasic dopamine signaling dynamically encodes hedonic (subjectively positive) value of food reward (Schultz et al., 2015). Dopamine representations of reward value change at fast time scales based on current sensory properties as well as prior experience (Berke, 2018). Termination of eating behavior is determined by dynamically updating value of actions via signals that convey physiological state and other competing motivated behaviors (e.g., sex, grooming, etc.). Various satiety signals such as cholecystokinin (CCK) (Brodie & Dunwiddie, 1987; Damonte et al., 2022), oxytocin (C. M. Liu et al., 2020), amylin (Mietlicki-Baase et al., 2015), and GLP-1 (Alhadeff et al., 2012) all act on VTA dopamine neurons directly or indirectly. Signals that convey satiety information suppress dopamine signaling, decreasing the invigoration with which behaviors are executed, increasing the likelihood of the termination of a meal. Because of the cyclical nature of eating behaviors, i.e. initiation-appetition-consummation-termination (Craig, 1917), dopamine responses to reward stimuli that flexibly encode value profoundly impact both present and future behaviors.

F. Hunger modulates aspects of eating behavior related to dopamine signaling

Eating food is more rewarding while hungry than while sated. Food restriction profoundly influences motivation to seek food (Stellar, 1954; Wilson et al., 1995), enhances dopamine neuronal activity (Branch et al., 2013), and dopamine release in the NAc (Carr et al., 2003; J. J. Cone et al., 2014; Wilson et al., 1995). Specifically, food depriving rats increases dopamine release when food is made available and during its consumption (Wilson et al., 1995). A caveat to this study falls in its microdialysis-approach, which is unable to capture phasic dopamine

dynamics due to low temporal resolution. In naturalistic conditions appetitive and consummatory behaviors occur at a subsecond time scale and it is difficult to attribute dopamine release to any specific component of motivated behavior using a low temporal resolution technique such as microdialysis. Dopamine measurements at subsecond resolution through fast scan cyclic voltammetry show that food restriction augments dopamine concentration during food retrieval (J. J. Cone et al., 2014) and during cues that predict food (Aitken et al., 2016). The VTA dopamine neurons integrate physiological state (e.g. hunger) information and sensory information to produce behavior. For example, a hunger-associated hormone, ghrelin, potentiates food evoked dopamine and drives eating behavior (J. J. Cone et al., 2014; 2016). Intra-LH ghrelin, but not intra-VTA ghrelin, increases dopamine signaling and motivated behavior (J. J. Cone et al., 2014). Interestingly, intra-VTA orexin blockade reduced LH ghrelininduced eating, suggesting a multisynaptic circuit via ghrelin action on LH orexin-A neurons that project to the VTA (J. J. Cone et al., 2014). LH to VTA input is important for homeostatic modulation of mesolimbic dopamine control of eating behavior. Recent reports that exploit cell specific chemogenetic and optogenetic approaches further support that physiological state is encoded in LH networks (Fenselau et al., 2017; Jennings et al., 2013; 2015). The throughline in all these studies is that physiological state integration with circuits governing motivated behavior in the central nervous system, by way of the LH or otherwise, profoundly modulates phasic dopamine activity.

G. The hindbrain is a gatekeeper in gut-brain communication

Motivated behavior is both aroused and directed. Internal signals that arouse or suppress eating (e.g, hunger or satiety) can arise from the gut. Gut-brain communication is essential in controlling relevant behavior to restore energy balance. A region of the hindbrain, nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS), acts as a hub to collect and disseminate peripheral information to the rest of the brain. The facial, glossopharyngeal, and vagus nerves that carry gustatory and visceral information make their first synapse onto neurons in the NTS (Aström, 1953; F. Kerr, 1962; Torvik, 1956). NTS neurons then project to structures throughout the brain, such as the medial and lateral hypothalamus (Ricardo & Koh, 1978; Rinaman, 1999), VTA (Alhadeff et al., 2012), and many others (Alhadeff et al., 2014; Norgren, 1978; Ricardo & Koh, 1978; Rinaman, 2010). Therefore, the NTS is poised to integrate both neural and hormonal signals from the periphery and convey such critical information to the rest of the brain to enact restorative behaviors.

The sensation of being hungry is something to which anyone can relate. One may consciously feel their stomach during a hunger pang, but many alimentary signals are sensed by the brain unconsciously and drive us to eat. One of the earliest pieces of evidence of gutbrain communication was discovered in 1858 by a physician, Dr. W. Busch. Busch's patient was gored by a bull. During healing, a fistula developed in the small intestine such that ingested food exited the gut before being fully digested and absorbed. Busch reported that despite the patient's ravenous appetite and consumption of very large meals, she responded with no perception of satiation even though her stomach felt full. In both humans and rats, stomachs prevented from filling by use of a gastric fistula are met with continuous eating without satiation (Busch, 1858; Partosoedarso & Blackshaw, 2000). When the fistulas are closed, rats quickly cease eating, suggesting that a satiety signal is sent to the brain via the vagus nerve (Gonzalez & Deutsch, 1981) as soon as the stomach and the small intestine start to fill (Davis & Smith, 1990). It is not solely the act of eating that informs the brain but also the post-ingestive consequences (including gastric distension, absorption of nutrients, increase in blood glucose, etc.) that provide central feedback (Donovan & Watts, 2014; Hayes et al., 2009; Ly et al., 2017; Oesch et al., 2006; Pappas et al., 1989). Gastric distension induces satiation via a hindbrain neural pathway (Pappas et al., 1989), because the vagus nerve bidirectionally innervates a vast part of the stomach, allowing for direct central communication (Prechtl & Powley, 1990). Vagal

deafferentation experiments show that neural communication through the vagus nerve is essential in communicating satiation to the brain (Steinert et al., 2016). In this experiment, peripheral administration of an analog of the anorectic hormone glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) suppresses food intake but its effects are attenuated by vagal deafferentation (Steinert et al., 2016), suggesting that the peripheral neural component of GLP-1 action is an important part of satiation. The vagal afferent to the NTS is therefore critical in transducing peripheral status to the brain via activity-dependent means.

In addition to neural communication through the vagus nerve, gut-brain communication via endocrine pathways is also essential in the control of motivated behaviors toward food. Various hormones that cross the blood brain barrier have been shown to modulate eating behavior. For example, ghrelin is a stomach-derived hormone that can act throughout the neuraxis and increases food intake and motivated behavior to acquire food (Bron et al., 2013; J. J. Cone et al., 2014; Hsu et al., 2015; 2018; Olszewski et al., 2003; Skibicka et al., 2011). In human studies, ghrelin increases neural response to food pictures in the amygdala, orbitofrontal cortex, anterior insula, and the striatum (Malik et al., 2008). Receptors to similar peripherally derived peptides, such as amylin, insulin, leptin, and GLP-1 are found throughout the brain and can modulate eating behavior (Begg & Woods, 2012; 2013; J. Friedman, 2016; Mietlicki-Baase et al., 2015; Unger et al., 1991). Hormonal signaling can enter the brain via various circumventricular organs (Ganong, 2000; McKinley et al., 1998), especially via the area postrema in the hindbrain (H. J. Grill & Hayes, 2012; K.-P. Huang & Raybould, 2020) where the blood-brain barrier is the thinnest. The hormonal method of gut-brain communication has profound influence on modulating behavior. Vagus nerve signaling and ghrelin-induced food intake are examples of communication that highlight the importance of gut-brain communication as a complex dynamic system that depends on neuronal and hormonal signals from the periphery to produce appropriate eating and satiety behavior. Such physiological state

information filtered through the NTS is then disseminated to structures that are critical in producing motivated behaviors, one of which being the mesolimbic dopamine system.

H. Glucose utilization is a harbinger of hunger

One important signal that conveys hunger to the brain is glucose. In 1953, Jean Mayer first posited a "glucostatic hypothesis," where glucose was central in a mechanism through which hunger guides compensatory behaviors to bring the organism to homeostasis (Mayer, 1953). Mayer found blood glucose levels in oxygenated and deoxygenated blood, which reflect glucose utilization, were correlated with hunger (Mayer, 1953). Furthermore, small changes in blood glucose that precede spontaneous eating (Campfield et al., 1985) can be detected by neurons (Song et al., 2001; R. Wang et al., 2004). Consistent with the glucostatic hypothesis, pharmacologically decreasing blood glucose or brain glucose utilization (i.e. cytoglucopenia) initiates eating behaviors (Campfield et al., 1985; Dunn-Meynell et al., 2009; Louis-Sylvestre & Magnen, 1996; Melanson et al., 1999) and increases the subjective value of sucrose in humans (Thompson & Campbell, 1977). Blocking glucose utilization in the hindbrain, but not in the forebrain, is sufficient to elicit eating (R. C. Ritter et al., 1981). The hypothalamus and the hindbrain are glucose-sensitive due to a select few neurons that use extracellular glucose concentration to control their firing rates (Cancelliere & Ferguson, 2017; Izumi et al., 1994; Labouèbe et al., 2016; Medeiros et al., 2012; Mobbs et al., 2001; Nakano et al., 1986; Papp et al., 2007; Riediger et al., 2002; Yamanaka et al., 2003). Even some peripheral glucose-sensitive tissues (Donovan & Watts, 2014; Niijima, 1969) send projections to the brain, specifically to the dorsal medulla (Garcia-Luna et al., 2021). Numerous glucose-sensing structures in the brain and body send information to a central integrator. The convergence of various interoceptive cues ultimately controls food-motivated behavior in a complex circuit yet to be unraveled.

In general, organisms use fats, proteins, and carbohydrates to sustain life. Although some macronutrients are necessary in different proportions for different organisms for energy

19

balance (Remonti et al., 2016), one common form of energy that all cells need is adenosine triphosphate (ATP). The energy sensor 5' adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase (AMPK) monitors ATP availability as the ratio of ATP to its metabolite adenosine diphosphate (ADP) (M. Friedman, 2008; Hardie, 2018; Krebs, 1964; Moore et al., 1991). Low ATP:ADP ratio in fasted animals results in elevated phosphorylated AMPK (active form) in the ARC, PVN, and in the NTS (Hayes et al., 2009; Minokoshi et al., 2004; Xue & Kahn, 2006). AMPK activity has behavioral consequences, in that inhibiting AMPK activity attenuates food intake (Hayes et al., 2009). AMPK has a foundational role in energy balance and in neural circuits that govern food motivated behaviors.

One of the many hunger-associated signals that modulate AMPK activity is glucose (Lin & Hardie, 2018). Not only is glucose the main energy fuel for the brain but its availability is a prime physiological signal that contributes to shape eating behaviors. Antiglycolytic agents, such as 5-thio-D-glucose (5TG) and 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2DG), induce cytoglucopenia and drive eating. Antiglycolytic agents competitively suppress glucose metabolism by blocking glucose uptake (Betz et al., 1975; 2013) and inhibiting hexokinase, a key enzyme in glycolysis (Bachelard et al., 1971; M. Chen & Whistler, 1975; Horton et al., 1973). Antiglycolytic agents are therefore important tools to determine the neural substrates that integrate glycemic information to yield appropriate behavior. Firstly, the hindbrain is essential for glucoprivic (in response to deprivation of glucose availability) eating. In decerebrate animals, antiglycolytic agents increase consumption of intraoral meals before the food is passively rejected (Darling & Ritter, 2009). Hindbrain, not forebrain, structures promote eating in response to decreased glucose availability (R. C. Ritter et al., 1981; S. Ritter et al., 2000). Although the hypothalamus contains glucose sensitive neurons, almost none of its nuclei elicit eating behavior in response to local glycolysis blockade (S. Ritter et al., 2000). Only the NTS and ventrolateral medulla increase eating in response to local administration of 5TG (S. Ritter et al., 2000). Sue Ritter found that

catecholamine (CA) neurons that project to the PVN are necessary for glucoprivic eating (S. Ritter et al., 2001). The identity of these CA neurons may be the NPY producing epinephrine neurons in the NTS that increase eating (J. Chen et al., 2020). Collectively, the hindbrain is critical for glucose-sensing and converts the decreases in glucose availability into ascending signals to stimulate eating behavior.

Although I have noted the importance and the necessity of hindbrain structures in glycemic regulation and glucoprivic eating, hypothalamic structures also have a marked role in preserving glycemic balance. Orexin neurons of the LH directly modulate the activity of VTA dopamine signaling based on glucose availability (Borgland et al., 2006; 2009; J. J. Cone et al., 2014; Rosin et al., 2003; Sheng et al., 2014). The LH to VTA circuit may, in part, contribute to reward seeking behaviors parallel to but distinct from those that originate from the hindbrain (Alhadeff et al., 2012; J. Chen et al., 2020; R. Wang et al., 2004). Decerebrate rates do retain consummatory behaviors and compensate for glucoprivation by consuming more intraoral sucrose before rejecting the solution (Flynn & Grill, 1983). However, decerebrate rates *do not* show appetitive responses to external stimuli (H. Grill & Norgren, 1978). Therefore, it is possible that the hypothalamic connections to the VTA might be transmitting information regarding the appetitive phase of eating behaviors.

I. <u>Glucagon-like peptide 1 signaling regulates satiety and the suppression of motivated</u> <u>eating behavior</u>

Satiation (i.e., meal termination) arises, in part, from the release of a variety of gut peptides. One such satiety signal is glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) and is secreted peripherally by the L cells in the small and large intestine. GLP-1 is released in response to the presence of mixed nutrients in the gastrointestinal tract (Herrmann et al., 1995), promoting the release of insulin and glucagon (D'Alessio et al., 1996). Although peripheral GLP-1R function is not necessary for long term energy balance (e.g. body weight, food intake, and heat production)

(Donahey et al., 1998), the knockdown of the GLP-1R in vagal afferents increases meal size and accelerates gastric emptying (Abbott et al., 2005), suggesting a role of the vagal afferents in providing crucial post-prandial feedback. The vagal pathway acts in series with a central pathway in the brain (Kanoski et al., 2011). Peripherally released GLP-1 acts in a paracrine fashion to stimulate vagal afferents, whose cell bodies are in the nodose ganglion (Krieger et al., 2016). This vagal pathway is an important input for the NTS pre-pro-glucagon neurons, a central source of GLP-1 signaling that impacts energy balance (Donahey et al., 1998; V. K. M. Han et al., 1986; Holst, 2007; Jin et al., 1988; W. E. Schmidt et al., 1985). The NTS serves in a feedforward circuit, integrating information from vagal afferents and innervating a variety of neural substrates involved in motivated behavior, including the hypothalamus, hippocampus, and the mesolimbic dopamine system (Affleck et al., 2012; Alhadeff et al., 2012). It is technically possible that GLP-1 is acting through hormonal action because both central GLP-1 (Donahey et al., 1998) and peripherally administered longer lasting GLP-1 analogs decrease food intake (Kanoski et al., 2011; Turton et al., 1996). However, GLP-1 released in the periphery is rapidly degraded by vascular dipeptidyl peptidase-4 before crossing the blood brain barrier in meaningful concentrations to activate central GLP-1R (Holst, 2007). Furthermore, in animals that have vagal input removed, peripherally administered GLP-1 analogs still reduced food intake (Kanoski et al., 2011), suggesting a central site of action. Therefore, peripheral GLP-1 most likely acts in a paracrine fashion to stimulate NTS pre-pro-glucagon neurons resulting in central release of GLP-1.

After the discovery of GLP-1 and its hypophagic properties, GLP-1 analogs have been FDA approved as therapeutics for patients with type 2 diabetes (Lovshin & Drucker, 2009) and obesity (Fujioka, 2015). Exendin-4 (Ex4) and liraglutide are GLP-1 analogs which act centrally to reduce food intake and reduce motivated responding to seek food (Kanoski et al., 2011; Secher et al., 2014; Sisley et al., 2014). This therapy, however, is not without its significant

drawbacks. A portion of patients using liraglutide report nausea, which may be mediated through GLP-1R signaling (Kanoski et al., 2012). Although some may argue that GLP-1R induced hypophagia may be secondary to malaise, targeted intra-VTA and intra-NAc GLP-1R activations show reductions in food intake independent of nausea (Dickson et al., 2012). This suggests that mesolimbic circuitry may control satiety in a pathway parallel to and distinct from nausea.

Malaise aside, GLP-1R activation has been a promising therapeutic candidate. Intra-NTS Ex4 potently reduces various measures of food directed behaviors (Alhadeff & Grill, 2014; Richard et al., 2015). Specifically, GLP-1R activation in the NTS reduces progressive ratio (PR) operant responding, a dopamine sensitive behavior (Hamill et al., 1999; Richard et al., 2015). The NTS projects to the VTA and NAc (Alhadeff et al., 2012; Dossat et al., 2011; Rinaman, 2010)—prime nodes of the mesolimbic dopamine circuit, whose activity is essential in driving motivated behavior (Hoffmann & Nicola, 2014). Central GLP-1R activity (possibly in the VTA itself (Cork et al., 2015; Heppner et al., 2015; Merchenthaler et al., 1999)) modulates VTA tyrosine hydroxylase and dopamine D2 receptor expression (Anderberg et al., 2014; Mietlicki-Baase et al., 2013). However, it is unknown whether this change in VTA expression profile translates to a decrease in transient changes in motivated behavior. Clearly, central GLP-1R activation does decrease motivated responding for food (Dickson et al., 2012), as well as other rewarding stimuli, such as alcohol (Shirazi et al., 2013) and cocaine (Sørensen et al., 2015). Additionally, GLP-1R agonism suppresses cocaine evoked phasic dopamine signaling in the NAc (Fortin & Roitman, 2017). GLP-1R signaling seems to suppress reward related behaviors in a general fashion and may suppress dopamine signaling to food and food related stimuli.

J. Implications for current studies

Cues in our environment hold powerful sway over our decisions to find and consume food. The ubiquity of advertisements that provoke food purchases and consumption of various

23

obesogenic foods has likely contributed to the prevelance of obesity and type 2 diabetes (Burger & Stice, 2014; Halford et al., 2004; Mink et al., 2010). Obesity and type 2 diabetes are causing major impacts on public health and the economy (Abdelaal et al., 2017; Davidson et al., 2014; Murphy et al., 2020; Schelbert, 2009; Ward et al., 2021). In addition to signals that convey hunger and satiety, environmental cues as well as the subjective value of food can drive overconsumption (Harris et al., 2009; Johnson, 2013; Saelens et al., 2012; Zimmerman & Bell, 2010). Diseases that cause maladaptive overconsumption undermine the neurotypical function of dopamine signaling. Obesity causes significant changes in peripheral signaling of physiological state (Tschöp et al., 2001), dopamine receptor expression (Blum et al., 1996), dopamine release (Carlin et al., 2013), and reuptake (J. J. Cone et al., 2013). Understanding the mechanisms through which dopamine systems in the brain encode food stimuli and their predictive cues in an adaptive manner can shed light on how these systems may be highjacked in maladaptive diseases.

Hindbrain neurons in the NTS send projections to the forebrain that signal both cytoglucopenia and GLP-1 and can impact dopamine signaling. **The primary goal of this thesis is to investigate the impact of two signals of physiological state that convey either hunger (cytoglucopenia) or satiety (GLP-1) on VTA dopamine signaling to food and food-cues.** In a Pavlovian conditioning paradigm, I hypothesize that physiological signals will modulate dopamine signaling to food stimuli and that the magnitude of dopamine signaling will correlate with the behavior. Glucose, the body's main energy substrate, is tightly regulated and monitored. Perturbations in glucose availability occur on an hourly basis and are of paramount significance when considering the factors that shape food-seeking behaviors. GLP-1 analogs are FDA approved to treat type 2 diabetes and obesity. Understanding how glucose deprivation and GLP-1R activation modulate dopamine signaling is an essential stepstone in paving a way toward bolstering their pharmacological efficacy.

Chapter II: Cytoglucopenia potentiates dopamine neuron activity evoked by food reward and food predictive cues

A. Introduction

Energy balance homeostasis initiates and maintains goal-directed behavior toward food in our daily lives. With the prevalence of readily available energy-dense foods (Lissner et al., 1987; Swinburn et al., 1999) and cues that predict them (e.g. billboards, advertisements, etc.) we are prone to overeating (Boswell & Kober, 2016; Harris et al., 2009; Johnson, 2013; Saelens et al., 2012; Zimmerman & Bell, 2010). Understanding neural encoding of food and food-cues is essential in curbing maladaptive behaviors directed toward food. Highly palatable foods and their associated cues evoke brief increases in dopamine release at the terminal regions and dopamine neuron activity in the midbrain, namely in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) (J. J. Cone et al., 2014; J. J. Day et al., 2007; Roitman et al., 2008; Schultz et al., 1993). While initially only responding to primary rewards, VTA dopamine neurons develop a response to the earliest cue that predicts reward (Schultz et al., 1993). If this dopamine response to cues is interrupted, the learning of cue-reward associations is impaired (Steinberg et al., 2013). Furthermore, phasic dopamine signaling is essential for driving approach behavior toward reward (J. J. Day et al., 2007; Engelhard et al., 2019; Hoffmann & Nicola, 2014; Roitman et al., 2004), reward reinforcement (K. M. Kim et al., 2012; Steinberg et al., 2014; Wise et al., 1978), and reward value (Hamid et al., 2015; Howe et al., 2013; Roitman et al., 2008). A change in physiological state (i.e. hunger) enhances both food seeking behavior (Wilson et al., 1995) as well as phasic dopamine responses toward rewarding stimuli and their associated predictors (J. J. Cone et al., 2014). However, physiological state can be communicated to and throughout the brain through a myriad of signals and circuits.
Glucose, the primary fuel for the brain and body, is very tightly regulated and perturbations in its availability result in restorative counterregulatory responses (Dunn-Meynell et al., 2009; Levin, 2006). In humans, cytoglucopenia, a lowering of available metabolizable glucose, increases hunger ratings and the rewarding value of sucrose (Thompson & Campbell, 1977). Indeed, cytoglucopenia is a potent driver of food directed behaviors (DiRocco & Grill, 1979; A. J. Li et al., 2014; Muller et al., 1972; S. Ritter et al., 2000; RR & AN, 1975; Slusser & Ritter, 1980). While modulation of glucose levels can recruit specific hindbrain (Hayes et al., 2009) and hypothalamic (S.-M. Han et al., 2005; Minokoshi et al., 2004) neurons to drive corrective behaviors, it remains unknown whether modulation of glucose levels alters dopamine signaling. Given that cytoglucopenia enhances the rewarding value of sucrose (Thompson & Campbell, 1977), I hypothesize that modulation of phasic dopamine signaling evoked by sucrose is a potential mechanism for this effect. In addition to signals associated with hunger, glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) is released in the brain to signal satiety and ingested calories (Holst, 2007). Central GLP-1R agonism decreases food consumption (Donahey et al., 1998; V. K. M. Han et al., 1986; Holst, 2007; Jin et al., 1988; W. E. Schmidt et al., 1985). However, it's unclear whether GLP-1 circuitry modulates VTA dopamine signaling to food itself. Similar to previous work (Konanur et al., 2020), I hypothesize that a GLP-1R agonist, Exendin-4 (Ex4), will suppress phasic dopamine signaling to intraoral sucrose.

I measured phasic dopamine neuronal activity in the VTA using *in vivo* fiber photometry while *ad libitum* rats received intraoral infusions of sucrose. I hypothesized that inducing cytoglucopenia via an antiglycolytic agent, 5-thio-d-glucose (5TG), would modulate phasic dopamine signaling to sucrose as well as cues associated with sucrose delivery. To probe a potential site of 5TG action for the modulation of dopamine signaling, I varied the timing and injection site. I found that 5TG modulated phasic dopamine signaling to intraoral sucrose and its associated cues in a timing and site-specific manner— favoring the interpretation that

cytoglucopenia in the hindbrain is effective in modulating phasic dopamine responses to food and food-cues. In contrast, Ex4 suppressed phasic dopamine signaling to intraoral sucrose favoring the interpretation that signals that convey satiety also modulate phasic dopamine signaling to food.

B. Materials and methods

B. 1. Subjects

Male (n = 39) and female (n = 35; free cycling) Long Evans rats expressing Cre recombinase under the control of the tyrosine hydroxylase promoter [TH:Cre+(Witten et al., 2011); Rat Research Resource Center, RRRC#: 659] were individually housed after weaning within a temperature and humidity controlled room and on a 12:12 h light:dark schedule (lights on 0700 h). The TH:Cre+ phenotype was verified with a commercially available strain testing service (Transnetyx). Experiments occurred at approximately 1100 h, 4 hours after the onset of the light cycle. Rats were maintained on *ad libitum* food and water unless otherwise noted.

All rats were tested initially naïve to sucrose. Experimental manipulations and treatment order were counterbalanced across rats, with two intervening days between treatments. For experiments involving restriction, food or water (noted below) was removed for 20 hours before the onset of the experiment. Animal care and use was in accordance with the National Institutes for Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Illinois at Chicago.

B. 2. Surgeries

Rats were anesthetized with ketamine hydrochloride (100mg/kg, i.p.) and xylazine hydrochloride (10mg/kg, i.p.) for stereotaxic surgery. An intraoral catheter was inserted lateral to the first maxillary molar and exteriorized out of an incision at the top of the head and secured with skull screws and dental acrylic. The catheter was fashioned from ~6cm length of PE6 tubing (Scientific Commodities, Inc.). It was flanged at one end and passed through a Teflon

disk such that the disk sat against the flanged end. The disk was cut on one side and ultimately was positioned against the molar. During the same surgery, a Cre-dependent virus containing the construct for a genetically encoded Ca²⁺ indicator (AAV1.Syn.Flex.GCaMP6f.WPRE.SV40, Addgene) was unilaterally administered to the ventral tegmental area (VTA; 1 μ L of 0.5e13 GC/ml: Anterior-Posterior (AP) –5.4mm, Medial-Lateral (ML) –0.7mm, Dorsal-Ventral (DV) –8.15mm relative to bregma) at 0.1 μ L/min. After 5 min (to permit diffusion), the injector was removed. Then, an optic fiber (flat 400 μ m core, 0.48NA, Doric Lenses Inc.) was implanted in the VTA just above the injection site (AP –5.4mm, ML –0.7mm, DV –8.00mm relative to bregma). In some animals, an injection cannula (26Ga Cannula, PlasticsOne) was also implanted in either the lateral (LV; AP –0.9mm, ML –1.8mm, DV –2.6mm relative to bregma) or the fourth ventricle (4V; AP +2mm from occipital suture, midline, DV -4.5mm from dura). All animals received post-operative analgesia (0.1mL of 5 mg/ml meloxicam, s.c.) and were housed in their home cage for fourteen days to allow sufficient time for recovery and construct expression. During this time, rats had *ad libitum* access to food. Intraoral catheters were flushed daily with distilled, deionized water to ensure patency for the duration of the experiment.

B. 3. Intraoral infusion and photometry sessions

All habituation and experimental sessions took place during the light phase in standard operant chambers (ENV-009A-CT, Med Associates Inc.). A fluid line attached to a fluid reservoir was passed through a solenoid valve lying outside a sound attenuated chamber. From the valve, the fluid line then extended into the behavioral chamber and was attached to the intraoral catheter. Solutions were gravity fed and the height of the reservoir was adjusted such that opening the solenoid valve for 5s resulted in 200µl of fluid delivered to the rat. The opening of the solenoid valve was controlled by Med-Associates, Inc. hardware and software and timestamped. Rats were habituated to the intraoral infusions [2 sessions of 30 trials of intraoral water infusions; 5s infusion followed a randomly selected inter-trial interval (32-48s)] for two

sessions before the onset of experiments. Some experimental sessions utilized unsignaled intraoral infusions of 0.3M sucrose (n = 20 rats). To test whether experimental manipulations were specific to intraoral sucrose, some experimental sessions utilized unsignaled intraoral infusions of water (n = 8 rats).

For others, rats were first trained in a classical conditioning paradigm (cue→sucrose; n = 11 rats). Either a 4.5kHz tone or white noise (positive conditioning stimulus, CS+; 20 trials) was paired with intraoral sucrose in a counterbalanced manner, while the other tone/noise (negative conditioning stimulus, CS-; 20 trials) was paired with nothing. A CS+ trial consisted of an audio cue that lasted 1s, followed by 1s of silence, followed by a 5s infusion of 0.3M sucrose, followed by an inter-trial interval. A CS- trial consisted of an audio cue that lasted 1s, followed by an intertrial interval. Rats were trained with the cue→sucrose paradigm for a total of 10 sessions before experimental manipulations. Fiber photometry recordings were made during all conditioning and test sessions.

B. 4. Drug injections

Because previous publications only report behavioral effects at approximately 1 hour after 5TG administration, I expanded the sampling rate to increase the likelihood of capturing the effects of pharmacological onset on dopamine signaling by administering 5TG either 15min or 45min before recording. To induce cytoglucopenia via a different mechanism than 5TG, I used peripheral injections of insulin. Experiments involving peripheral injections included 5TG (intraperitoneal, i.p.: 50mg/kg, 100mg/kg; either 15min or 45min before session onset; Sigma) or insulin (subcutaneous, s.c.: 0.5U/kg, 1U/kg, 2U/kg; 45min before session onset; Lilly, HumulinR). Drugs administered peripherally were dissolved in normal saline (0.9% NaCl). All animals were habituated to i.p. and s.c. injections with a single injection of normal saline the day before the first treatment.

To induce central cytoglucopenia, 5TG (135µg/3µL; either 15min or 45min before session onset; Cat. No. 88635, Sigma) was into injected either the LV or into the 4V in animals that received intraoral sucrose. To determine whether the effects of 5TG were nonspecific to the rewarding or caloric value of sucrose, 5TG (135µg/3µL; 45min before session onset) was also injected in the LV of ad libitum fed and watered animals that received intraoral water infusions. As a positive control for the effects of 5TG on dopamine responses to intraoral water, I either made rats thirsty with 20h water deprivation (but fed ad libitum) or centrally administered the thirst-associated hormone, angiotensin II (AngII). Previous work showed that AngII increases dopamine signaling to water stimuli (Hsu et al., 2020). Angll (10ng/1µL; immediately before session onset; Cat. No. H-1705, Bachem) was injected into the LV of ad libitum fed and watered rats. In contrast with cytoglucopenia as a hunger-associated signal, I tested whether a satietyassociated signal via the glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) system would modulate phasic dopamine signaling evoked by primary reward. The GLP-1 analog, Exendin-4 (Ex4; 0.1µg/1µL; 45min before session onset; Cat. No. 4044219, Bachem) was injected into the LV. Drugs administered centrally were dissolved in artificial cerebral spinal fluid (aCSF; Cat. No. 3525, Tocris). After habituation to intracranial cannula infusions in days preceding the experiment, drugs were manually administered with a 33-gauge microsyringe injector (Hamilton) that projected 2 mm beyond the guide cannula. All pharmacological treatments were performed in a counterbalanced, within-subjects design.

B. 5. In Vivo Fiber Photometry

In vivo fiber photometry was performed according to protocols previously described (Konanur et al., 2020). Briefly, LEDs (light-emitting diodes; Doric Lenses) administered 465nm (Ca²⁺ dependent) and 405nm (Ca²⁺ independent) excitation. Intensity of the 465nm and 405nm light was sinusoidally modulated at 211Hz and 531Hz, respectively, for all recording sessions. Light was coupled to a filter cube (FMC4, Doric Lenses) and converged into an optical fiber

patch cord mated to the fiber optic implant of the animal. Fluorescence was collected by the same fiber/patch cord and focused onto a photoreceiver (Visible Femtowatt Photoreceiver Model 2151, Newport). A lock-in amplifier and data acquisition system (RZ5P; Tucker Davis Technologies), was used to demodulate the fluorescence due to 465nm and 405nm excitation. Real-time events (e.g., cue, intraoral infusion) were sent as time-stamped TTL (transistor-transistor logic) to the same data acquisition system and recorded in software (Synapse Suite, Tucker Davis Technologies). A Fourier transformed subtraction was used to account for movement artifacts and fluorescence bleaching. The subtracted signal was smoothed using a custom fifth order bandpass Butterworth filter (cutoff frequencies: 0.05 Hz, 2.25 Hz). For Ca²⁺ transient analysis, a transient was defined as a point that exceeds 3 standard deviations of the overall signal above the previous point.

B. 6. Signal normalization and processing

For comparability of paradigm-related responses across recording sessions, the smoothed fourier subtracted Ca²⁺ specific signal of each session was normalized by each session's average fluorescence and SD to convert data to z-scores. The normalized signal was then aligned to events of interest (cues, intraoral infusion). All data processing was performed using custom MATLAB scripts (available upon request to corresponding author).

B. 7. Immunohistochemistry and verification of recording sites

Following completion of experiments, rats were deeply anesthetized with sodium pentobarbital (100mg/kg) and transcardially perfused with 0.9% saline followed by 10% buffered formalin solution (HT501320, Sigma Aldrich, Inc). Brains were removed and stored in formalin for 24h and then transferred to 20% sucrose in 0.01M KPBS. All brains were sectioned at 40µm on a freezing stage microtome (SM2010R, Leica Biosystems). VTA sections were collected and processed to label for GFP (as an indicator of GCaMP6f expression) and tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) via immunohistochemistry. Antibody incubations and washes were done at room

temperature. Tissues were permeabilized in 0.3% Triton-X 100 for 30min and were blocked in 2% normal donkey serum for 30min. Sections were incubated in 1:1000 rabbit anti-TH (AB152, Sigma Aldrich) and 1:1000 chicken anti-GFP (AB13907, Abcam) antibodies overnight (~18 h). Primary antibodies were diluted in the following solution: KPBS containing 2% normal donkey serum, followed by KPBS washes (8 changes, 10min each). Secondary antibody (1:500 Cy3 conjugated donkey anti-rabbit and 1:500 AF488 conjugated donkey anti-chicken; Jackson Immunoresearch) incubations were performed overnight. Sections were then mounted onto glass slides, air dried, and coverslipped with 50% glycerol in KPBS mountant. Only data from subjects with GCaMP6f expression and VTA fiber placement, verified using fluorescent microscopy in conjunction with the rat brain atlas of Paxinos and Watson (2006), were included in statistical analyses. All photometry recordings were made in the paranigral region of the VTA. Density distributions of fiber tip placements were estimated using a two-dimensional kernel as per Venables et. al., 2002.

B. 8. <u>Statistical analyses</u>

Dopamine signal during intraoral infusions or during cues was quantified by first averaging the signal during the period of interest and then using an analysis of variance (ANOVA) with treatment as a within-subjects variable. Sidak-corrected pairwise follow-up comparisons were used to compare each treatment (e.g. food restriction, 5TG, etc.) to control. Hierarchical-linear regression models (HLM) were used to analyze multifactorial relationships that required accounting for more than two independent variables. In such cases subjects were treated as a random factor term to account for inter-subject variance. The latency of a Ca²⁺ transient was defined as the time elapsed after the onset of an event (e.g. CS+ cue) to the peak of the Ca²⁺ transient. All statistical analyses were computed using the coding environment R (https://www.r-project.org/) with an α level for significance at 0.05.

C. <u>Results</u>

C. 1. <u>Food restriction enhances phasic dopamine signaling in the ventral tegmental area</u> to food

To measure the dopamine neural response to consummatory food reward, I made intraoral infusions (30 trials) of 0.3M sucrose while recording from dopamine cell bodies in the paranigral region of the VTA using in vivo fiber photometry (Figure II.1 A-C). Transients in phasic dopamine signaling occur throughout the recording session (Figure II.1 D) and intraoral infusions of sucrose evoke increases in phasic dopamine signaling (Figure II.1 E). To determine how sucrose-evoked dopamine transient neuronal activity compares with transients detected during inter-trial intervals, mean dopamine signal during sucrose infusion (5s) was compared to a "baseline" period of 5s prior to infusions onset and a "post-infusion" period of 5s after the infusion offset, in initially naïve rats (n = 19). Figure II.1 H depicts the average phasic dopamine signaling around intraoral sucrose across all trials and all subjects. I compared the mean phasic dopamine signaling in these time periods as a function of trial number in an HLM ($r^2 = 0.17$; Figure II.1 I). Mean phasic dopamine signaling during [$\beta = 0.45$, p < 0.01] and after [$\beta = 0.07$, p= 0.02] intraoral infusions was significantly elevated relative to baseline. A significant interaction revealed the mean phasic dopamine signaling increased as a function of trial only during the infusion period [$\beta = 0.009$, p = 0.01] and not during the post-infusion period [$\beta = 0.003$, p = 0.40] relative to the baseline period. This suggests that the VTA dopamine response to intraoral sucrose is being strengthened over exposure to the sucrose.

Previous reports show that dopamine neuron activity (Branch et al., 2013), dopamine release evoked by food (J. J. Cone et al., 2014; Wilson et al., 1995), and dopamine receptor function (Carr et al., 2003) increase with food restriction. Therefore, I hypothesized that dopamine responses to intraoral sucrose would be greater in food restricted relative to *ad libitum* fed rats. I tested rats under food deprived (20h) or *ad libitum* fed conditions (n = 6 rats) in

a within subject design with counterbalanced order for feeding conditions (Figure II.1 J). The mean dopamine response during intraoral infusion was significantly enhanced by food restriction relative to *ad libitum* feeding [t(5) = 0.32, p = 0.01] (Figure II.1 J, inset). There was no difference in the baseline period between feeding conditions [t(5) = -0.64, p = 0.55]. Taken together, these data support signals and circuits responsive to food deprivation modulate the dopamine response specifically to intraoral infusions of sucrose.

C. 2. 5TG induced cytoglucopenia potentiates food evoked phasic dopamine signaling

In humans, antiglycolytic agents increase hunger ratings and the subjective value of sucrose (Thompson & Campbell, 1977). Antiglycolytic agents potently drive food intake within an hour of administration (R. C. Ritter et al., 1978; Slusser & Ritter, 1980). Since I established that food deprivation potentiates the dopamine response to intraoral sucrose, I hypothesized that administration of 5TG, an antiglycolytic agent, to *ad libitum* fed rats would recapitulate the effect. I injected 5TG (n = 13) either 15min or 45min before recording in a within subject design with counterbalanced order. Intraperitoneal (i.p.) administration of 5TG 15 minutes before testing failed to modulate dopamine signaling to intraoral sucrose at any dose [F(2, 24) = 0.45, *p* = 0.64] (Figure II.2 A). However, when 5TG was injected 45 minutes before testing, it significantly potentiated dopamine signaling to intraoral sucrose [F(2, 24) = 7.87, *p* < 0.01] at 50mg/kg [t(12) = 2.67, *p* < 0.01] and at 100mg/kg [t(12) = 3.45, *p* = 0.47] (Figure II.2 B).

The latency for 5TG to modulate dopamine signaling suggests a site of action distal to the injection (i.p.). I hypothesized that 5TG was exerting its delayed effects via diffusion to the brain. In subsequent experiments, I therefore administered 5TG (135µg, n = 6) into the lateral ventricle (LV) either 15min or 45min before recording in a within subject design with counterbalanced order. Relative to vehicle, LV 5TG significantly increased dopamine signaling to intraoral sucrose at 15min post-injection [t(5) = 3.13, p = 0.03] (Figure II.2 C) and at 45min post-injection [t(3) = 3.46, p = 0.04] (Figure II.2 D).

Prior work supports the hindbrain as a key site of central 5TG effects to promote eating behavior (R. C. Ritter et al., 1981). To determine whether hindbrain cytoglucopenia was sufficient to modulate dopamine signaling, I administered 5TG (n = 11) into the fourth ventricle (4V) either 15min or 45min before recording in a within subject design with counterbalanced order. Relative to vehicle, 5TG infusions into 4V significantly increased phasic dopamine signaling to intraoral sucrose at both 15min [t(9) = 5.06, p < 0.01] (Figure II.2 E) and 45min post-injection [t(10) = 3.74, p < 0.01] (Figure II.2 F).

To compare the magnitude of the effects of 5TG on dopamine signaling as a function of injection site and delay, I computed Cohen's D – a quantitative measure of effect size. Results revealed that 4V sites were most effective (see Cohen's D measures in Figure II.2). To further determine whether 5TG in the hindbrain had a more potent effect, I analyzed the same data described above using an HLM which contained 5TG treatment (vehicle vs. 5TG) and administration site (LV vs 4V) as independent variables, $r^2 = 0.386$. I found a main effect of 5TG [$\beta = 0.36$, p < 0.01] and an interaction between 5TG and administration site, such that dopamine signaling to intraoral sucrose was significantly larger in animals that received 5TG in the 4V [$\beta = 0.15$, p < 0.01]. Collectively, these data support that 5TG is likely acting in the hindbrain to modulate dopamine signaling to intraoral sucrose.

C. 3. Insulin induced cytoglucopenia potentiates food evoked phasic dopamine signaling

5TG induces cytoglucopenia that results in counterregulatory responses including, increase in eating and increase in blood glucose (R. C. Ritter & Slusser, 1980). It is therefore unclear whether the dopamine modulatory effects of 5TG are due to cytoglucopenia or are secondary to compensatory changes in blood glucose. To address this issue, I administered insulin subcutaneously (s.c., n = 12). Insulin, like 5TG, stimulates eating behavior and cytoglucopenia (R. C. Ritter et al., 1981). In sharp contrast to 5TG, though, insulin decreases blood glucose. I injected either vehicle or insulin (0.5U/kg, 1U/kg, or 2U/kg) 45min before

recording in a within subject design with counterbalanced order for insulin dose (Figure II.3 A). Each dose was accompanied by its own vehicle treatment. An analysis of the phasic dopamine signaling to intraoral sucrose revealed a significant main effect of treatment (vehicle vs. insulin) [F(1,10) = 7.46, p = 0.02], and a significant main effect of insulin dose (0.5, 1, 2U/kg) [F(2,20) =6.65, p < 0.01, but no interaction between treatment and dose [F(2,20) = 0.25, p = 0.78]. Posthoc contrasts showed no differences between vehicle and insulin at any dose (0.5U/kg insulin, [t(29.2) = 0.93, p = 0.36]; 1U/kg insulin, [t(29.2) = 1.26, p = 0.22]; 2U/kg insulin, [t(29.2) = 1.96, p = 0.= 0.06]). To further explore the significant main effects in the ANOVA, I used an HLM at each dose with insulin treatment (vehicle vs. insulin) and trial number as independent variables and subjects as a random factor to account for inter-subject variance (Figure II.3 B). I found a significant main effect of insulin treatment in the 0.5U/kg dose [$r^2 = 0.32$, $\beta = 0.10$, p = 0.02], the 1U/kg dose [$r^2 = 0.41$, $\beta = 0.10$, p = 0.02] and the 2U/kg dose [$r^2 = 0.51$, $\beta = 0.17$, p < 0.01]. Interestingly, I also found an interaction between insulin treatment at the 2U/kg dose and trial number, such that insulin potentiated phasic dopamine signaling to intraoral sucrose at the early trials [β = -0.01, p < 0.01]. In other words, the 2.0U/kg dose of insulin elicited a higher potentiation of dopamine signaling to sucrose [$\beta = 0.17$] than the 1.0U/kg [$\beta = 0.10$] or the 0.5U/kg [$\beta = 0.10$] doses, suggesting that dopamine signaling returns to near baseline levels at the end of the session for all doses. To verify whether insulin returned to baseline levels, I isolated the analysis to only the final ten trials. Indeed, we see that at the end of each session there is no effect of insulin on sucrose evoked dopamine at any dose (0.5U/kg: β = 0.08, p = 0.26; 1U/kg: β = -0.03, p = 0.67; 2U/kg: β = 0.08, p = 0.10). In general, these data further support that central cytoglucopenia is sufficient to augment dopamine signaling to primary reward and that it is unlikely that 5TG-induced increase in blood glucose modulates dopamine signaling.

C. 4. 5TG fails to potentiate phasic dopamine signaling to intraoral water

Conceivably, 5TG's augmentation of phasic dopamine signaling to intraoral sucrose may be nonspecific to the rewarding or caloric value of the intraoral solution. To address this question, I injected 5TG in the LV 45min before recording and measured VTA dopamine activity during intraoral infusions of water (Figure II.4 A) in *ad libitum* fed and watered rats (n = 8). 5TG failed to enhance phasic dopamine signaling to intraoral water [t(7) = 0.40, p = 0.70]. Previous work has shown that water restriction or the central delivery of hormone angiotensin II (AngII) potentiates the dopamine response to water (Hsu et al., 2020). Here, in the same rats in which 5TG failed to affect the dopamine response to intraoral water, I found that both water restriction [n = 10, t(9) = 2.74, p = 0.02] (Figure II.4 B) or LV AngII in *ad libitum* watered rats [n = 8, t(7) = 3.67, p < 0.01] (Figure II.4 C) potentiated phasic dopamine signaling to intraoral water. Thus, the failure of 5TG to alter dopamine signaling to water likely reflects a selective effect on caloric solutions.

C. 5. <u>Central glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor (GLP-1R) stimulation suppresses phasic</u> <u>dopamine signaling to food</u>

5TG, which increases food intake, increased the dopamine response to food in *ad libitum* fed animals. Collectively, the data suggest that hunger signals emanating from the brainstem can modulate dopamine signaling to food. GLP-1 is made and released by cells of the brainstem and operates, in part, as a satiety signal. I previously showed that GLP-1R signaling suppresses dopamine responses to food-cues (Konanur et al., 2020). To determine whether satiety signals modulate dopamine responses to primary reward, I administered LV GLP-1 analog, Exendin-4 (Ex4, n = 11) 45min prior to recording. While phasic dopamine signaling to intraoral sucrose did not shift after Ex4 administration (Figure II.5 A inset, ANOVA: [F(2, 24) = 0.63, p = 0.54]), there was a significant interaction between Ex4 dose and trial number (Figure II.5 B, HLM: [$\beta = -1.61$, p < 0.01]). Specifically, Ex4 more potently suppressed

dopamine signaling to intraoral sucrose during later infusions [0.05ug Ex4: β = -0.0076, *p* < 0.01; 0.1ug Ex4: β = -0.0156, *p* < 0.01] than vehicle [β = 0.0005, *p* = 0.91]. In addition to hunger-related signals, satiety-associated GLP-1R activation is also encoded in dopamine signaling evoked by intraoral sucrose.

C. 6. Food-cues evoke robust phasic dopamine signaling in the ventral tegmental area

The work described above focused on dopamine responses to a primary rewarding stimulus (intraoral sucrose). Given that the ubiquity of food advertisements increases food intake (Harris et al., 2009; Johnson, 2013; Saelens et al., 2012; Zimmerman & Bell, 2010), understanding factors that modulate the encoding of food-cues is critical. I conditioned ad libitum fed rats (n = 11) to associate an audio cue (CS+) to intraoral sucrose delivery and a different audio cue (CS-) to the absence of an intraoral infusion (Figure II.6 A). Over 10 days of conditioning, dopamine transient amplitude evoked by the CS+ significantly increased [β = 0.09, p < 0.01 while dopamine signaling during and after the CS- was unchanged [$\beta = 0.0007$, p =0.95] (Figure II.6 B). Augmented VTA phasic dopamine signaling to cues over conditioning is consistent with a vast literature showing the development of time-locked dopamine responses to cues associated with primary reward (Coddington & Dudman, 2018; J. J. Day et al., 2007; Roitman et al., 2004; 2008; Waelti et al., 2001). I further characterized the dopamine response to the CS+/- by measuring the latency to the first dopamine transient after cue onset and computing the latency jitter (the period between earliest and latest evoked transient; Figure II.6 C). Over conditioning, CS+ latency jitter decreased [$\beta = -25.49$, p < 0.01], while CS- latency jitter did not change [β = 3.67, *p* = 0.09] (Figure II.6 D). Recapitulating previous work, a foodassociated cue elicited a robust increase in phasic VTA dopamine signal.

C. 7. <u>5TG potentiates food-cue evoked and sucrose evoked dopamine signaling in a site-</u> specific manner

Physiological state and learned reward cues interact to influence food seeking and intake (Weingarten, 1984). Since various signals of physiological state impact dopamine signaling evoked by food-cues (J. J. Cone et al., 2014; Hsu et al., 2020; Konanur et al., 2020), I hypothesized that cytoglucopenia would potentiate dopamine signaling to cues associated with sucrose reward. I injected 5TG into either the LV (n = 5) or into the 4V (n = 6) 45min before recording (Figure II.6 E). I found a significant increase in dopamine signaling to CS+ only when 5TG was administered in LV [t(4) = 4.00, p = 0.02] but not in subjects receiving 5TG in their 4V [t(5) = 1.16, p = 0.30] (Figure II.6 F, left). Interestingly, I found that 5TG augmented the dopamine response to sucrose only after 4V infusions [t(5) = 3.40, p = 0.02] but not after LV infusions [t(4) = 1.78, p = 0.15] (Figure II.6 F, right). Taken together, these data suggest that cytoglucopenia modulates food evoked dopamine signaling via the hindbrain, while forebrain structures interact with glucoprivation to modulate dopamine signaling to cues that predict food.

D. Discussion

Phasic activity of VTA dopamine neurons and NAc dopamine release are essential in driving motivated behaviors in an adaptive manner. Signals that convey hunger (J. J. Cone et al., 2014) and satiety (Konanur et al., 2020; Mietlicki-Baase et al., 2015) profoundly impact motivated behavior and phasic VTA activity evoked by primary reward and their associated cues. Arguably, glucose availability most faithfully reflects energy status and is monitored and regulated by various central sites. Notably, intracellular glucose is monitored and regulated by 5' AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), an energy sensor evolutionarily conserved in all cells (Hardie, 2018). However, very little is known regarding whether fluctuating brain glucose levels influence dopamine signaling to primary and appetitive food rewards. Here, we show that inducing cytoglucopenia potentiates phasic dopamine responses evoked by either primary

rewards (consummatory food reward) or by reward associated cues (known to initiate appetitive reward behaviors (Cleland & Davey, 1983; Robinson et al., 2014)). Recording real-time phasic signaling specific to dopamine neurons in the VTA provided us unique insight into how signals that relate physiological state modulate phasic VTA dopamine signaling evoked by primary rewarding taste stimuli.

Intraoral infusion of sucrose in ad libitum fed rats evokes a phasic increase in VTA dopamine signaling (Hsu et al., 2020). Furthermore, *ex vivo* electrophysiological recordings show that food restriction makes dopamine neurons more excitable (Branch et al., 2013). Here we show that food restriction in awake and behaving animals potentiates phasic dopamine signaling to intraoral sucrose. This food evoked dopamine response is consistent with previous reports that show an increase in food evoked dopamine release in the terminal regions in food restricted animals (Carr et al., 2003; J. J. Cone et al., 2014; Wilson et al., 1995). Here we see that food restriction amplifies phasic dopamine signaling only during intraoral sucrose infusions but not during the baseline period. Along with previous work, the present data suggest that food restriction does not modulate all dopamine signaling nonspecifically, but rather that food rewards are the trigger through which food restriction augments dopamine signaling.

5TG induced cytoglucopenia potentiated intraoral sucrose evoked dopamine signaling similar to that seen by food deprivation. We also showed that the proximity of 5TG administration to the hindbrain increased the potency of the modulation of dopamine signaling. These results are supported by previous reports that show there are glucose sensing structures in the hindbrain that are necessary for eating in response to cytoglucopenia (Flynn & Grill, 1983; S. Ritter et al., 2000; 2001) and that 5TG isolated to the forebrain fails to produce glucoprivic eating (R. C. Ritter et al., 1981). However, we do see that there is an augmentation of sucrose evoked dopamine signaling when 5TG is administered to the LV. Although peripheral and LV administration of 5TG does influence hindbrain glucosensors, due to the broad nature of this

pharmacological administration, it is possible that LV 5TG may also engage glucosensors in the forebrain (Claret et al., 2007; Oomura et al., 1974) and possibly VTA dopamine neurons themselves (Sheng et al., 2014). It is important to also note that 5TG delivered directly to most subregions of the lateral hypothalamus (LH) does not produce glucoprivic eating (S. Ritter et al., 2000). Current studies cannot completely parse the influence of the hindbrain versus the forebrain on food evoked dopamine signaling. Therefore, future studies that employ regionspecific administration of 5TG will be required to determine whether regions such as the ventromedial hypothalamus in the forebrain or the nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS) in the hindbrain are sufficient to modulate food evoked dopamine signaling in response to cytoglucopenia.

5TG administration induces cytoglucopenia – which drives both eating and a counterregulatory increase in blood glucose. It was therefore possible that changes in dopamine signaling related to the blood glucose response. To address this potential confound, we administered insulin – which, like 5TG, causes cytoglucopenia but, in sharp contrast to 5TG causes a decrease in blood glucose. In general, we found that insulin-induced cytoglucopenia potentiates dopamine signaling to consummatory food reward. Specifically, across the whole session we observed only trend at each dose but a main effect for insulin to increase dopamine signaling to intraoral sucrose. However, when the data were analyzed on a trial-by-trial basis, we observed a clear increase in dopamine signaling toward the beginning of the session, which then waned over the course of the session. The data support the idea that insulin lowers blood glucose to induce central cytoglucopenia, likely sensed by hindbrain neurons to then potentiate dopamine response to food reward. However, the dynamics of how insulin and 5TG modulate dopamine signaling, are clearly different. One plausible explanation is that insulin's effect on mesolimbic dopamine signaling is much more transient than the antiglycolytic effects of 5TG. For example, the transient time course of insulin is demonstrated in the behavior— although insulin lowers blood glucose and increases food intake, eating behavior ceases before blood glucose recovers to baseline levels (R. C. Ritter et al., 1978). The brevity in modulating eating behavior suggests that insulin-induced cytoglucopenia's influence on dopaminergic drive is short-lived. The attenuation of dopamine signaling might be explained by inhibitory nociceptin neuron innervation. Paranigral VTA nociceptin neurons suppress motivated behaviors (Parker et al., 2019), suggesting that insulin-induced enhancement of dopamine signaling might be countered by nociceptin signaling toward the end of the session. Future studies might consider the interaction between nociceptin and insulin to better understand the dynamics of insulin-induced drive on mesolimbic dopamine responses to taste.

In keeping with our previous work (Fortin & Roitman, 2018; Hsu et al., 2020), we found that phasic dopamine signaling is modulated only to restorative stimuli that are relevant to the induced need state. For example, while thirst and thirst mimetics potentiated dopamine signaling to intraoral water, 5TG elicited no such enhancement. Conversely, a satiety signal via GLP-1R stimulation suppressed dopamine signaling to intraoral sucrose, consistent with previous reports (Alhadeff et al., 2012; Konanur et al., 2020). It's important to note that the current study does not address whether 5TG induced potentiation of dopamine signaling is specific to carbohydrates. However, given that 5TG modulates appetitive behavior toward sucrose but not toward fats (Altizer & Davidson, 1998), it is likely that 5TG induced cytoglucopenia orients goal-direction toward carbohydrates. Further work employing the intraoral delivery of other macronutrients (fats, proteins, etc.) will be necessary to determine whether cytoglucopenia impacts dopamine signaling in a carbohydrate specific manner.

In addition to consummatory food rewards, appetitive food rewards also elicit dopamine neuron activity (Schultz, 1998; Schultz & Romo, 1990; Waelti et al., 2001). Although we did not directly measure the learning performance of the cue-sucrose association, previous work indicates learning within the first exposure session via an increased anticipatory motor output to food cues, where motor output is correlated with activity of nucleus accumbens medium spiny neurons (Roitman et al., 2005). In the present study cue evoked phasic dopamine signaling continues to develop over conditioning, suggesting that the cue-sucrose association is strengthened with repeated exposures. Further work would be necessary to determine whether physiological state enhances the rate of the development of evoked cue. Unlike modulation of the dopamine response to primary food reward, we found that cue evoked dopamine signaling is enhanced only when 5TG was administered to the forebrain but not the hindbrain. Hindbrain structures, such as the NTS, encode essential information pertaining to the taste of carbohydrates (W. W. Liu & Bohórquez, 2022; Roussin et al., 2012; Travers & Norgren, 1995). However, it seems that more anterior structures, such as the LH, may convey to the mesolimbic system information regarding learning and learned associations (Petrovich et al., 2005; Sharpe et al., 2017). Future work will use a more targeted approach to recording from VTA dopamine neurons that receive input from the LH or from the NTS to determine whether encoding of appetitive and consummatory stimuli are indeed modulated by physiological state in an anatomically distinct manner.

The current study underscores the interaction between signals that convey physiological state and the neural response to sapid sucrose and its associated cues. Although glucose sensing occurs in multiple regions in the periphery as well as in the central nervous system, the mesolimbic system is one of the few structures in the brain that integrate interoceptive and exteroceptive information. Mesolimbic dopamine output is critical in producing appropriate behaviors toward stimuli that restore homeostatic balance. A state of glucose deprivation clearly primes such dopamine circuits to respond more strongly to taste stimuli. However, it is yet unclear in what manner taste information arrives at the VTA. Future studies should consider whether taste information arrives at the VTA already modified by physiological state or whether the VTA is biased to respond differently to the same taste stimuli. Additionally, any studies

examining eating disorders should account for shifts in mesolimbic dopamine responses to food and food cues, as modulation of motivated behaviors are promising targets of therapeutic development. Shifts in glucose availability (relevant in various eating disorders) and GLP-1R signaling (relevant in clinical treatment of type 2 diabetes and obesity) have marked effects on circuits that encode motivational state toward food. Here, we show that physiological state (cytoglucopenia and GLP-1R signaling) modulates phasic VTA dopamine signaling specifically related to consummatory food rewards and to the cues that predict them.



Figure II.1: Intraoral sucrose evokes dopamine neuron activity in the VTA.

Figure II.1: Intraoral sucrose evokes dopamine neuron activity in the VTA. (A) A schematic of a rat prepared for *in vivo* fiber photometry recording. (B) Representative image of the VTA. (C) Location of optic fiber tips from all rats used in photometry recordings depicted as density distributions in arbitrary units determined by a 2-D kernel estimation of density. (D) Trace of dopamine neuron activity across the entire session during habituation to intraoral sucrose from a representative rat. Ca²⁺ transients are represented by light gray arrow tips. (E) A snippet from the session seen in D (shaded) containing four intraoral infusions (-5 to 10 s relative to the start [dotted vertical line] of the 5-s intraoral infusion [orange box]). (F) Average dopamine neuron activity (black) of 30 trials (gray) of one animal's session (seen in D) aligned to the onset of intraoral sucrose. (G) Average dopamine neuron activity (black) of all animals' peri-sucrose averages (gray). (H) Same data as G. (I) An HLM regression of the mean amplitude of dopamine neuron activity during the periods of baseline, intraoral sucrose infusion, and postinfusion, reveals a significant increase of dopamine signal only during infusion as a function of trial number. (J) Food restriction potentiates sucrose evoked dopamine neuron activity. Quantification in the inset represents the mean amplitude of dopamine neuron activity during the intraoral sucrose infusion. Asterisks denote p < 0.05 and ":" denotes an interaction. Solid lines represent the mean and error bars/ribbons represent SEM.



Figure II.2: 5TG induced cytoglucopenia modulates sucrose evoked dopamine neuron activity in a site- and time-dependent manner.

Figure II.2: 5TG induced cytoglucopenia modulates sucrose evoked dopamine neuron activity in a site- and time-dependent manner.Dopamine neuron activity 15 minutes (*A*,*C*,*E*) or 45 minutes (*B*,*D*,*F*) after IP (*A*,*B*), or LV (*C*,*D*), or 4V (*E*,*F*) 5TG injection, aligned to intraoral sucrose infusions (–5 to 10 s relative to the start [dotted vertical line] of the 5-s intraoral infusion [orange box]), quantification in the inset. Numbers above each bar within the insets represent effect size computed by Cohen's D. Red denotes p > 0.05, green denotes p < 0.05. Intensity of green color is proportional to effect size. Asterisks represent p < 0.05. Solid lines represent the mean and error bars/ribbons represent SEM.



Figure II.3: Peripheral insulin induced cytoglucopenia potentiates sucrose evoked dopamine.

Figure II.3: Peripheral insulin induced cytoglucopenia potentiates sucrose evoked dopamine. (*A*) Dopamine neuron activity aligned to intraoral sucrose infusions 45 minutes after 0.5U/kg (left), 1U/kg (middle), and 2U/kg (right) s.c. insulin. Data are displayed in a format identical to Figure II.2. (*B*) HLM regressions of mean amplitude of dopamine neuron activity during intraoral sucrose infusion as a function of trial number at each dose of insulin represented in *A*. Asterisks denote p < 0.05 and ":" denotes an interaction effect. Solid lines represent the mean and error bars/ribbons represent SEM.



Figure II.4: 5TG fails to potentiate water evoked dopamine neuron activity.

Figure II.4: 5TG fails to potentiate water evoked dopamine neuron activity. (*A*) Dopamine neuron activity to intraoral water (onset represented by vertical dotted line and infusion represented by blue box) is not enhanced 45 minutes after LV 5TG. However, 20 hour water restriction (*B*) and the thirst associated hormone, angiotensin II (*C*), potentiate dopamine neuron activity to intraoral water. Asterisks represent p < 0.05. Solid lines represent the mean and error bars/ribbons represent SEM.

Figure II.5: Satiety inducing glucagon-like 1 receptor (GLP-1R) stimulation suppresses sucrose evoked dopamine neuron activity.



Figure II.5: Satiety inducing glucagon-like 1 receptor (GLP-1R) stimulation suppresses sucrose evoked dopamine neuron activity. (*A*) Dopamine neuron activity represented identically to Figure II.2, in response to LV injection of a GLP-1R agonist, Exendin-4 (Ex4). (*B*) Mean dopamine neuron activity during intraoral sucrose infusion (same data from *A*) as a function of trial number. Asterisks denote p < 0.05 and ":" denotes an interaction effect. Solid lines represent the mean and error bars/ribbons represent SEM.



Figure II.6: 5TG potentiates CS+ and sucrose evoked dopamine signaling in a sitespecific manner.

Figure II.6: 5TG potentiates CS+ and sucrose evoked dopamine signaling in a site-specific manner. (*A*) Dopamine neuron activity aligned to cue onset (blue vertical dotted line), with blue box representing the cue and orange box representing the sucrose. (*B*) Distribution of latencies from cue onset of Ca²⁺ transients that occur during the cue. (*C*) Jitter of latencies from cue onset decreases for CS+ but not for CS-, over conditioning. (*D*) Mean amplitude of dopamine neuron activity increases during CS+ but not during CS-, over conditioning. (*E*) Mean amplitude of dopamine neuron activity aligned to CS+ after an injection of either vehicle or 5TG in either the LV or in the 4V. (*F*) Quantification of data seen in *E*. Asterisks denote *p* < 0.05 and ":" denotes an interaction effect. Ribbons and error bars around the mean represent SEM.

Chapter III: Phasic dopamine responses to a food-predictive cue are suppressed

by the glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist Exendin-4¹

A. Introduction

Cues that are predictive of food hold powerful command over food-directed behavior, triggering craving and overeating in humans (Boswell & Kober, 2016), incentive motivation(Berridge, 2018), and increased appetitive behavior and overeating in rodents (Petrovich, 2013). While the neurocircuitry underlying cue-driven feeding is complex and distributed, there is substantial evidence that the mesolimbic dopamine system plays a critical role. Reliable predictors of food reward evoke brief (e.g. 1-2s, phasic) spikes in dopamine cell body activity (Coddington & Dudman, 2018; Lak et al., 2014; Schultz et al., 1997) and dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens (J. J. Day et al., 2007; Roitman et al., 2004; Stuber et al., 2008). Likewise, modulation of mesolimbic dopamine influences food-cue-evoked behavior (Halbout et al., 2019; Wyvell & Berridge, 2000). While considerable debate remains ((Berke, 2018), for example), recent work demonstrates that phasic responses of dopamine neurons and phasic dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens (NAc) are reinforcing (Steinberg et al., 2013; Tsai et al., 2009) and strongly promote goal-directed behaviors triggered by reward predictive cues (Coddington & Dudman, 2018; Fischbach-Weiss et al., 2018; Hamid et al., 2015; Hoffmann & Nicola, 2014: Medic et al., 2014). It is fundamentally advantageous for both humans and animals to utilize learned associations between external environmental cues and reinforcement in the service of obtaining substances required for homeostatic balance (e.g., food and water). It is also advantageous for these goal-directed behaviors to be regulated by

¹ Previously published as "Phasic dopamine responses to a food-predictive cue are suppressed by the glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist Exendin-4" in the journal of Physiology and behavior 215(112771), 2019

changes in homeostatic states (e.g. hunger and satiety; see (Ferrario et al., 2016; Hsu et al., 2018; C. M. Liu & Kanoski, 2018; Rossi & Stuber, 2017) for review). Particularly in the context of feeding behaviors, deviations from homeostasis and the signals that relate them have potent modulatory effects on both the expression of goal-directed behaviors and on dopamine signaling in response to both primary food reward and cues associated with food reward (J. J. Cone et al., 2014; 2015; Roitman et al., 2004; Wilson et al., 1995).

Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) is a neuropeptide and hormone derived from the nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS) and distal intestines, respectively. Peripheral and central activation of GLP-1 receptors (GLP-1R) strongly reduces food intake and body weight (For review see (Kanoski et al., 2016)), and GLP-1 analogs have been developed and approved for the treatment of Type II diabetes and obesity. GLP-1Rs act throughout the brain (Cork et al., 2015; Merchenthaler et al., 1999), including neural substrates within the mesolimbic pathway, to not only reduce food intake and body weight, but also to suppress goal-directed behaviors for food reinforcement (Alhadeff et al., 2012; Dossat et al., 2011; 2013; Mietlicki-Baase et al., 2013; 2014; Reiner et al., 2018; Richard et al., 2015). Thus, among the many gut- and brain-derived signals that relay hunger/satiety states, central GLP-1R signaling and its influence on the mesolimbic system provides one mechanism through which satiety factors might suppress goaldirected behaviors. While ongoing investigations have identified site-specific GLP-1R-mediated actions on goal-directed behaviors (Alhadeff et al., 2012; 2017; Dossat et al., 2011; 2013; Hsu et al., 2015; 2018; López-Ferreras et al., 2017; 2019; Mietlicki-Baase et al., 2013; 2014; Reiner et al., 2018; Richard et al., 2015) as well as putative roles of GLP-1Rs in modulating phasic dopamine signaling (Fortin et al., 2016; Fortin & Roitman, 2017; X. F. Wang et al., 2015), it remains unknown whether central GLP-1Rs modulate food-cue-evoked phasic dopamine signaling. This is a critical gap in the literature considering the importance of phasic dopamine signaling for cue-evoked approach behavior and reinforcement.

Here, I utilize in vivo fiber photometry in transgenic rats to measure calcium (Ca²⁺) transients from VTA dopamine neurons in real-time. Food restricted male and female rats were trained to associate a 1s audio cue with brief access to a sucrose solution. Following training, rats received a central infusion of the GLP-1R agonist Exendin-4 (Ex4) just prior to test sessions. Rats were trained under food restriction to increase motivation to respond to sucrose and to mitigate central effects of endogenous GLP-1. Ca²⁺ transients occurred spontaneously but were also time-locked to key features of the behavioral paradigm. Regression analyses determined the interactions between measures of goal-directed behavior, sex, and event-related VTA phasic dopamine neuron activity. I found selective modulation of cue-evoked dopamine responses by central GLP-1R activation which was correlated with subsequent goal-directed behaviors.

B. Materials and methods

B. 1. Subjects

Male (n = 10) and female (n = 12; randomly cycling) Long Evans rats expressing Cre recombinase under the control of the tyrosine hydroxylase promoter [TH:Cre+; (Witten et al., 2011); Rat Research Resource Center, RRRC#: 659] were individually housed after weaning within a temperature and humidity controlled room and on a 12:12h light:dark schedule (lights on 0700h). Rats were maintained on *ad libitum* food and water unless otherwise noted, Four rats (n = 2 males and n = 2 randomly cycling females) were used to determine the penetrance and specificity of virally delivered constructs. Eight (n = 3 males and n = 5 randomly cycling females) were used to determine the penetrance neuron excitability. Ten (n = 5 males and n = 5 randomly cycling females) were used to determine the relationship between Ca²⁺ transients and dopamine neuron excitability. Ten (n = 5 males and n = 5 randomly cycling females) were used to determine the relationship between Ca²⁺ transients and dopamine neuron excitability. Ten (n = 5 males and n = 5 randomly cycling females) were used to determine the relationship between Ca²⁺ transients and dopamine neuron excitability. Ten (n = 5 males and n = 5 randomly cycling females) were used to determine the effects of Ex4 on sucrose-directed behavior and dopamine transient activity. An additional 8 rats were initially and identically used but ultimately excluded due to criteria detailed in Section 7. Rats used in behavioral paradigms weighed >250g and were moderately food

restricted with 18g of food per day throughout the duration of their training and experiments. This modest amount of food restriction permitted gradual weight gain throughout training and testing. Animal care and use was in accordance with the National Institutes for Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Illinois at Chicago.

B. 2. Behavior

All training and experimental sessions took place during the light phase in standard operant chambers (ENV-009A-CT, Med Associates Inc.). Rats were trained to expect availability of a retractable sipper containing a 0.3M sucrose solution 1s after the onset of a tone (cue; 4.5 kHz, 1s duration). Licks at the sipper were timestamped using a contact lickometer and controller (ENV-252 M; ENV-250, Med Associates Inc.). A trial consisted of the 1s cue and 20s sipper availability followed by a randomly selected, variable inter-trial interval (32–48s). Daily sessions consisted of 30 trials for 10 consecutive days, after which, surgery was performed.

B. 3. Surgery

Male and female rats were anesthetized with ketamine hydrochloride (100mg/kg, i.p.) and xylazine hydrochloride (10mg/kg, i.p.) for stereotaxic surgery. First, a Cre-dependent virus containing the construct for a genetically encoded Ca²⁺ indicator AAV1.Syn.Flex.GCaMP6f.WPRE.SV40, University of Pennsylvania Vector Core) was unilaterally administered to the ventral tegmental area (VTA; 1µL of 0.5e13GC/ml: AP -5.4, ML -0.7, DV -8.15, mm relative to bregma) using a rate of 0.1µL/min and a 5min post infusion period to allow for diffusion before the injector was removed. Then, an optic fiber (flat 400µm core, 0.48NA, Doric Lenses Inc.) was implanted in the VTA just above the injection site (AP -5.4, ML -0.7, DV -8.00, mm relative to bregma). Finally, an infusion cannula (26Ga Cannula, PlasticsOne) was implanted above the lateral ventricle (LV; AP -0.9, ML -1.8, DV -2.6, mm relative to bregma). All animals received post-operative analgesia (0.1mL of 5mg/ml meloxicam, s.c.) and were housed in their home cage for two weeks to allow sufficient time for recovery and construct expression. During this time, rats had *ad libitum* access to food. After two weeks, food restriction, for rats trained in the behavioral paradigm, resumed.

B. 4. Fiber photometry

LEDs (465, 405 nm, Doric Lenses) were used to excite GCaMP6f in order to measure Ca²⁺ activity. As Ca²⁺ binds GCaMP6f, the conformation of the GFP moiety changes to increase fluorescent efficiency and the fluorescence due to 465 nm light increases, but the fluorescence due to 405 nm (the isosbestic point) light remains unchanged (Lütcke et al., 2010). Intensity of the 465 nm and 405 nm light were sinusoidally modulated at 211 Hz and 531 Hz, respectively, for all recording sessions (Lerner et al., 2015), then were coupled to a filter cube (FMC4 contains excitation filters at 405 nm, 460–490 nm and emission filters at 500–550 nm, Doric Lenses) and converged into an optical fiber patch cord, which was mated to the fiber optic implant. GCaMP6f fluorescence was collected by the same fiber and focused onto a photoreceiver (Visible Femtowatt Photoreceiver Model 2151, Newport). A lock-in amplifier and data acquisition system (RZ5P; Tucker Davis Technologies), was used to control the LEDs and independently demodulate the fluorescence brightness due to 465 nm (Ca²⁺ dependent) and 405 nm (Ca²⁺ independent) excitation (recorded as mV arriving from the photoreceiver). Behavioral events (e.g. cue, licks) were timestamped and sent as digital inputs to the same data acquisition system and recorded in software (Synapse Suite, Tucker Davis Technologies). To calculate fluorescence due specifically to fluctuations in Ca²⁺, corrected for bleaching and movement artifacts, a subtraction of the 465 nm signal by the 405 nm signal in the frequency domain was made and then inverted to recover a ratiometric time domain Ca²⁺ signal (Δ F/F). The subtracted signal was smoothed using a custom fifth order bandpass butterworth filter (Figure III.1 D; cutoff frequencies: 0.05 Hz, 2.25 Hz).

B. 5. Signal normalization

For comparability of task-related responses across recording sessions, the smoothed fourier subtracted Ca²⁺ specific signal of each session was normalized by the mean transient Ca²⁺ amplitude of that session. A transient was defined as a point that exceeds 3 standard deviations of the overall signal above the previous point. The normalized signal was then aligned to cue onset in order to quantify the activity of dopamine neurons. All data processing was performed using custom MATLAB scripts (which are available upon request to corresponding author).

B. 6. Pharmacology

To determine the relationship between Ca²⁺ transients and dopamine neuron activity, a cohort of 8 (n = 3 males and n = 5 randomly cycling females) rats were prepared for photometry. Rats were injected, on 4 different days, 10min prior to a recording sessions (no behavioral paradigm; 20min of recording). Injections were of either the D2 receptor antagonist raclopride (Cat. No. R121, Sigma-Aldrich, Inc; 2mg/kg i.p) or the D2 receptor agonist quinpirole (Cat. No. Q102, Sigma-Aldrich, Inc; 20µg/kg s.c.; D2 receptor agonist) or their vehicle (physiological saline). Injection order was counterbalanced across rats and each drug session had an accompanying saline control session. During test sessions, the frequency of spontaneous transients was measured. To determine the effects of GLP-1R activation on behavior and dopamine transient activity, Ex4 (Cat. No. 4044219, Bachem), was dissolved (0, 0.05, 0.1µg) in artificial cerebrospinal fluid (Cat. No. 3525, Tocris) and administered into the lateral ventricle in a 1µL volume (30Ga injector protruding 2mm past the guide, Plastics One Inc.) 45min prior to a behavioral test session using a counterbalanced, within-subjects design. The 0.1µg dose was chosen based on previous literature demonstrating robust suppression of food intake and food motivated behaviors (Dickson et al., 2012). Two days of no testing separated test sessions for all experiments.

B. 7. Immunohistochemistry and verification of recording sites

Following completion of experiments, rats were deeply anesthetized with sodium pentobarbital (100mg/kg) and transcardially perfused with 0.01M PBS followed by 10% buffered formalin solution (HT501320, Sigma Aldrich, Inc). Brains were removed and stored in formalin for 24 h and then transferred to 20% sucrose in 0.01M PBS. All brains were sectioned at 40µm on a freezing stage microtome (SM2010R, Leica Biosystems). VTA sections were collected and processed to label for GFP (as an indicator of GCaMP6f expression) and tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) via immunohistochemistry. Antibody incubations were done at 4°C (washes and other steps at room temperature). Tissues were permeabilized in 0.3% Triton-X 100 for 30min and were blocked in 2% normal donkey serum for 10min. Sections were incubated in rabbit anti-TH (AB152, Sigma Aldrich) and chicken anti-GFP (AB13907, Abcam) antibodies overnight (~18h). Primary antibodies were diluted in the following solution: KPBS containing 2% normal donkey serum, followed by KPBS washes (8 changes, 10min each). Secondary antibody (Cy3 conjugated donkey anti-rabbit and AF488 conjugated donkey anti-chicken; Jackson Immunoresearch) incubations were performed overnight. Sections were then mounted onto glass slides, air dried, and coverslipped with 50% glycerol in KPBS mountant. Only data from subjects with GCaMP6f expression and VTA fiber placement were included in statistical analyses. Rats (n = 8) were excluded because of missed placement of the optic fiber in regions other than the VTA (n = 2) or because of poor tissue quality and the inability to confirm construct expression and fiber placement (n = 6). Quantification of the specificity of Cre-dependent GCaMP6f expression were performed in a separate cohort of TH:Cre+ rats (n = 2 male and n = 2 female rats).

B. 8. Statistical analyses

The specificity of the GCaMP6f expression was quantified using descriptive statistics in the form of percent colocalization with TH. Influence of D2 receptor pharmacology on dopamine neural activity (frequency of Ca²⁺ transients) were analyzed using paired t-tests against each drug's vehicle-paired session. Behavior was analyzed using two-way repeated measure analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Ex4 dose as a within-subjects variable and sex as a between-subjects variable. The magnitude of all transients and cue-evoked transients (mean of signal during 0 s to 1 s after cue onset) were analyzed via multiple linear regression with Ex4 dose as a within-subjects variable and sex as a between-subjects variable. The time course of the cue-aligned dopamine dynamics was analyzed by first averaging the signal into 1 s bins and then using two-way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) for each sex, separately, with time (-5 to +10 s relative to cue onset) and Ex4 dose as within-subjects variables. Sidakcorrected pairwise comparisons were used to compare 1 s bins for each dose of Ex4 relative to vehicle. I determined the first and last quartile for latency to first lick and compared dopamine responses from these two quartiles when data were aligned to cue onset or first lick using unpaired t-tests. To isolate the relationship between cue evoked transients and behavior, multiple linear regressions of the behavioral measures (lick latency and number of licks per trial) were performed with the magnitude of cue-evoked transient as a within-subjects variable and sex as a between-subjects variable, while accounting for the variance due to Ex4 dose. All statistical analyses were computed using the coding environment R (https://www.r-project.org/) with an α level for significance at 0.05.

C. <u>Results</u>

C. 1. <u>Selective expression of calcium-dependent fluorescent construct captures dynamic</u> <u>fluctuations in dopamine signaling</u>

In order to selectively measure activity in VTA dopamine neurons, I delivered an adenoassociated virus containing a Cre-dependent GCaMP6f construct followed by implant of a fiber optic into the VTA of TH:Cre+ rats. To quantify the specificity of GCaMP6f expression, sections containing the VTA from a cohort of rats (n = 2 males and 2 randomly cycling females) were labeled with GFP and TH antibodies (Figure III.1 A). TH-positive [85.24 \pm 17.7 mean \pm SEM TH cells/section] and GFP-positive [52.1 \pm 11.9 mean \pm SEM GFP cells/section] cells were separately counted on each section and a merged image (Figure III.1 A, enlarged inset) to identify and quantify co-labeled cell bodies (Figure III.1 B). The viral construct had good penetrance [58.80 \pm 1.40% of cells that labeled for TH were co-labeled for GCaMP6f] and selectivity [97.0 \pm 0.90% of cells that labeled for GCaMP6f were co-labeled for TH; Figure III.1 B] similar to other reports (Decot et al., 2017). Placement of fiber optic tips from all rats included in analyses were verified in the VTA and shown in Figure III.1 C.

Fiber photometry was used to record activity from VTA dopamine neurons. To remove contributions to the fluorescent signal from photobleaching and movement artifacts in all fiber photometry experiments, the Ca²⁺ independent signal (in response to 405nm light; Figure III.1 D purple trace, for example) was subtracted from the Ca²⁺ dependent signal (in response to 465nm light; Figure III.1 D, light green, for example) in the frequency domain. The subtracted signal was returned to the time domain (Figure III.1 D, dark green, for example). To further validate fluctuations in the subtracted fluorescent signal as resulting from changes in dopamine activity, rats (n = 3 males and n = 5 randomly cycling females) were injected with dopamine D2 receptor drugs (representative traces shown in Figure III.1 E). D2 autoreceptor antagonism by raclopride increases burst firing in dopamine neurons (Andersson et al., 1995) and phasic dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens (Aragona et al., 2008). D2 receptor agonism by quinpirole suppresses dopamine neuron firing rate and inhibits phasic dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens (Anzalone et al., 2012). Thus, increasing or decreasing D2 autoreceptor activity, decreases or increases the firing rate of dopamine neurons (Gentet & Williams, 2007), respectively. Administration of raclopride significantly increased transient frequency [5.2 ± 0.4 min^{-1} versus 11.0 ± 1.8 min^{-1} for vehicle versus raclopride, respectively; t(7) = 3.59, p < 0.01; Figure III.1 F] whereas administration of guinpirole significantly attenuated transient frequency

 $[5.9 \pm 0.6 \text{ min}-1 \text{ versus } 1.7 \pm 0.6 \text{ min}^{-1} \text{ for vehicle versus quinpirole, respectively; t(7) = 10.63, p < 0.01; Figure III.1 G]. Thus, fluorescent signals measured in the VTA were sensitive to drugs acting on the D2 receptor.$

C. 2. GLP-1R activation suppresses sucrose directed behavior

I administered Ex4 via the lateral ventricle in male (n = 5) and female (n = 5 randomly)cycling) rats and recorded several behavioral measures (latency to first lick, number of licks per trial, percent of trials with at least one lick) in response to cue-predicted sucrose availability (Figure III.2). As previous work indicated sex differences with respect to GLP-1R signaling and food reward (Richard et al., 2016), I used sex as a between-subjects variable in our analyses. For latency to first lick (Figure III.2 A), I found a main effect of Ex4 dose [F(2,16) = 12.63; p < 0.001], but no main effect of sex [F(1,8) = 0.25; p = 0.63] nor an interaction [F(2,16) = 0.26; p = 0.63]0.77]. There was no difference in lick latency between vehicle and 0.05μ g Ex4 [p = 0.11]. However, the 0.1µg dose of Ex4 caused a significant increase in latency relative to vehicle [2.7 \pm 1.4 versus 12.8 \pm 1.4s for vehicle versus 0.1µg, respectively; t(16) = 5.0, p = 0.003]. For number of licks per trial (Figure III.2 B), there was a trend for an effect of Ex4 dose [F(2,16) =3.11; p = 0.07], no main effect of sex [F(1,8) = 0.15; p = 0.71] and no interaction [F(2, 16) = 0.71]0.83; p = 0.45]. On some trials, rats failed to engage in any licking behavior following cued spout availability. I therefore examined the relationship between Ex4 dose and sex on the percentage of trials in which at least one lick was emitted (Figure III.2 C) and found a main effect of Ex4 dose [F(2,16) = 13.22; p < 0.001], no main effect of sex [F(1,8) = 0.32; p = 0.59] and no interaction [F(2,16) = 0.3; p = 0.75]. There was no difference in the percent of trials with licks emitted between vehicle and 0.05 μ g Ex4 [p = 0.14]. However the 0.1 μ g dose significantly decreased the percent of trials with licks relative to vehicle than in the 0.1 μ g Ex4 dose [94.7 ± 7.6 versus 43.7 ± 7.6 percent for vehicle and $0.1\mu g$ dose, respectively; t(16) = 5.09, p = 0.002].

Thus, Ex4 suppressed latency to begin licking and the percent of trials with a lick similarly in both male and female rats.

C. 3. <u>Central GLP-1R activation selectively suppresses cue evoked dopamine activity in</u> <u>the VTA</u>

Dopamine transients occur throughout the recording session (Figure III.3 A, for example). To determine if Ex4 modulated dopamine transients, regardless of when they occur, I measured the magnitude of all transients recorded across behavioral sessions. Linear regression [$r^2 < 0.01$, F(34,992) = 0.04, p = 0.99, Figure III.3 B] indicated no relationship with increasing dose of Ex4 [p = 0.77], no main effect of sex [p = 0.94], and no interaction between Ex4 dose and sex [p = 0.75]. Dopamine transients are specifically evoked by the sucrose-predictive cue (Figure III.4 A, for example). To determine if Ex4 specifically modulated cue-evoked phasic dopamine activity, I isolated transients that occurred during the 1 s cue period predicting sucrose availability. Here, regression [$r^2 = 0.15$, F(3896) = 52.19, p < 0.001; Figure III.4 B] of cue evoked transients identified a significant decrease in transient magnitude by dose [$\beta = -0.16$, p < 0.001] and that cue-evoked transients, in general, were larger in males [$\beta = 0.08$, p < 0.001]. There was no significant interaction between Ex4 dose and sex [p = 0.36].

Given the difference between cue-evoked transient magnitude between males and females was modest and there was no interaction with Ex4 dose, I combined data from male and female rats and plotted dopamine dynamics for the 5s before and 10s after cue onset (Figure III.4 C). For analysis, I averaged data across 1s bins. A two-way repeated measures ANOVA showed that there was a significant interaction between time and dose of Ex4 [F(28,252) = 4.49, p < 0.001]. Post-hoc analysis indicated that dopamine activity after the 0.1 µg dose was significantly suppressed relative to vehicle during the first [0.39 ± 0.03 versus 0.04 ± 0.03 Δ F/F for vehicle and 0.1µg dose, respectively; t(9) = 7.74, p < 0.001], second [0.36 ± 0.03 versus 0.09 ± 0.03 Δ F/F for vehicle and 0.1µg dose, respectively; t(9) = 6.14, p < 0.001] and
third bins $[0.33 \pm 0.03$ versus $0.17 \pm 0.03 \Delta$ F/F for vehicle and 0.1μ g dose, respectively; t(9) = 3.58, *p* = 0.013] after cue onset. There were no significant differences in dopamine activity between vehicle and 0.05 µg dose.

C. 4. Magnitude of cue-evoked dopamine is correlated with indices of behavior

To determine if the magnitude of cue-evoked dopamine activity was related to the onset of licking, I compared cue-evoked dopamine activity on short (defined by the first quartile of all latencies; Figure III.5 A, left) versus long (defined by the last quartile of all latencies, Figure III.5 A, right) latency trials. For these subsets of trials, the dopamine activity was aligned to either cue (Figure III.5 B, left) or first lick (Figure III.5 B, right) onset. Dopamine activity during the 1s cue was significantly larger for short $[0.5 \pm 0.03 \Delta F/F]$ versus long $[0.2 \pm 0.03 \Delta F/F]$ latency trials [t(310) = 7.81, p < 0.001; Figure III.5 B left inset]. In contrast, dopamine activity in the 1s after first lick did not differ [0.4 \pm 0.03 versus 0.5 \pm 0.04 Δ F/F for short versus long latency trials, respectively; t(310) = -1.62, p = 0.11; Figure III.5 B right inset]. These results suggest that large increases in dopamine activity are correlated with rapid approach behavior and that suppression of cue-evoked responses may weaken subsequent goal-directed action. To further explore this possibility, I examined the relationship between the magnitude of cue-evoked dopamine transients and lick latency across all trials (Figure III.5 C) and found a significant negative correlation $[r^2 = 0.37, F(2897) = 262.9, p < 0.001; \beta = -8.52, p < 0.001]$. I found a positive relationship between the magnitude of cue-evoked dopamine activity and number of licks emitted per trial [$r^2 = 0.26$, F(2897) = 158, p < 0.001; $\beta = 39.86$, p < 0.001; Figure III.5 D]. Together these results suggest that the magnitude of cue evoked dopamine activity biases approach and licking behavior.

D. Discussion

Phasic activity of VTA dopamine neurons and NAc dopamine release are critical neurophysiological substrates underlying goal-directed behaviors, particularly behaviors that

become invigorated based on cue-reward relationships. Importantly, physiological states like hunger and satiety have robust effects on phasic dopamine signaling (reviewed in (Hsu et al., 2018)). In the current manuscript I focused on central GLP-1R signaling, a potent inhibitor of food intake and food-motivated behaviors (For review see (Kanoski et al., 2016)), to determine its modulatory impact on cue-driven phasic dopamine signaling. I captured phasic dopamine signaling in awake and behaving male and female rats by utilizing in vivo fiber photometry while they performed a Pavlovian conditioning task and revealed a selective, dose-dependent suppression of cue-evoked phasic dopamine signaling that correlated with reductions in approach and licking behavior.

The VTA is a heterogeneous structure with respect to both cell types (e.g. dopamine, GABA) and projection targets (e.g. prefrontal cortex; dorsomedial shell, lateral shell, core of the nucleus accumbens) (Jong et al., 2018; Lammel et al., 2012; 2015; Morales & Margolis, 2017). With respect to cell types, I am confident that I am recording only from dopamine neurons given our use of transgenic TH-Cre rats (Decot et al., 2017; Witten et al., 2011) and Cre-dependent expression of GCaMP (Figure III.1 B). With respect to projection targets, our optical fiber placements were within the paranigral/parabrachial pigmented region in the posterior half of rostrocaudal extent of the VTA ((Ikemoto, 2007); see Figure III.1 A and C for placements). Dopamine cell bodies in this VTA territory project to the dorsomedial nucleus accumbens shell subregion (Ikemoto, 2007) - where phasic dopamine plays a role in encoding reward value (Sackett et al., 2017). However, the present work cannot resolve the responses of individual dopamine neurons based on their target. Future studies will combine photometry using fluorescent dopamine sensors (e.g. dLight1,2; (Patriarchi et al., 2018)) and projection-site specific recording. It will be especially important to compare the effects of GLP1-R on modulation of phasic dopamine in different striatal regions. Indeed, while dopamine signaling in the nucleus accumbens relates to reward, substantia nigra (W. Han et al., 2018) and dorsal

striatal (Tellez et al., 2016) dopamine signaling may be more closely linked with post-ingestive feedback and satiety.

I examined the effects of Ex4 on dopamine transients and, when analyzing all transients regardless of when they occur, found no effect. Assuming that cell body transient activity is well correlated with dopamine concentration fluctuations in terminal regions, these data are consistent with microdialysis studies where Ex4 alone had no impact on dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens but instead suppressed drug-stimulated dopamine levels (Egecioglu et al., 2013; 2013; 2013). As shown previously (Roitman et al., 2004; Schultz et al., 1997) and recapitulated here, phasic dopamine activity was evoked by a reliable predictor of food reward. When analysis was restricted to transient activity during the cue, Ex4 caused a dose-dependent suppression. The specificity of central Ex4 effects on cue-evoked activity suggests that GLP-1R activation modulates VTA dopamine neuron excitability in response to cue-related inputs. Indeed, GLP-1 producing neurons of the hindbrain nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS) directly project to the VTA (Alhadeff et al., 2012) and GLP-1R is expressed in the VTA (Cork et al., 2015; Merchenthaler et al., 1999) – suggesting the potential for direct effects of central Ex4 on VTA receptors. Indeed, GLP-1R activation in the VTA decreases chow intake (Dickson et al., 2012), high-fat diet intake (Alhadeff et al., 2012), and sugar pellet rewards earned in a progressive ratio operant test (Dickson et al., 2012). Recent work has suggested that the effects of VTA GLP-1R activation on behavior may depend on an anterior-posterior gradient. For example, effects of Ex4 on alcohol-induced locomotion were restricted to the posterior VTA (Jerlhag, 2020; Vallöf et al., 2019). Moreover, Ex4 administration in the posterior VTA suppresses cocaine-seeking behaviors (Hernandez et al., 2018; H. D. Schmidt et al., 2016). However, a systematic investigation of the impact of anterior-posterior VTA GLP-1R activation on cocaine-seeking has not been performed. While our optic fiber placements were in the

64

posterior VTA, systematically varying the anterior-posterior placement may further elucidate a gradient for GLP-1R modulation of dopamine cell bodies.

The impact of GLP-1R on cue-evoked phasic dopamine signaling may also be mediated by action at cell bodies with afferent projections to the VTA (Mietlicki-Baase et al., 2013). A promising candidate is the lateral dorsal tegmental nucleus (LDTg) - which directly projects to the VTA (Cornwall et al., 1990; Lodge & Grace, 2006) and modulates VTA dopamine neuron activity (Cornwall et al., 1990; Steidl et al., 2017; 2017; Steidl & Veverka, 2015). Most importantly, peripherally administered fluorescent Ex4 accumulates in the LDTg (Reiner et al., 2018), is a site of robust GLP-1R expression (Merchenthaler et al., 1999) and Ex4 modulation of feeding behaviors (Reiner et al., 2018). Future site-specific GLP-1R manipulation will be needed to map circuit level mechanisms for Ex4 modulation of phasic dopamine signaling during goaldirected behaviors.

Cue-evoked VTA dopamine activity was strongly correlated with sucrose-directed behavior. The magnitude of dopamine activity was significantly higher in response to the cue when rats rapidly approached the spout relative to long latency trials. Importantly, even on long latency trials, there was a sharp increase in dopamine activity when rats finally approached the spout. This is consistent with prior work from our lab (Roitman et al., 2004) and others (Mohebi et al., 2019; Wassum et al., 2012) where phasic dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens was correlated with the initiation of approach behavior. Here I extend this work to clearly implicate dopamine cell body activity in cue-evoked approach behavior as well (see also (Engelhard et al., 2019; Silva et al., 2018)). Indeed, using regression analyses, I found further support for critical association between VTA phasic dopamine signaling and food-directed behavior (correlations with lick latency and number of licks).

It is important to note that the rats in the present experiments were food restricted. While this is a common practice in behavioral neuroscience to facilitate responding for food

65

reinforcement, it has critical implications for both phasic dopamine activity and putative GLP-1R signaling. Hunger enhances phasic firing of VTA dopamine neurons and phasic dopamine responses to cues that predict food reward (Branch et al., 2013; J. J. Cone et al., 2014; 2015). Moreover, GLP-1R blockade and chronic pre-pro-glucagon (GLP-1 precursor) knockdown is associated with hyperphagia (Barrera et al., 2011), suggesting endogenous roles of GLP-1 in suppressing hunger. Thus, one interpretation of the findings that is consistent with previous literature (J. J. Cone et al., 2014; 2015) is that in the hungry state, phasic dopamine activity exhibits heightened sensitivity to cues that predict food. Our data suggest that this sensitivity can be then attenuated by central GLP-1R signaling – similar to effects of leptin that have been reported (Plasse et al., 2015). Food deprivation also silences endogenous GLP-1 neural activity (Maniscalco et al., 2015; Maniscalco & Rinaman, 2013). Thus, a physiological role of GLP-1R activity in modulating cue-evoked phasic dopamine signaling remains a critical area for exploration. Besides loss-of-function experiments, other approaches that modulate GLP-1R signaling (i.e. modulations of meal size, gastric distension, etc. (Hayes et al., 2009; Kreisler & Rinaman, 2016; Maniscalco et al., 2015)) will provide valuable insight.

Central Ex4 administration has been linked with nausea, malaise, and interoceptive stress (Kanoski et al., 2012; Kinzig et al., 2002), and highlights an important caveat in the data described here. Malaise and negative affect have been shown to suppress phasic dopamine signaling, an effect that can be mediated by central GLP-1R signaling (Fortin et al., 2016). Moreover, central GLP-1R signaling at select brain regions (e.g. the medial NTS (Jonghe et al., 2016; Kanoski et al., 2012)) produces indices of nausea and malaise in rodents. Ventricular doses of Ex4 similar to those used in the current study are sufficient to induce reductions in food intake and body weight, but also increase measures of malaise (Kanoski et al., 2012). Thus, it remains possible that Ex4 effects on phasic dopamine signaling could be secondary to malaise or negative affect. Likewise, systemic (Erreger et al., 2012) or central (Anderberg et al., 2016)

Ex4 reduce indices of general locomotor behavior. Site specific delivery of Ex4 at doses that are sufficient to reduce motivation but subthreshold for malaise or motor impairment (Alhadeff et al., 2012) will be a critical area for future investigation. Still, the power of using a cue in the present study – and measuring the dopamine response to it – is that the dopamine response is evoked by a salient sensory stimulus that occurs regardless of the animal's behavior. I additionally found that the magnitude of the dopamine response predicts subsequent behavior even after accounting for the variance in the dopamine response due to dose of Ex4. Thus, current findings provide crucial insight into the mechanisms through which interoceptive stress might be relayed to mesolimbic pathways and ultimately affect goal-directed behaviors.

Recent data has identified sex as a modifier of GLP-1R regulation of feeding behaviors (López-Ferreras et al., 2017; 2019; Maske et al., 2017; Richard et al., 2016; Vogel et al., 2016). For example, lateral ventricular infusion of Ex4 more potently suppressed responding for food reward under a progressive ratio but not consumption of food, in females (Richard et al., 2016). Thus, I included sex as a biological variable in our analyses. I found that Ex4 delivered to the lateral ventricle suppressed cue-triggered approach (latency to first lick) as well as consumption of sucrose (number of licks per trial) to similar degrees in female and male rats. On the surface, this result is surprising given previous reports. However, sex differences in behavioral responses to Ex4 are dependent on site of action. For example, GLP-1R signaling in the lateral hypothalamic area (LHA) plays endogenous roles in feeding behaviors, and acute blockade of LHA GLP-1Rs only has an effect in males and not in females during lever pressing tasks (López-Ferreras et al., 2017). Similarly, GLP-1R activation in the supra-mammillary nucleus has more potent effects on food motivated behaviors in males compared to females (López-Ferreras et al., 2019). In contrast, GLP-1R activation in the VTA had more potent effects on motivated behaviors in females compared to males (López-Ferreras et al., 2019). Estrous cycle stage also plays an important role in modulating goal-directed behaviors. Intra-LHA administration of Ex4

has more potent effects on food-motivated behaviors in the estrus phase, whereas there is no effect in the metestrus/diestrus stage (López-Ferreras et al., 2017), highlighting the importance of sex hormones and their interactions with food-motivated behaviors. Indeed, central estrogen blockade attenuates the anorexigenic effects of Ex4 in both female and male rats (Richard et al., 2016). Importantly, the studies here were performed in males and randomly cycling females with Ex4 delivery to the lateral ventricle. Thus, future studies examining the interactions between estrus phase, sex hormones, phasic dopamine signaling, and selective sites of central GLP-1R signaling are warranted.

There are ample reports of sex differences with respect to dopamine signaling generally ((Becker & Chartoff, 2018), for review) and phasic dopamine signaling in particular (Conway et al., 2019; Cummings et al., 2014; Shams et al., 2016; Yoest et al., 2019). I and others have previously reported enhanced electrically-evoked dopamine release in females relative to males (Conway et al., 2019; Q. D. Walker et al., 1999). Yet, in the context of cue-evoked VTA dopamine activity, here I observed a lower magnitude dopamine response in females. Resolving these conflicting findings can be challenging given that comparisons are being made between recordings from cell bodies in the VTA with release in terminal regions, like the nucleus accumbens and dorsal striatum. While cell body and release dynamics relative to foodpredictive cues are very similar, mechanisms at dopamine terminals capable of modulating the magnitude of dopamine release independent of cell body effects have been identified (Mateo et al., 2017; Mohebi et al., 2019; Threlfell et al., 2012). Concluding whether females have greater or smaller dopamine responses relative to males is also dependent on comparing results from studies where dopamine signaling is electrically-evoked, when release probability is high, versus dopamine signaling that is cue-evoked – which is presumably being driven by a subset of inputs to dopamine cell bodies (Tian et al., 2016). Thus, it is important to highlight that sex as a

biological variable in the context of the magnitude of cue-driven phasic dopamine signaling remains understudied.

5. Conclusions

Physiological states, such as hunger and satiety, have potent effects on goal-directed behaviors. The clinically relevant long-acting GLP-1 analog Ex4 suppressed the phasic response of VTA dopamine neurons to sucrose-predictive cues. The suppressed response, in turn, was correlated with decreased sucrose-directed behaviors. Central GLP-1R activation thus holds potential for tuning a form of dopamine signaling that biases approach in response to environmental cues that are associated with food reinforcement.



Figure III.1: Selective expression of calcium-dependent fluorescent construct in dopamine neurons captures dynamic fluctuations in dopamine signaling.

Figure III.1: Selective expression of calcium-dependent fluorescent construct in dopamine neurons captures dynamic fluctuations in dopamine signaling. (*A*) Representative images (top panels; scale bar = 200µm) with a high magnification of the VTA (bottom panels; scale bar = 100 µm) with GFP label in green, TH label in red, and a merge. (*B*) Quantification of neurons expressing TH that also labeled for GFP [(1) TH (2) GCaMP] and neurons labeling for GFP that also expressed TH [(1) GCaMP (2) TH] (n=4 rats). (*C*) Location of optic fiber tips from all rats used in photometry recordings. Solid blue and black circles superimposed on coronal sections modified from the Swanson brain atlas [83] represent optic fiber placements for rats used in D2 receptor and Ex4 pharmacology experiments, respectively. (*D*) Representative traces from the VTA of real-time Ca²⁺ dependent signal (465nm), Ca²⁺ independent signal (405nm), and fourier subtracted, dopamine activity signal. (*E*) Representative traces of dopamine activity after vehicle, raclopride or quinpirole. Quantification of transient frequency after vehicle versus raclopride (*F*) and vehicle versus quinpirole (*G*); n=8 rats. Data in panels B, F & G are mean ± SEM, *: p < 0.01.

Figure III.2: Ex4 dose-dependently suppresses indices of sucrose-directed behavior (n=5 male and n=5 female rats).



Figure III.2: Ex4 dose-dependently suppresses indices of sucrose-directed behavior (n=5 male and n=5 female rats). *(A)* Latency to begin licking increases with Ex4. *(B)* Number of licks per trial trend towards a decrease with increasing doses of Ex4. *(C)* Percent of trials with licks decreases with increasing doses of Ex4. All effects were independent of sex. Data are mean \pm SEM, *: p < 0.01 and p = 0.07 represent the main effect of Ex4 dose.



Figure III.3: Spontaneous VTA dopamine transients are not modulated by central Ex4.

Figure III.3: Spontaneous VTA dopamine transients are not modulated by central Ex4. **(A)** Trace of dopamine activity across the entire behavioral session from a representative rat (vehicle session; red vertical ticks represent the time of cue administration). **(B)** Multiple linear regression of the magnitude of all dopamine transients (symbols) reveals no effect of Ex4 for either males (n=5 rats; blue symbols) or females (n=5 rats; red symbols).



Figure III.4: Central Ex4 suppresses cue evoked dopamine activity.

Figure III.4: Central Ex4 suppresses cue evoked dopamine activity. **(***A***)** Dopamine activity aligned to cue onset (vertical red line) in a representative trial. **(***B***)** Multiple linear regression of each cue response (symbols) reveals a dose-dependent suppression of cue-evoked transient magnitude for both males (n=5; blue symbols) and females (n=5; red symbols). **(***C***)** Ex4 dose-dependently suppresses averaged dopamine activity aligned to cue onset (vertical red line) collapsed across sex (n=10 rats). Horizontal red bars above the trace represent times when dopamine activity following 0.1 µg Ex4 were significantly different from vehicle, p < 0.01. Lines represent group means.



Figure III.5: Magnitude of cue evoked dopamine activity is correlated with indices of sucrose-directed behavior.

Figure III.5: Magnitude of cue evoked dopamine activity is correlated with indices of sucrosedirected behavior. (*A*) Distributions of short (n = 152 trials) versus long (n = 160 trials) first-lick latencies. (*B*) Cue-evoked (left) but not first-lick-evoked (right) average dopamine activity is significantly greater for short (grey) versus long (red) latency trials. Vertical red lines indicate the onset of the behavioral event. Insets are quantifications of the averaged dopamine activity in the first second after the behavioral event as denoted by the grey shaded areas on the traces. Data are mean ± SEM, *: p < 0.01. (*C*) Multiple linear regression shows a negative relationship between lick latency and cue-evoked dopamine activity and a (*D*) positive relationship between number of licks per trial and cue-evoked dopamine activity for every trial across all behavioral sessions (n=900 trials).

Chapter IV: General Discussion

Our daily survival requires the preservation of homeostasis through various internal regulatory mechanisms and restorative behaviors. Physiological states, whether we are hungry or sated, heavily influence our eating decisions and our experiences with food. One part of how food motivated behaviors are shaped is the manner through which taste stimuli are received and evaluated. Associations between food and cues that predict them are learned and then integrated with various internal cues to generate motivated behaviors. Hunger and satiety profoundly modulate food-directed motivated behaviors, however the neural basis of motivation is poorly understood and still being elucidated. I'm interested in how taste stimuli are neurally encoded based on physiological state.

One node in the brain where such integration of physiological state and food value occurs is in midbrain dopamine neurons of the ventral tegmental area (VTA). Food and food associated cues evoke brief increases in dopamine release in the striatum and dopamine firing rate in the VTA, that is termed phasic activity. Such phasic activity is essential in invigorating approach behavior toward food, the reinforcing aspects of the food, and food reward value. Understanding how physiological state may change phasic dopamine activity in non-diseased states is central to understanding how this system is reconfigured in diseased states where behaviors toward food are maladaptive.

Summary of findings: In chapter II, I found that food restriction and cytoglucopenia both potentiate VTA dopamine signaling to food (Figure II.1; Figure II.2; Figure II.3). However, cytoglucopenia fails to modulate VTA dopamine signaling to water (Figure II.4), suggesting that dopamine signaling is tuned only toward stimuli that are restorative to physiological status. Interestingly, cytoglucopenia potentiates VTA dopamine to food cues differently based on the site of administration of the antiglycolytic agent (5-thio-d-glucose, 5TG). Forebrain 5TG potentiates food-cue evoked VTA dopamine signaling, while hindbrain 5TG potentiates food evoked VTA dopamine signaling (Figure II.6). This suggests that the forebrain contributes information to the VTA regarding learned cues, while the hindbrain provides information tuned more toward the taste of the primary reward. In chapter III, I found that the satiety signal, glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1), suppresses food-seeking behaviors (Figure III.2) via VTA dopamine signaling to food-cues (Figure III.4; Figure III.5). Chapter II elucidates a possible mechanism through which eating behaviors are initiated, while chapter III provides a mechanism through which eating behaviors may cease.

A. <u>Physiological state modulates the neural representation of taste</u>

We and others have shown that food evokes phasic dopamine signaling (Roitman et al., 2008; Schultz et al., 1993). In the present studies, I show that intraoral sucrose evokes robust phasic dopamine signaling and that changes in physiological state modulates that dopamine response (Figure II.1). How is it that the taste of sucrose comes to evoke a robust response from a set of neurons that are critical in motivated behaviors? How does taste information arrive at the VTA? How might physiological state be poised to change that information? Does taste information arrive at the VTA already modulated by physiological state? Alternatively, does physiological state impact the VTA dopamine neurons such that their activity is biased according to whether the animal is hungry or sated?

To be able to answer any of these questions, one must understand the neuroanatomy of how taste is processed by the brain. First, substances on the tongue, larynx, and pharynx are sensed by taste receptor cells and information transduced through the facial, glossopharyngeal, and vagus nerves (Lindemann, 1996). Taste stimuli activate taste receptor cells and first-order neurons in a concentration dependent manner (Ganchrow & Erickson, 1970). The majority of carbohydrate sensation is carried by a branch of the facial nerve called chorda tympani (Oakley, 1985), which then directly innervates the nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS). In fact, all nerves carrying taste afferents terminate at the NTS. The taste information then ascends to the thalamus and then to the insular cortex. However, taste information does not flow linearly through to the cortex, but rather is distributed divergently to many other structures, such as the hippocampus, hypothalamus, and the amygdala (Breslin, & Huang, 2006; Sewards, 2004; Simon et al., 2006). Although the NTS sends projections to the VTA (Alhadeff et al., 2012), it is unclear whether taste information arrives at the VTA directly from the NTS. An alternate afferent pathway to the VTA could be from the amygdala (Araujo & Simon, 2009), as dense projections to the VTA arise from the central amygdala (Watabe-Uchida et al., 2012). Regardless of the pathway, it is clear that taste information arrives at the VTA and has profound implications for food directed behaviors.

In the present studies I show that VTA dopamine responses sapid taste stimuli are modulated by physiological state. However, it is unclear where in the taste sensing pathway the neural representation of taste is modified by hunger or satiety such that VTA dopamine neurons differentially respond to sucrose. First-order taste neurons that carry information from the taste buds via the chorda tympani to the NTS are modulated by physiological state. For examples, physiological state signals such as glucagon-like peptide 1, stomach distension, and leptin modulate taste sensitivity transduction in the chorda tympani (Hellekant, 1971; Kawai et al., 2000; Niki et al., 2015; Takai et al., 2015; Yoshida et al., 2013). Interestingly, not all interoceptive signals modulate activity in first-order neurons. For example, fibroblast growth factor 21, a satiety signal released by the liver, does not modulate taste sensitivity, but does modulate sweet-seeking behaviors upon acting in the hypothalamus a node distal to taste reception (von Holstein-Rathlou et al., 2016). Although stimulus sensitivity can be modulated at the first-order neurons, such modulation should not be conflated with the affect elicited by the taste stimulus. For example, animals reject saline solutions at high concentrations while chorda tympani responses monotonically increase with increasing concentrations (H. Grill & Norgren, 1978). However disruptions in sodium balance does modulate chorda tympani responses to

saline solutions (Contreras, 1977; Contreras & Frank, 1979). Evidently, taste stimulus reception itself can be modulated by specific signals that convey physiological state.

Similar to first-order responses, physiological state and signals that convey it modulate neural responses to taste stimuli in second-order NTS neurons (Giza & Scott, 1983; 1987; Glenn & Erickson, 1976). Although the NTS activity to taste stimuli is only linearly amplified relative to chorda tympani activity (Ganchrow & Erickson, 1970), the NTS functions as more than just a relay of taste information. For example, intra-NTS injections of leptin modulate food intake, suggesting that physiological state controls information flow at the NTS. Therefore, it may seem that taste information is modified prior to being received by the VTA at both firstorder and second-order neurons. However, there is evidence to support that physiological state modulates gustatory signals even at the level of the dopamine neurons in the VTA (J. J. Cone et al., 2014; Mietlicki-Baase et al., 2015). It is possible that the dopamine responses to intraoral sucrose in the present studies are a consequence of taste information converging from multiple pathways including the NTS, the amygdala, and prefrontal cortex (Yamamoto, 2006). Further functional tracing studies are necessary to understand exactly by what circuit taste information arrives at the VTA and at what stages the gustatory information is modulated by physiological state. To date, data suggest that physiological state modulates gustatory signals at multiple nodes within the gustatory sensing pathway, potentially aiding the amplification of motivational drive toward food during times of negative energy balance.

B. Dopamine responses to food predictive cues are modulated by physiological state

A hungry organism is driven to find food for its survival. In order to be successful in finding the appropriate nutrients, the organism uses its catalog of learned associations to guide its way to the nearest source of nutrition. Cues such as the smell or the color of a ripe fruit that predict successful nutrient acquisition are critical in an organism's repertoire for survival. Such cues that predict reward evoke dopamine neuron responses and provide the organism the

incentive to approach and consume food (Robinson & Berridge, 1993). Dopamine responses in the VTA develop to the earliest predictor of reward (Schultz, 2013; Schultz et al., 1993; 1997). In fact, when a reward-associated cue is presented repeatedly over numerous trials, dopamine responses are elicited to the cue rather than to the expected reward (Fiorillo et al., 2003; Schultz et al., 1993; Waelti et al., 2001). Inhibiting dopamine signaling during the cue presentation decelerates the development of the cue-reward association while stimulation accelerates it (Morrens et al., 2020; Steinberg et al., 2013; 2014). Cue evoked dopamine signaling is essential in learning associations between cues and food.

In the present studies, dopamine responses developed to the cues that predicted food reward delivery (Figure II.6). In order for the audio cue to elicit a dopamine response in such a short latency (~100ms), the VTA must receive input from the auditory system via a relatively short pathway, similar to the visual system (Comoli et al., 2003). Unlike the visual system, the auditory system's connectivity to the mesolimbic dopamine system is not well studied. Sound information is received from the spiral ganglion and delivered into the central nervous system by the vestibulocochlear nerve (Malmierca, 2015). Upon entry into the brain, the vestibulocochlear nerve synapses onto the cochlear nucleus, from where multiple branches innervate the nucleus of the lateral lemniscus, superior olivary nucleus (a.k.a. superior olivary complex), and the inferior colliculus. From here, information is carried to the primary auditory cortex where much of the higher-order processing of sound occurs. The pathway through which the VTA receives the alerting auditory stimulus is poorly understood. Retrograde tracing studies show that VTA receives very poor innervation from the inferior colliculus (IC) (Geisler et al., 2007; Geisler & Zahm, 2005). It is possible that the sound information responsible for causing the short latency onset of phasic dopamine signaling arises from the innervation from the IC because the IC has been shown to increase in activity over learning conditioning stimuli (Gonzalez-Lima & Scheich, 1984; 1984). However, the VTA also receives a higher density but spacially diffuse innervation

from the so called "reticular formation," which is thought to be a system for generating wakefulness and arousal (Lecea, 2012). Most importantly, a component of the reticular activating system, the laterodorsal tegmental nucleus (LDTg) receives sound information (Koyama et al., 1994) and is the nucleus that provides the drive for phasic firing in dopamine neurons and allows for cue reinforcement (Lodge & Grace, 2006; Steidl & Veverka, 2015). Therefore, I posit that sound information can be incident on the VTA via multiple pathways—via the LDTg, the reticular formation, and the inferior colliculus. Further targeted studies are necessary to determine whether each of these nodes contribute to the ability of audio cues to elicit phasic dopamine signaling in Pavlovian conditioning paradigms, such as the one employed in the present studies.

Regardless of the circuit that is responsible for audio cues inducing such a short-latency response in dopamine neurons, the present study showed that in general, food-cue-evoked phasic dopamine signaling was modulated by signals that conveyed physiological state (Figure II.6; Figure III.4). These findings are consistent with the literature since, in humans, ghrelin (hunger-associated hormone) levels correlates with neural activity responses in the ventral tegmental area (Kroemer et al., 2013). Furthermore, both decreasing ghrelin receptor activity (A. K. Walker et al., 2012) and inducing satiety (Corbit et al., 2007) suppresses cue-evoked food seeking. Collectively, data suggest that physiological state and the signals that convey it set the gain on phasic dopamine activity to cues that predict food. Therefore, cues prompt the mesolimbic dopamine system to appropriately set the drive toward the primary food stimulus based on physiological need.

C. Cytoglucopenia potentiates dopamine signaling to food and food-cues

I found that cytoglucopenia, induced by either antiglycolytic agents or by peripheral insulin, potentiates dopamine signaling to food stimuli and food associated cues (Figure II.2; Figure II.3; Figure II.6). I used the antiglycolytic agent 5-thio-D-glucose (5TG), similar to 2-

deoxy-D-glucose (2DG), which is an unmetabolizable glucose analog. These antiglycolytic agents work to decrease metabolizable intracellular glucose by inhibiting glycolysis at key stages, namely by inhibiting glucose uptake (Betz et al., 1975; 2013) and by blocking hexokinase (Bachelard et al., 1971; M. Chen & Whistler, 1975; Horton et al., 1973). The macroscopic effect of administering such antiglycolytic agents is that they increase hunger ratings and the "tastiness" of sugar in humans (Thompson & Campbell, 1977), as well as a potent increase in food intake in both humans and rats (R. C. Ritter & Slusser, 1980; Slusser & Ritter, 1980; Thompson et al., 1984; Thompson & Campbell, 1977). Interestingly, 2DG is used therapeutically in humans to treat cancer (Berthe et al., 2018; Pajak et al., 2020) and COVID-19 (Bhatt et al., 2022) because of the efficacy of antiglycolytic agents to slow glucose metabolism preferentially in diseased cells. Given the ubiquity of type 2 diabetes causing obesity and the advent of antiglycolytic agents in the treatment of cancer and COVID-19, it is more important than ever to understand the mechanisms through which glucose levels are regulated and how they govern energy balance.

In the present studies, 5TG doses were determined based on the minimum dose to increase food intake in previous studies (Kamatchi et al., 1986; A. J. Li et al., 2014; Tordoff et al., 1988). 2DG also increases eating in rats but only at much higher doses (Slusser & Ritter, 1980). It is important to note that the present studies do not measure effective glucose utilization. It is unclear whether changes in glucose availability in these experiments is within the physiological bounds of approximately 0.2mmol/L in the brain (Campfield et al., 1985; 1996; Silver & Erecinska, 1994; Vries et al., 2003). Some researchers are of the opinion that glucose utilization at the neuronal level may only play a role in inducing food intake during extreme deficits, but not during a typical day or a short fast (Levin et al., 2006). Furthermore, if decreased incrementally, subjects feel hungry at blood glucose concentrations almost at levels that cause cognitive impairment (D. Kerr et al., 1993; Mitrakou et al., 1991). However, glucose

sensing neurons can detect very small changes in ambient concentrations (R. Wang et al., 2004). This suggests that glucose levels are controlled very dynamically and hunger is based on factors other than just the absolute blood glucose concentration. AMPK activity, sensitive to fluctuations in intracellular glucose, can be suppressed to decrease food seeking behaviors (Hayes et al., 2009; Minokoshi et al., 2004), suggesting that endogenous glucose detection by AMPK does influence physiological eating. Although the administration of anti-glycolytic agents is potentially pushing glucose utilization to supraphysiological limits, understanding how intrinsic cellular mechanisms compensate, for the deficit of glucose is essential in understanding, compensation mechanisms carried out by hormones, such as ghrelin, insulin, and other signals, that convey physiological state to the brain to modulate food seeking behavior. Future studies might consider experimentally changing brain and blood glucose concentrations at varying rates within physiological levels that induce hunger to determine whether such manipulations modulate mesolimbic dopamine activity to food and food-cues.

I found that peripherally administered insulin potentiated dopamine responses to intraoral sucrose (Figure II.3). Interestingly, the potentiation of dopamine waned over time, suggesting that insulin may act directly on the central nervous system (CNS). Insulin indeed crosses the blood-brain-barrier and enters the CNS through a passive saturable transport at physiological ranges of blood insulin levels (Banks et al., 1997; Schwartz et al., 1991). Currently, it is widely agreed that the source of central insulin is via pancreas derived means. Although many regions of the brain contain insulin, the only evidence of CNS insulin synthesis in mammals is in the olfactory mucosa (Lacroix et al., 2008), but at too low of a level to account for the presence of insulin throughout the brain (Havrankova et al., 1981). Unlike the effects of insulin in the periphery, insulin in the CNS primarily does not promote glucose uptake as most glucose transporters in the brain are insulin independent (McEwen & Reagan, 2004). Behavioral effects of central insulin are well documented and shown to have opposite effects on behavior as it does in the periphery. Central insulin reduces food intake, body weight, serum insulin levels, and increases blood glucose concentrations (Ajaya & Haranath, 1982; Brief & Davis, 1984; Debons et al., 1970; Florant et al., 1991; Hatfield et al., 1974; Schwartz et al., 1992; Strubbe & Mein, 1977; Woods & Porte, 1983). However, the cellular mechanisms of how insulin modulates eating behavior is largely unclear. Most current models suggest that insulin acts in the hypothalamus on Agouti-related peptide (AgRP) and proopiomelanocortin/cocaine-andamphetamine-regulated transcript (POMC/CaRT) neurons to suppress food intake via melanin concentrating hormone (MCH) neurons (Kleinridders et al., 2014). This is further complicated by the fact that insulin receptors are found in high densities in other regions of the brain, including the olfactory bulb, cortex, hippocampus, striatum, thalamus, midbrain, brainstem, and the cerebellum (Dou et al., 2005; Fernandez & Torres-Alemán, 2012; Havrankova et al., 1981; Zhao et al., 2004). Although the insulin doses in this study were likely supraphysiological (Aparicio et al., 1974; Shih et al., 2007), loss-of-function studies show endogenous activity does protect from hyperphagia (Obici et al., 2002). Thus, effects of central insulin in the present thesis are likely working through parallel, overlapping mechanisms, and even directly on VTA dopamine neurons to modulate their activity (Figlewicz et al., 2003).

Cytoglucopenia enhanced dopamine responses to intraoral sucrose (Figure II.2; Figure II.3) and to cues that predicted intraoral sucrose (Figure II.6). However, the enhancement varied based on where 5TG was administered. Due to the nature of cerebroventricular flow (Bothwell et al., 2019), 5TG administered in the lateral ventricle (LV) likely influenced more forebrain structures and 5TG administered in the fourth ventricle (4V) likely influenced more hindbrain structures. Forebrain 5TG potentiated cue evoked dopamine while hindbrain 5TG potentiated dopamine responses to the primary sucrose reward. There are likely parallel but separate mechanisms that govern this discrepancy. Firstly, there are separate populations of glucose sensitive neurons both in the hypothalamus, i.e. forebrain (Oomura et al., 1969), and in the

NTS, i.e. the hindbrain (Dallaporta et al., 1999). The glucose-sensitive neurons in the NTS are not only necessary for glucoprivic eating (S. Ritter et al., 2001), but blood glucose directly modulates their response to taste stimuli (Giza & Scott, 1983). Additionally, NPY producing epinephrine neurons in the NTS increase food intake (J. Chen et al., 2020). Since NTS neurons directly project to the VTA (Alhadeff et al., 2012) and modulate VTA dopamine neuron activity (X. F. Wang et al., 2015), it is likely that the hindbrain NTS glucose-sensitive neurons send specific information to the VTA regarding the taste and the receipt of the primary reward. The glucose-sensitive neurons in the hypothalamus, on the other hand, might send the VTA information regarding the cues associated with the primary reward rather than the reward itself. Firstly, we know that the lateral hypothalamus sends direct GABAergic (LH^{GABA}) projections to the VTA that directly inhibit VTA GABAergic neurons (Nieh et al., 2016). This results in a disinhibition pathway that potentiates food directed behaviors. Furthermore, LHGABA are accompanied by glutamate projections (LH^{glut}) to the VTA, where the combination of projections stimulates compulsive sucrose seeking even at the cost of a punishing electrical shock (Nieh et al., 2015). Most interestingly, it seems that this LH^{GABA} neurons encode reward predictions and regulate learning (Sharpe et al., 2017). Collectively, these data shed light on the discrepancy in the potentiation of dopamine responses between 5TG administered in the LV and in the 4V. 5TG in the LV likely stimulated the LH to VTA pathway to preferentially modulate the dopamine responses to the cue. On the other hand, 5TG in the 4V likely potentiated sucrose evoked dopamine via the NTS.

D. <u>Glucagon-like peptide 1 suppresses dopamine signaling to food and food-cues</u>

Food intake is inherently stress-inducing. For example, an excessively large meal can make one feel quite uncomfortable. The absorption of food causes large physiological changes in blood osmotic pressure, blood glucose, gastrointestinal distension, etc., that the body tolerates and manages with various housekeeping mechanisms (Woods, 1991). Therefore, satiety is a process through which the body protects itself against the burden of food-induced changes in physiology. One satiety-inducing molecule, called glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1), is released by a set of hindbrain neurons that express mRNA for preproglucagon (PPG). I demonstrated that GLP-1 suppresses food-cue evoked and food evoked dopamine neuron activity (Figure II.4; Figure II.5). It is important to consider that GLP-1 signaling in the brain is not just used to convey satiety but is also used to signal interoceptive and psychogenic stress (Holt & Rinaman, 2022). The idea that satiety is a stress-inducing process and that common circuits/neurons might encode both satiety and stress mechanisms is explored by many groups (Calvez et al., 2011; Maniscalco et al., 2013; R. C. Ritter et al., 1999; RJ et al., 2000). In the context of the current studies, it is not possible to infer that only circuits pertaining to satiety are engaged. It is likely that Ex4 administration in the LV engaged a subset of GLP-1R that signal stress, since dopamine signaling is suppressed to unpleasant or aversive stimuli and signals that convey aversion (Roitman et al., 2005; Verharen et al., 2020). For example, lithium chloride induced aversion suppresses phasic dopamine release and is mediated by GLP-1 signaling (Fortin et al., 2016). However, endogenous GLP-1 signaling decreases synaptic drive to the dopamine neurons in the VTA, decreases synaptic dopamine release in the NAc, and subsequently decreases high-fat diet intake (X. F. Wang et al., 2015).

Although the doses of GLP-1 agonist, Exendin-4 (Ex4), in these studies were potentially above levels of GLP-1 in the brain (Hsu et al., 2015), preclinical (Donahey et al., 1998; Turton et al., 1996) and clinical data (Finan et al., 2015) show that the Ex4 doses used are effective in dampening motivated behavior toward food and drugs of abuse without inducing malaise. Additionally, NTS neurons project directly to the VTA to suppress food intake, supporting the relevance of the role of GLP-1 signaling in modulation dopamine neuron activity to food and food associated stimuli (Alhadeff et al., 2012). Further investigation in obese subjects is

warranted since GLP-1 signaling is impaired in obesity (Knop et al., 2012; Madsbad, 2014), suggesting that dopamine signaling would also be dysregulated as a function of GLP-1.

GLP-1R is a cell surface G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) which activates a heteromeric Gs protein (Graaf et al., 2016; Gromada et al., 1995; 1998; 2004). Gs in turn activates adenylate cyclase activity, producing cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), which then activates protein kinase A (PKA) (Graaf et al., 2016). In agreement with expected Gs GPCR function, GLP-1R agonism does increase PKA activity (Hayes et al., 2011). Although it is known that GLP-1R activation suppresses food intake by upregulating the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway and downregulating the activity of AMPK (Hayes et al., 2011), it is still unclear how GLP-1R signaling (via a stimulatory GPCR pathway) suppresses dopamine neuron activity. It is possible that NTS PPG neurons innervate VTA GABA neurons to disinhibit VTA dopamine neurons, similar to the innervation by LHA^{GABA} neurons (Nieh et al., 2016). Intra-VTA administration of Ex4 does decrease food intake without inducing malaise (Alhadeff et al., 2012; Dickson et al., 2012) and this effect is abolished with a pretreatment of the GLP-1R antagonist (Mietlicki-Baase et al., 2013). Interestingly, an ex vivo study shows that GLP-1R activation in the VTA increases spontaneous excitatory postsynaptic current (sEPSC) frequency and this effect was shown to be mediated by AMPA/kainate receptors (Mietlicki-Baase et al., 2013). This is seemingly contradictory to the findings in this thesis since I showed that dopamine activity is suppressed with central GLP-1R activation. Additionally, endogenous GLP-1R activation suppresses VTA dopamine neuron activity (X. F. Wang et al., 2015). The inherent nature of ex vivo experiments removes the possibility of observing the effects of endogenous GLP-1R signaling in circuits that might otherwise be functional in an intact organism. It is also important to note that the recording of activity in the present studies is an aggregate from the paranigral subregion of the VTA and does not capture the intricacies of single-cell interactions. Because presynaptic dopamine D2 receptors have a inhibitory effect on dopamine signaling (Adell &

Artigas, 2004; Gentet & Williams, 2007), it is possible that GLP-1 release activates dopamine neurons that then activate dopamine D2 receptors to suppress the net output of the dopamine neurons in the VTA. Further investigation is required to determine how an excitation via GLP-1R agonism ultimately yields a net suppression of VTA dopamine neuron activity seen in the present studies and others (Fortin & Roitman, 2017).

E. The implications of a multiplexed dopamine signaling for obesity

Understanding how the modulation of a dopamine signal is relevant to the function of day-to-day behavior toward food, is a monumental task. Firstly, the neural mechanisms that govern our behavior no longer function in the same context in which they evolutionarily developed. Rather, these adaptive mechanisms have a higher likelihood to turn maladaptive in an environment where the ready availability of caloric dense foods prime our bodies for obesity. Although dopamine signaling is crucial in the search for and the consumption of food in harsh natural settings where food availability is sparse, the potent invigoration of behavior toward the aforementioned obesogenic foods can contribute to overconsumption and one of many reasons that we find ourselves with an obesity pandemic. Secondly, to forge a path toward curbing the obesity crisis, it is essential that we understand how dopamine neurons adaptively integrate interoceptive and exteroceptive cues to produce appropriate behavior.

To this day, a debate persists regarding the true meaning and function of dopamine signaling in the mesolimbic circuitry. While some interpret dopamine signaling to convey reward value (Hamid et al., 2015; Howe et al., 2013; Mohebi et al., 2019; Phillips et al., 2003; Roitman et al., 2004; Syed et al., 2015; Wassum et al., 2012), some argue that the dopamine signal represents reward prediction error (Saunders et al., 2018; Schultz, 1986; 1998; Steinberg et al., 2013; Usypchuk et al., 2022; Waelti et al., 2001). Reward prediction error (RPE) is the error between perceived and predicted rewards (Schultz, 2016). Under the RPE framework, the dopamine output is represented as a learning signal to update future reward value. In other

words, current reward evaluation updates the expectation of reward in the future and that current reward value is influenced by previous reward experience. For example, dopamine release in the NAc correlates with current reward value but not with RPE (Mohebi et al., 2019). However, when dopamine neurons are artificially stimulated in a task that requires action to receive reward, the optogenetic stimulation during a decision point in a previous trial reinforces that action for the subsequent trial regardless of whether a reward was received (Hamid et al., 2015). This experiment supports the idea that dopamine encodes learning that a specific action results in the reward, rather than the absolute value of the reward.

Considering this debate regarding the function of dopamine neuron activity, I posit that my work provides further insight to the fact that dopamine neurons encode a multiplexed signal and not necessarily just reward value or just learned associations. I found that dopamine neuronal signaling to both food-cues as well as food itself scaled with signals that convey physiological state. A signal of hunger, cytoglucopenia, potentiated dopamine neuron activity to cues, consistent with literature that shows dopamine role is to invigorate behavior in the face of cues that predict reward (J. J. Day et al., 2007; Hoffmann & Nicola, 2014; Roitman et al., 2004; Saunders et al., 2018; Steinberg et al., 2014). On the other hand, a signal of satiety, GLP-1R stimulation, suppressed such dopamine signals. Dopamine neuron responses were modulated by these hunger and satiety signals even when rewards were unexpected. This latter fact suggests that reward value is modulated not only at the level of behavior, but also at the level of dopamine signaling. Dopamine modulation toward caloric stimuli is especially important to consider because dopamine scales with caloric density (physical value) (Geary & Smith, 1985; Hajnal et al., 2004). Therefore, the physical value of a stimulus, the current physiological context, and prior learned associations may all be encoded in dopamine activity as multiplexed simultaneous signals. The physical value of densely caloric foods may overlay the encoding of

physiological state, resulting in a potentiation of dopamine invigoration toward food overconsumption.

Interestingly, the physical value of a food stimulus might be encoded differently in different regions of the dopamine circuitry. Tellez et. al. showed that ventral striatal dopamine release correlated with the taste (hedonic), whereas dorsal striatal dopamine release correlated with the caloric content of the reward (Tellez et al., 2016). This suggests that the function of dopamine varies with location of release, which is supported by the literature. Firstly, dopamine neurons are widely heterogeneous both in where the project but also in what they corelease (Ikemoto, 2007; Morales & Margolis, 2017). Secondly, in addition to the functions mentioned above, dopamine has been linked to spatial reward discrimination (Takikawa et al., 2004), response inhibition (Ogasawara et al., 2018), long term memory (Bromberg-Martin et al., 2010; H. F. Kim et al., 2015), economic common currency and formal utility (Lak et al., 2014; 2016; Stauffer et al., 2014), and many other constructs. Rather than elaborating on each of these constructs, I note them here to illustrate the heterogeneity of dopamine function. Although the data in the present thesis cannot account for the absolute hedonic value of the food stimulus, I did show that dopamine neurons integrate physiological status with the appropriate oral stimulus— only thirst, not 5TG-induced cytoglucopenia, potentiates dopamine responses to water. This suggests that dopamine neurons in the paranigral VTA encode caloric value as a function of physiological state. This interaction between the taste and physiological state set the gain on a system that is responsible for converting drive (hunger) into action (eating).

Citations

- Abbott, C. R., Monteiro, M., Small, C. J., Sajedi, A., Smith, K. L., Parkinson, J. R. C., Ghatei, M. A., & Bloom, S. R. (2005). The inhibitory effects of peripheral administration of peptide YY3–36 and glucagon-like peptide-1 on food intake are attenuated by ablation of the vagal– brainstem–hypothalamic pathway. *Brain Research*, 1044(1), 127–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2005.03.011
- Abdelaal, M., Roux, C. W. le, & Docherty, N. G. (2017). Morbidity and mortality associated with obesity. *Annals of Translational Medicine*, *5*(7), 161–161. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2017.03.107
- Adell, A., & Artigas, F. (2004). The somatodendritic release of dopamine in the ventral tegmental area and its regulation by afferent transmitter systems. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 28(4), 415–431. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2004.05.001</u>
- Affleck, V. S., Coote, J. H., & Pyner, S. (2012). The projection and synaptic organisation of NTS afferent connections with presympathetic neurons, GABA and nNOS neurons in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. *Neuroscience*, 219(1–2), 48–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.05.070
- Aitken, T. J., Greenfield, V. Y., & Wassum, K. M. (2016). Nucleus accumbens core dopamine signaling tracks the need-based motivational value of food-paired cues. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 136(5), 1026–1036. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13494</u>
- Ajaya, B., & Haranath, P. S. (1982). Effects of insulin administered into cerebrospinal fluid spaces on blood glucose in unanaesthetized and anaesthetized dogs. *The Indian Journal of Medical Research*, 75, 607–615.
- Aldridge, J. W., & Berridge, K. C. (1998). Coding of Serial Order by Neostriatal Neurons: A "Natural Action" Approach to Movement Sequence. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(7), 2777–2787. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.18-07-02777.1998</u>
- Alhadeff, A. L., Baird, J. P., Swick, J. C., Hayes, M. R., & Grill, H. J. (2014). Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor signaling in the lateral parabrachial nucleus contributes to the control of food intake and motivation to feed. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *39*, 2233–2243. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.74
- Alhadeff, A. L., & Grill, H. J. (2014). Hindbrain nucleus tractus solitarius glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor signaling reduces appetitive and motivational aspects of feeding. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 307, R465-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00179.2014</u>

- Alhadeff, A. L., Mergler, B. D., Zimmer, D. J., Turner, C. A., Reiner, D. J., Schmidt, H. D., Grill, H. J., & Hayes, M. R. (2017). Endogenous Glucagon-like Peptide-1 Receptor Signaling in the Nucleus Tractus Solitarius is Required for Food Intake Control. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 42(7), 1471–1479. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2016.246</u>
- Alhadeff, A. L., Rupprecht, L. E., & Hayes, M. R. (2012). GLP-1 Neurons in the Nucleus of the Solitary Tract Project Directly to the Ventral Tegmental Area and Nucleus Accumbens to Control for Food Intake. *Endocrinology*, 153, 647–658. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2011-1443</u>
- Allen, G. V., & Cechetto, D. F. (1995). Neurotensin in the lateral hypothalamic area: Origin and function. *Neuroscience*, 69(2), 533–544. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(95)00261-g</u>
- Altizer, A. M., & Davidson, T. L. (1998). Effects of NPY and 5-TG on responding to cues for fats and carbohydrates. *Physiology and Behavior*, 65, 685–690. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0031-9384(98)00221-2</u>
- Anand, B. K., & Brobeck, J. R. (1951). Hypothalamic control of food intake in rats and cats. *The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*, 24(2), 123–140. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14901884
- Andén, N. -E., Dahlström, A., Fuxe, K., Larsson, K., Olson, L., & Ungerstedt, U. (1966). Ascending Monoamine Neurons to the Telencephalon and Diencephalon. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica*, 67(3-4), 313–326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-1716.1966.tb03318.x</u>
- Anderberg, R. H., Anefors, C., Bergquist, F., Nissbrandt, H., & Skibicka, K. P. (2014). Dopamine signaling in the amygdala, increased by food ingestion and GLP-1, regulates feeding behavior. *Physiology & Behavior*, *136*, 135–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.02.026
- Anderberg, R. H., Richard, J. E., Hansson, C., Nissbrandt, H., Bergquist, F., & Skibicka, K. P. (2016). GLP-1 is both anxiogenic and antidepressant; divergent effects of acute and chronic GLP-1 on emotionality. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 65, 54–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2015.11.021
- Anderson, D. J. (2016). Circuit modules linking internal states and social behaviour in flies and mice. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *17*(11), 692–704. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2016.125</u>
- Andersson, J. L., Nomikos, G. G., Marcus, M., Hertel, P., Mathe, J. M., & Svensson, T. H. (1995). Ritanserin potentiates the stimulatory effects of raclopride on neuronal activity and dopamine release selectively in the mesolimbic dopaminergic system. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology*, 352(4), 374–385. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00172774</u>
- Anzalone, A., Lizardi-Ortiz, J. E., Ramos, M., Mei, C. D., Hopf, F. W., Iaccarino, C., Halbout, B., Jacobsen, J., Kinoshita, C., Welter, M., Caron, M. G., Bonci, A., Sulzer, D., & Borrelli, E.

(2012). Dual Control of Dopamine Synthesis and Release by Presynaptic and Postsynaptic Dopamine D2 Receptors. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *32*(26), 9023–9034. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.0918-12.2012

- Aparicio, N. J., Puchulu, F. E., Gagliardino, J. J., Ruiz, M., Llorens, J. M., Ruiz, J., Lamas, A., & Miguel, R. D. (1974). Circadian variation of the blood glucose, plasma insulin and human growth hormone levels in response to an oral glucose load in normal subjects. *Diabetes*, 23(2), 132–137.
- Apicella, P., Ljungberg, T., Scarnati, E., & Schultz, W. (1991). Responses to reward in monkey dorsal and ventral striatum. *Experimental Brain Research*, 85(3), 491–500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00231732</u>
- Aponte, Y., Atasoy, D., & Sternson, S. M. (2011). AGRP neurons are sufficient to orchestrate feeding behavior rapidly and without training. *Nature Neuroscience*, 14(3), 351–355. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2739</u>
- Aragona, B. J., Cleaveland, N. A., Stuber, G. D., Day, J. J., Carelli, R. M., & Wightman, R. M. (2008). Preferential Enhancement of Dopamine Transmission within the Nucleus Accumbens Shell by Cocaine Is Attributable to a Direct Increase in Phasic Dopamine Release Events. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 28, 8821. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.2225-08.2008</u>
- Aransay, A., Rodríguez-López, C., García-Amado, M., Clascá, F., & Prensa, L. (2015). Longrange projection neurons of the mouse ventral tegmental area: a single-cell axon tracing analysis. *Frontiers in Neuroanatomy*, 9, 59. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnana.2015.00059</u>
- Araujo, I. E. de, & Simon, S. A. (2009). The gustatory cortex and multisensory integration. *International Journal of Obesity*, 33(Suppl 2), S34–S43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2009.70</u>
- Arber, S., & Costa, R. M. (2018). Connecting neuronal circuits for movement. *Science*, *360*(6396), 1403–1404. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aat5994</u>
- Aström, K. E. (1953). On the Central Course of Afferent Fibres in the Trigeminal, Facial, Glossopharyngeal, and Vagal Nerves and their Nuclei in the Mouse. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica*, 29(S106), 209–320. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/apha.1953.29.s106.209</u>
- Atalayer, D., & Rowland, N. E. (2007). Comparison of lever press and nose poke operants for acquiring the demand function for food intake and meal patterns in mice. *Appetite*, 49(1), 275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2007.03.021</u>
- Atasoy, D., Betley, J. N., Su, H. H., & Sternson, S. M. (2012). Deconstruction of a neural circuit for hunger. *Nature*, 488, 172–177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11270</u>

- Bachelard, H. S., Clark, A. G., & Thompson, M. F. (1971). Cerebral-cortex hexokinases. Elucidation of reaction mechanisms by substrate and dead-end inhibitor kinetic analysis. *Biochemical Journal*, 123(5), 707–715. <u>https://doi.org/10.1042/bj1230707</u>
- Bakshi, V. P., & Kelley, A. E. (1993). Striatal regulation of morphine-induced hyperphagia: an anatomical mapping study. *Psychopharmacology*, 111(2), 207–214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02245525</u>
- Banks, W. A., Jaspan, J. B., Huang, W., & Kastin, A. J. (1997). Transport of Insulin Across the Blood-Brain Barrier: Saturability at Euglycemic Doses of Insulin. *Peptides*, 18(9), 1423– 1429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0196-9781(97)00231-3</u>
- Barrera, J. G., Jones, K. R., Herman, J. P., D'Alessio, D. A., Woods, S. C., & Seeley, R. J. (2011). Hyperphagia and Increased Fat Accumulation in Two Models of Chronic CNS Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Loss of Function. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*, 3904–3913. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.2212-10.2011</u>
- Barson, J. R., Morganstern, I., & Leibowitz, S. F. (2013). Complementary Roles of Orexin and Melanin-Concentrating Hormone in Feeding Behavior. *International Journal of Endocrinology*, 2013, 983964. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/983964</u>
- Becker, J. B., & Chartoff, E. (2018). Sex differences in neural mechanisms mediating reward and addiction. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 44(1), 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-018-0125-6</u>
- Beckstead, R. M., Wooten, G. F., & Trugman, J. M. (1988). Distribution of D1 and D2 dopamine receptors in the basal ganglia of the cat determined by quantitative autoradiography. *Journal* of Comparative Neurology, 268(1), 131–145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902680113</u>
- Begg, D. P., & Woods, S. C. (2012). The central insulin system and energy balance. *Appetite Control*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-24716-3_5</u>
- Begg, D. P., & Woods, S. C. (2013). The endocrinology of food intake. *Nature Neuroendocrinology*, 9, 584–597. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2013.136</u>
- Berendse, H. W., & Groenewegen, H. J. (1990). Organization of the thalamostriatal projections in the rat, with special emphasis on the ventral striatum. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 299(2), 187–228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902990206</u>
- Berendse, H. W., & Richfield, E. K. (1993). Heterogeneous distribution of dopamine D1 and D2 receptors in the human ventral striatum. *Neuroscience Letters*, *150*(1), 75–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3940(93)90112-x</u>
- Berke, J. D. (2018). What does dopamine mean? *Nature Neuroscience*, *21*, 787–793. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0152-y</u>

- Berridge, K. C. (1991). Modulation of taste affect by hunger, caloric satiety, and sensory-specific satiety in the rat. *Appetite*, *16*(2), 103–120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0195-6663(91)90036-r</u>
- Berridge, K. C. (2018). Evolving Concepts of Emotion and Motivation. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 09, 1647. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01647</u>
- Berridge, K. C., Venier, I. L., & Robinson, T. E. (1989). Taste Reactivity Analysis of 6-Hydroxydopamine-Induced Aphagia: Implications for Arousal and Anhedonia Hypotheses of Dopamine Function. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 103(1), 36–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.103.1.36</u>
- Berthe, A., Zaffino, M., Muller, C., Foulquier, F., Houdou, M., Schulz, C., Bost, F., Fay, E. D., Mazerbourg, S., & Flament, S. (2018). Protein N-glycosylation alteration and glycolysis inhibition both contribute to the antiproliferative action of 2-deoxyglucose in breast cancer cells. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 171(3), 581–591. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-018-4874-z</u>
- Betz, A. L., Drewes, L. R., & Gilboe, D. D. (1975). Inhibition of glucose transport into brain by phlorizin, phloretin and glucose analogues. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)* -*Biomembranes*, 406(4), 505–515. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-2736(75)90028-0</u>
- Betz, A. L., Gilboe, D. D., & Drewes, L. R. (2013). Transport Phenomena in the Nervous System, Physiological and Pathological Aspects. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 133–149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4684-3264-0_11</u>
- Bhatt, A. N., Shenoy, S., Munjal, S., Chinnadurai, V., Agarwal, A., Kumar, A. V., Shanavas, A., Kanwar, R., & Chandna, S. (2022). 2-deoxy-d-glucose as an adjunct to standard of care in the medical management of COVID-19: a proof-of-concept and dose-ranging randomised phase II clinical trial. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 22(1), 669. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-022-07642-6</u>
- Bigl, V., Biesold, D., & Weisz, K. (1974). The Influence of Functional Alteration on Monoamine Oxidase and Catechol-O-methyl Transferase in the Visual Pathway of Rats. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 22(4), 505–509. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.1974.tb06885.x</u>
- Bittencourt, J. C. (2011). Anatomical organization of the melanin-concentrating hormone peptide family in the mammalian brain. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, *172*(2), 185–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.03.028
- Blackburn, J. R., Phillips, A. G., Jakubovic, A., & Fibiger, H. C. (1989). Dopamine and Preparatory Behavior: II. A Neurochemical Analysis. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *103*, 15–23. https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.103.1.15
- Blum, K., Braverman, E. R., Wood, R. C., Gill, J., Li, C., Chen, T. J. H., Taub, M., Montgomery, A. R., Sheridan, P. J., & Cull, J. G. (1996). Increased prevalence of the Taq I A1allele of the

dopamine receptor gene (DRD2) in obesity with comorbid substance use disorder: a preliminary report. *Pharmacogenetics*, 6(4), 297–305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00008571-199608000-00003</u>

- Bonanni, L., Thomas, A., & Onofrj, M. (2010). Paradoxical kinesia in parkinsonian patients surviving earthquake. *Movement Disorders*, 25(9), 1302–1304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.23075</u>
- Borgland, S. L., Chang, S. J., Bowers, M. S., Thompson, J. L., Vittoz, N., Floresco, S. B., Chou, J., Chen, B. T., & Bonci, A. (2009). Orexin A/hypocretin-1 selectively promotes motivation for positive reinforcers. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 29, 11215–11225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.6096-08.2009</u>
- Borgland, S. L., Taha, S. A., Sarti, F., Fields, H. L., & Bonci, A. (2006). Orexin A in the VTA Is Critical for the Induction of Synaptic Plasticity and Behavioral Sensitization to Cocaine. *Neuron*, 49(4), 589–601. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.01.016</u>
- Boswell, R. G., & Kober, H. (2016). Food cue reactivity and craving predict eating and weight gain: a meta-analytic review. *Obesity Reviews*, *17*(2), 159–177. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12354
- Bothwell, S. W., Janigro, D., & Patabendige, A. (2019). Cerebrospinal fluid dynamics and intracranial pressure elevation in neurological diseases. *Fluids and Barriers of the CNS*, 16(1), 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12987-019-0129-6</u>
- Bozarth, M. A., & Wise, R. A. (1986). Involvement of the ventral tegmental dopamine system in opioid and psychomotor stimulant reinforcement. *NIDA Research Monograph*, 67, 190–196. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3092066</u>
- Branch, S. Y., Goertz, R. B., Sharpe, A. L., Pierce, J., Roy, S., Ko, D., Paladini, C. A., & Beckstead, M. J. (2013). Food restriction increases glutamate receptor-mediated burst firing of dopamine neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 33, 13861–13872. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.5099-12.2013</u>
- Breslin, P. A. S., & Huang, L. (2006). Human Taste: Peripheral Anatomy, Taste Transduction, and Coding. Advances in Oto-Rhino-Laryngology, 63(5), 152–190. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000093760</u>
- Brief, D. J., & Davis, J. D. (1984). Reduction of food intake and body weight by chronic intraventricular insulin infusion. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 12(5), 571–575. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0361-9230(84)90174-6</u>
- Broberger, C., Lecea, L. D., Sutcliffe, J. G., & Hökfelt, T. (1998). Hypocretin/Orexin- and melanin-concentrating hormone-expressing cells form distinct populations in the rodent lateral hypothalamus: Relationship to the neuropeptide Y and agouti gene-related protein

systems. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 402(4), 460–474. https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1096-9861(19981228)402:4<460::aid-cne3>3.0.co;2-s

- Brodie, M. S., & Dunwiddie, T. V. (1987). Cholecystokinin potentiates dopamine inhibition of mesencephalic dopamine neurons in vitro. *Brain Research*, 425(1), 106–113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(87)90488-4</u>
- Brog, J. S., Salyapongse, A., Deutch, A. Y., & Zahm, D. S. (1993). The patterns of afferent innervation of the core and shell in the "Accumbens" part of the rat ventral striatum: Immunohistochemical detection of retrogradely transported fluoro-gold. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 338(2), 255–278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903380209</u>
- Bromberg-Martin, E. S., Matsumoto, M., & Hikosaka, O. (2010). Dopamine in Motivational Control: Rewarding, Aversive, and Alerting. *Neuron*, 68(5), 815–834. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2010.11.022</u>
- Bron, R., Yin, L., Russo, D., & Furness, J. B. (2013). Expression of the ghrelin receptor gene in neurons of the medulla oblongata of the rat. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 521, 2680–2702. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.23309</u>
- Burdakov, D., & Alexopoulos, H. (2005). Metabolic state signalling through central hypocretin/orexin neurons. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, 9(4), 795–803. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2005.tb00380.x
- Burger, K. S., & Stice, E. (2014). Neural responsivity during soft drink intake, anticipation, and advertisement exposure in habitually consuming youth. *OBESITY BIOLOGY AND INTEGRATED PHYSIOLOGY*, 22, 441–450. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.20563</u>
- Busch, W. (1858). Contribution to the physiology of the digestive organs. *Arch Pathol Anat Physiol Klin Med*, *14*, 140–186.
- Cachope, R., Mateo, Y., Mathur, B. N., Irving, J., Wang, H.-L., Morales, M., Lovinger, D. M., & Cheer, J. F. (2012). Selective Activation of Cholinergic Interneurons Enhances Accumbal Phasic Dopamine Release: Setting the Tone for Reward Processing. *Cell Reports*, 2(1), 33– 41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2012.05.011</u>
- Calabresi, P., Picconi, B., Tozzi, A., Ghiglieri, V., & Filippo, M. D. (2014). Direct and indirect pathways of basal ganglia: a critical reappraisal. *Nature Neuroscience*, *17*(8), 1022–1030. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3743
- Calvez, J., Fromentin, G., Nadkarni, N., Darcel, N., Even, P., Tomé, D., Ballet, N., & Chaumontet, C. (2011). Inhibition of food intake induced by acute stress in rats is due to satiation effects. *Physiology & Behavior*, 104(5), 675–683. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.07.012</u>

- Campfield, L. A., Brandon, P., & Smith, F. J. (1985). On-line continuous measurement of blood glucose and meal pattern in free-feeding rats: The role of glucose in meal initiation. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 14(6), 605–616. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0361-9230(85)90110-8</u>
- Campfield, L. A., Smith, F. J., Rosenbaum, M., & Hirsch, J. (1996). Human eating: Evidence for a physiological basis using a modified paradigm. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 20(1), 133–137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0149-7634(95)00043-e</u>
- Cancelliere, N. M., & Ferguson, A. V. (2017). Subfornical organ neurons integrate cardiovascular and metabolic signals. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory*, *Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 312(2), R253–R262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00423.2016</u>
- Caravaggio, F., Iwata, Y., Kim, J., Shah, P., Gerretsen, P., Remington, G., & Graff-Guerrero, A. (2019). What proportion of striatal D2 receptors are occupied by endogenous dopamine at baseline? A meta-analysis with implications for understanding antipsychotic occupancy. *Neuropharmacology*, 163, 107591. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2019.03.034</u>
- Cardinal, R. N., Parkinson, J. A., Hall, J., & Everitt, B. J. (2002). Emotion and motivation: the role of the amygdala, ventral striatum, and prefrontal cortex. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *26*(3), 321–352. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0149-7634(02)00007-6</u>
- Carlezon, W. A., & Chartoff, E. H. (2007). Intracranial self-stimulation (Icss) in rodents to study the neurobiology of motivation. *Nature Protocols*, 2, 2987–2995. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2007.441</u>
- Carlin, J., Hill-Smith, T. E., Lucki, I., & Reyes, T. M. (2013). Reversal of dopamine system dysfunction in response to high-fat diet. *Obesity*, 21(12), 2513–2521. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.20374
- Carr, K. D., Tsimberg, Y., Berman, Y., & Yamamoto, N. (2003). Evidence of increased dopamine receptor signaling in food-restricted rats. *Neuroscience*, *119*(4), 1157–1167. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0306-4522(03)00227-6
- Chen, J., Cheng, M., Wang, L., Zhang, L., Xu, D., Cao, P., Wang, F., Herzog, H., Song, S., & Zhan, C. (2020). A Vagal-NTS Neural Pathway that Stimulates Feeding. *Current Biology*, 30(20), 3986-3998.e5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2020.07.084</u>
- Chen, M., & Whistler, R. L. (1975). Action of 5-thio-d-glucose and its 1-phosphate with hexokinase and phosphoglucomutase. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 169(2), 392– 396. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-9861(75)90180-0</u>
- Chiara, G. D., & Imperato, A. (1988). Drugs abused by humans preferentially increase synaptic dopamine concentrations in the mesolimbic system of freely moving rats. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, 85, 5274–5278.
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2899326%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/article render.fcgi?artid=PMC281732

- Ciliax, B., Heilman, C., Demchyshyn, L., Pristupa, Z., Ince, E., Hersch, S., Niznik, H., & Levey, A. (1995). The dopamine transporter: immunochemical characterization and localization in brain. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 15(3), 1714–1723. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.15-03-01714.1995</u>
- Ciofi, P. (2011). The arcuate nucleus as a circumventricular organ in the mouse. *Neuroscience Letters*, 487(2), 187–190. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2010.10.019</u>
- Claret, M., Smith, M. A., Batterham, R. L., Selman, C., Choudhury, A. I., Fryer, L. G. D., Clements, M., Al-Qassab, H., Heffron, H., Xu, A. W., Speakman, J. R., Barsh, G. S., Viollet, B., Vaulont, S., Ashford, M. L. J., Carling, D., & Withers, D. J. (2007). AMPK is essential for energy homeostasis regulation and glucose sensing by POMC and AgRP neurons. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *117*(8), 2325–2336. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci31516
- Cleland, G. G., & Davey, G. C. L. (1983). AUTOSHAPING IN THE RAT: THE EFFECTS OF LOCALIZABLE VISUAL AND AUDITORY SIGNALS FOR FOOD. *Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior*, 40(1), 47–56. https://doi.org/10.1901/jeab.1983.40-47
- Coddington, L. T., & Dudman, J. T. (2018). The timing of action determines reward prediction signals in identified midbrain dopamine neurons. *Nature Neuroscience*, *21*, 1563–1573. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0245-7</u>
- Comoli, E., Coizet, V., Boyes, J., Bolam, J. P., Canteras, N. S., Quirk, R. H., Overton, P. G., & Redgrave, P. (2003). A direct projection from superior colliculus to substantia nigra for detecting salient visual events. *Nature Neuroscience*, 6(9), 974–980. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1113</u>
- Cone, J. J., Chartoff, E. H., Potter, D. N., Ebner, S. R., & Roitman, M. F. (2013). Prolonged High Fat Diet Reduces Dopamine Reuptake without Altering DAT Gene Expression. *PLoS ONE*, 8(3), e58251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0058251</u>
- Cone, J. J., Fortin, S. M., McHenry, J. A., Stuber, G. D., McCutcheon, J. E., & Roitman, M. F. (2016). Physiological state gates acquisition and expression of mesolimbic reward prediction signals. *PNAS*, 113, 1943–1948. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1519643113</u>
- Cone, J. J., McCutcheon, J. E., & Roitman, M. F. (2014). Ghrelin Acts as an Interface between Physiological State and Phasic Dopamine Signaling. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 34, 4905– 4913. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.4404-13.2014</u>
- Cone, J. J., Roitman, J. D., & Roitman, M. F. (2015). Ghrelin regulates phasic dopamine and nucleus accumbens signaling evoked by food-predictive stimuli. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 133, 844–856. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13080</u>

- Cone, R., Cowley, M., Butler, A., Fan, W., Marks, D., & Low, M. (2001). The arcuate nucleus as a conduit for diverse signals relevant to energy homeostasis. *International Journal of Obesity*, 25(Suppl 5), S63–S67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0801913</u>
- Contreras, R. J. (1977). Changes in gustatory nerve discharges with sodium deficiency: a single unit analysis. *Brain Research*, *121*(2), 373–378. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(77)90162-7</u>
- Contreras, R. J., & Frank, M. (1979). Sodium deprivation alters neural responses to gustatory stimuli. *The Journal of General Physiology*, 73(5), 569–594. <u>https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.73.5.569</u>
- Conway, S. M., Puttick, D., Russell, S., Potter, D., Roitman, M. F., & Chartoff, E. H. (2019). Females are less sensitive than males to the motivational- and dopamine-suppressing effects of kappa opioid receptor activation. *Neuropharmacology*, *146*, 231–241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2018.12.002</u>
- Corbett, D., & Wise, R. A. (1980). Intracranial self-stimulation in relation to the ascending dopaminergic systems of the midbrain: A moveable electrode mapping study. *Brain Research*, 185, 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(80)90666-6</u>
- Corbit, L. H., Janak, P. H., & Balleine, B. W. (2007). General and outcome-specific forms of Pavlovian-instrumental transfer: the effect of shifts in motivational state and inactivation of the ventral tegmental area. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(11), 3141–3149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05934.x</u>
- Cork, S. C., Richards, J. E., Holt, M. K., Gribble, F. M., Reimann, F., & Trapp, S. (2015). Distribution and characterisation of Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor expressing cells in the mouse brain. *Molecular Metabolism*, 4, 718–731. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2015.07.008</u>
- Cornwall, J., Cooper, J. D., & Phillipson, O. T. (1990). Afferent and efferent connections of the laterodorsal tegmental nucleus in the rat. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 25, 271–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/0361-9230(90)90072-8
- Craig, W. (1917). Appetites and Aversions as Constituents of Instincts. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *3*(12), 685–688. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.3.12.685</u>
- Crow, T. J. (1972). Catecholamine-containing neurones and electrical self-stimulation: 1. a review of some data1. *Psychological Medicine*, 2(4), 414–421. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291700045232
- Cummings, J. A., Jagannathan, L., Jackson, L. R., & Becker, J. B. (2014). Sex differences in the effects of estradiol in the nucleus accumbens and striatum on the response to cocaine:

Neurochemistry and behavior. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *135*, 22–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.09.009</u>

- D'Alessio, D. A., Vogel, R., Prigeon, R., Laschansky, E., Koerker, D., Eng, J., & Ensinck, J. W. (1996). Elimination of the action of glucagon-like peptide 1 causes an impairment of glucose tolerance after nutrient ingestion by healthy baboons. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 97(1), 133–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1172/jci118380</u>
- Dallaporta, M., Himmi, T., Perrin, J., & Orsini, J.-C. (1999). Solitary tract nucleus sensitivity to moderate changes in glucose level. *NeuroReport*, 10(12), 2657–2660. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-199908200-00040</u>
- Damonte, V. M., Pomrenze, M. B., Manning, C. E., Casper, C., Wolfden, A. L., Malenka, R. C., & Kauer, J. A. (2022). Somatodendritic release of cholecystokinin potentiates GABAergic synapses onto ventral tegmental area dopamine cells. *Biological Psychiatry*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2022.06.011</u>
- Darling, R. A., & Ritter, S. (2009). 2-Deoxy-d-glucose, but not mercaptoacetate, increases food intake in decerebrate rats. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 297(2), R382–R386. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.90827.2008</u>
- Davidson, T. L., Tracy, A. L., Schier, L. A., & Swithers, S. E. (2014). A View of Obesity as a Learning and Memory Disorder. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Animal Learning and Cognition*, 40(3), 261–279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/xan0000029</u>
- Davis, J. D., & Smith, G. P. (1990). Learning to sham feed: behavioral adjustments to loss of physiological postingestional stimuli. *American Journal of Physiology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.1990.259.6.r1228</u>
- Day, D. E., & Bartness, T. J. (2003). Fasting-induced increases in food hoarding are dependent on the foraging-effort level. *Physiology & Behavior*, 78(4–5), 655–668. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0031-9384(03)00052-0</u>
- Day, J. J., Roitman, M. F., Wightman, R. M., & Carelli, R. M. (2007). Associative learning mediates dynamic shifts in dopamine signaling in the nucleus accumbens. *Nature Neuroscience*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1923</u>
- Debons, A., Krimsky, I., & From, A. (1970). A direct action of insulin on the hypothalamic satiety center. American Journal of Physiology-Legacy Content, 219(4), 938–943. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplegacy.1970.219.4.938</u>
- Decot, H. K., Namboodiri, V. M. K., Gao, W., McHenry, J. A., Jennings, J. H., Lee, S.-H., Kantak, P. A., Kao, Y.-C. J., Das, M., Witten, I. B., Deisseroth, K., Shih, Y.-Y. I., & Stuber, G. D. (2017). Coordination of Brain-Wide Activity Dynamics by Dopaminergic Neurons. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 42(3), 615–627. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2016.151</u>

- Dickson, S. L., Shirazi, R. H., Hansson, C., Bergquist, F., Nissbrandt, H., & Skibicka, K. P. (2012). The Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 (GLP-1) Analogue, Exendin-4, Decreases the Rewarding Value of Food: A New Role for Mesolimbic GLP-1 Receptors. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 32, 4812–4820. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.6326-11.2012</u>
- DiRocco, R. J., & Grill, H. J. (1979). The Forebrain Is Not Essential for Sympathoadrenal Hyperglycemic Response to Glucoprivation. *Science*, 204(4397), 1112–1114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.451558</u>
- Distler, M., Schlachetzki, J. C., Kohl, Z., Winkler, J., & Schenk, T. (2016). Paradoxical kinesia in Parkinson's disease revisited: Anticipation of temporal constraints is critical. *Neuropsychologia*, 86, 38–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.04.012</u>
- Domesick, V. B. (1988). Neuroanatomical Organization of Dopamine Neurons in the Ventral Tegmental Areaa. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *537*(1), 10–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1988.tb42094.x
- Donahey, J. C. K., Dijk, G. van, Woods, S. C., & Seeley, R. J. (1998). Intraventricular GLP-1 reduces short- but not long-term food intake or body weight in lean and obese rats. *Brain Research*, 779(1–2), 75–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-8993(97)01057-3</u>
- Dong, Y., Cooper, D., Nasif, F., Hu, X.-T., & White, F. J. (2004). Dopamine Modulates Inwardly Rectifying Potassium Currents in Medial Prefrontal Cortex Pyramidal Neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(12), 3077–3085. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.4715-03.2004</u>
- Donovan, C. M., & Watts, A. G. (2014). Peripheral and central glucose sensing in hypoglycemic detection. *Physiology*, 29, 314–324. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/physiol.00069.2013</u>
- Dossat, A. M., Diaz, R., Gallo, L., Panagos, A., Kay, K., & Williams, D. L. (2013). Nucleus accumbens GLP-1 receptors influence meal size and palatability. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 304(12), E1314–E1320. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00137.2013</u>
- Dossat, A. M., Lilly, N., Kay, K., & Williams, D. L. (2011). Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 Receptors in Nucleus Accumbens Affect Food Intake. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 31, 14453–14457. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.3262-11.2011
- Dou, J.-T., Chen, M., Dufour, F., Alkon, D. L., & Zhao, W.-Q. (2005). Insulin receptor signaling in long-term memory consolidation following spatial learning. *Learning & Memory*, 12(6), 646–655. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/lm.88005</u>
- Dreyer, J. K., Herrik, K. F., Berg, R. W., & Hounsgaard, J. D. (2010). Influence of Phasic and Tonic Dopamine Release on Receptor Activation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(42), 14273– 14283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.1894-10.2010</u>

- Dube, M. G., Kalra, S. P., & Kalra, P. S. (1999). Food intake elicited by central administration of orexins/hypocretins: identification of hypothalamic sites of action1This study was presented in part at the 28th Annual Meeting of the Society for Neuroscience, Los Angeles, CA, in November 1998.1. *Brain Research*, 842(2), 473–477. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-8993(99)01824-7</u>
- Dunn-Meynell, A. A., Sanders, N. M., Compton, D., Becker, T. C., Eiki, J.-I., Zhang, B. B., & Levin, B. E. (2009). Relationship among brain and blood glucose levels and spontaneous and glucoprivic feeding. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 29, 7015–7022. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.0334-09.2009</u>
- Egecioglu, E., Engel, J. A., & Jerlhag, E. (2013). The Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 Analogue Exendin-4 Attenuates the Nicotine-Induced Locomotor Stimulation, Accumbal Dopamine Release, Conditioned Place Preference as well as the Expression of Locomotor Sensitization in Mice. *Plos One*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0077284</u>
- Egecioglu, E., Engel, J. A., & Jerlhag, E. (2013). The Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 Analogue, Exendin-4, Attenuates the Rewarding Properties of Psychostimulant Drugs in Mice. *PLoS ONE*, 8(7), e69010. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0069010</u>
- Egecioglu, E., Steensland, P., Fredriksson, I., Feltmann, K., Engel, J. A., & Jerlhag, E. (2013). The glucagon-like peptide 1 analogue Exendin-4 attenuates alcohol mediated behaviors in rodents. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *38*, 1259–1270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.11.009
- Elmquist, J. K., Ahima, R. S., Maratos-Flier, E., Flier, J. S., & Saper, C. B. (1997). Leptin Activates Neurons in Ventrobasal Hypothalamus and Brainstem. *Endocrinology*, 138(2), 839–842. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.138.2.5033</u>
- Engelhard, B., Finkelstein, J., Cox, J., Fleming, W., Jang, H. J., Ornelas, S., Koay, S. A., Thiberge, S. Y., Daw, N. D., Tank, D. W., & Witten, I. B. (2019). Specialized coding of sensory, motor and cognitive variables in VTA dopamine neurons. *Nature*, 570(7762), 509– 513. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1261-9</u>
- Erreger, K., Davis, A. R., Poe, A. M., Greig, N. H., Stanwood, G. D., & Galli, A. (2012). Exendin-4 decreases amphetamine-induced locomotor activity. *Physiology & Behavior*, 106(4), 574–578. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2012.03.014</u>
- Fahn, S. (2008). The history of dopamine and levodopa in the treatment of Parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders*, 23(S3), S497–S508. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.22028</u>
- Fenselau, H., Campbell, J. N., Verstegen, A. M. J., Madara, J. C., Xu, J., Shah, B. P., Resch, J. M., Yang, Z., Mandelblat-Cerf, Y., Livneh, Y., & Lowell, B. B. (2017). A rapidly acting glutamatergic ARC→PVH satiety circuit postsynaptically regulated by α-MSH. *Nature Neuroscience*, 20(1), 42–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4442</u>

- Fernandez, A. M., & Torres-Alemán, I. (2012). The many faces of insulin-like peptide signalling in the brain. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *13*(4), 225–239. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3209</u>
- Ferrario, C. R., Labouèbe, G., Liu, S., Nieh, E. H., Routh, V. H., Xu, S., & O'Connor, E. C. (2016). Homeostasis Meets Motivation in the Battle to Control Food Intake. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *36*, 11469–11481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.2338-16.2016</u>
- Fibiger, H. C. (1978). Drugs and Reinforcement Mechanisms: A Critical Review of the Catecholamine Theory. Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology, 18(1), 37–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pa.18.040178.000345</u>
- Figlewicz, D. P., Evans, S. B., Murphy, J., Hoen, M., & Baskin, D. G. (2003). Expression of receptors for insulin and leptin in the ventral tegmental area/substantia nigra (VTA/SN) of the rat. *Brain Research*, 964(1), 107–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-8993(02)04087-8</u>
- Finan, B., Clemmensen, C., & Müller, T. D. (2015). Emerging opportunities for the treatment of metabolic diseases: Glucagon-like peptide-1 based multi-agonists. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 418, 42–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2015.07.003</u>
- Fiorillo, C. D., Tobler, P. N., & Schultz, W. (2003). Discrete Coding of Reward Dopamine Neurons. Science Reports, 299, 1898–1902. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1077349</u>
- Fischbach-Weiss, S., Reese, R. M., & Janak, P. H. (2018). Inhibiting Mesolimbic Dopamine Neurons Reduces the Initiation and Maintenance of Instrumental Responding. *Neuroscience*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017.12.003</u>
- Florant, G. L., Singer, L., Scheurink, A. J. W., Park, C. R., Richardson, R. D., & Woods, S. C. (1991). Intraventricular insulin reduces food intake and body weight of marmots during the summer feeding period. *Physiology & Behavior*, 49(2), 335–338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(91)90053-q</u>
- Flynn, F. W., & Grill, H. J. (1983). Insulin Elicits Ingestion in Decerebrate Rats. Science, 221(4606), 188–190. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.6344221</u>
- Fortin, S. M., Chartoff, E. H., & Roitman, M. F. (2016). The Aversive Agent Lithium Chloride Suppresses Phasic Dopamine Release Through Central GLP-1 Receptors. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 41(3), 906–915. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.220</u>
- Fortin, S. M., & Roitman, M. F. (2017). Central GLP-1 receptor activation modulates cocaineevoked phasic dopamine signaling in the nucleus accumbens core. *Physiology and Behavior*, 176, 17–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.03.019</u>
- Fortin, S. M., & Roitman, M. F. (2018). Challenges to body fluid homeostasis differentially recruit phasic dopamine signaling in a taste-selective manner. *The Journal of Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.0399-18.2018

- Freeman, F. N., & Sherrington, S. (2006). The Integrative Action of the Nervous System. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2010953</u>
- Friedman, J. (2016). The long road to leptin. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *126*, 4727–4734. <u>https://doi.org/10.1172/jci91578</u>
- Friedman, M. (2008). Appetite and Food Intake. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420047844.ch1
- Fujioka, K. (2015). Current and emerging medications for overweight or obesity in people with comorbidities. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.12502</u>
- Ganchrow, J. R., & Erickson, R. P. (1970). Neural correlates of gustatory intensity and quality. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *33*(6), 768–783. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1970.33.6.768</u>
- Ganong, W. F. (2000). Circumventricular Organs: Definition And Role In The Regulation Of Endocrine And Autonomic Function. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology*, 27(5-6), 422–427. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1681.2000.03259.x</u>
- Garcia-Luna, C., Sanchez-Watts, G., Arnold, M., Lartigue, G. de, DeWalt, N., Langhans, W., & Watts, A. G. (2021). The Medullary Targets of Neurally Conveyed Sensory Information from the Rat Hepatic Portal and Superior Mesenteric Veins. *ENeuro*, 8(1), ENEURO.0419-20.2021. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/eneuro.0419-20.2021</u>
- Garris, P., Ciolkowski, E., Pastore, P., & Wightman, R. (1994). Efflux of dopamine from the synaptic cleft in the nucleus accumbens of the rat brain. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *14*(10), 6084–6093. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.14-10-06084.1994</u>
- Geary, N., & Smith, G. P. (1985). Pimozide decreases the positive reinforcing effect of sham fed sucrose in the rat. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 22(5), 787–790. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0091-3057(85)90528-3</u>
- Geisler, S., Derst, C., Veh, R. W., & Zahm, D. S. (2007). Glutamatergic Afferents of the Ventral Tegmental Area in the Rat. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27(21), 5730–5743. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.0012-07.2007
- Geisler, S., & Zahm, D. S. (2005). Afferents of the ventral tegmental area in the rat-anatomical substratum for integrative functions. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 490(3), 270–294. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.20668</u>
- Gentet, L. J., & Williams, S. R. (2007). Dopamine gates action potential backpropagation in midbrain dopaminergic neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 27, 1892–1901. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.5234-06.2007</u>
- Gerfen, C. R. (1992). The neostriatal mosaic: multiple levels of compartmental organization. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 15(4), 133–139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(92)90355-c</u>

- Gerfen, C. R., Engber, T. M., Mahan, L. C., Susel, Z., Chase, T. N., Jr., F. J. M., & Sibley, D. R. (1990). D1 and D2 Dopamine Receptor-regulated Gene Expression of Striatonigral and Striatopallidal Neurons. *Science*, 250(4986), 1429–1432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2147780</u>
- Gerfen, C. R., & Surmeier, D. J. (2011). Modulation of Striatal Projection Systems by Dopamine. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 34(1), 441–466. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-061010-113641</u>
- Giza, B. K., & Scott, T. R. (1983). Blood glucose selectively affects taste-evoked activity in rat nucleus tractus solitarius. *Physiology & Behavior*, *31*(5), 643–650.
- Giza, B. K., & Scott, T. R. (1987). Intravenous insulin infusions in rats decrease gustatoryevoked responses to sugars. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 252(5), R994–R1002. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.1987.252.5.r994</u>
- Glenn, J. F., & Erickson, R. P. (1976). Gastric modulation of gustatory afferent activity. *Physiology & Behavior*, *16*(5), 561–568. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(76)90216-x</u>
- Goforth, P. B., Leinninger, G. M., Patterson, C. M., Satin, L. S., & Myers, M. G. (2014). Leptin Acts via Lateral Hypothalamic Area Neurotensin Neurons to Inhibit Orexin Neurons by Multiple GABA-Independent Mechanisms. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(34), 11405– 11415. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.5167-13.2014</u>
- Gonzalez, M. F., & Deutsch, J. A. (1981). Vagotomy Abolishes Cues of Satiety Produced by Gastric Distension. *Science*, 212(4500), 1283–1284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7233218</u>
- Gonzalez-Lima, F., & Scheich, H. (1984). Functional activation in the auditory system of the rat produced by arousing reticular stimulation: a 2-deoxyglucose study. *Brain Research*, 299(2), 201–214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(84)90702-9</u>
- Gonzalez-Lima, F., & Scheich, H. (1984). Neural substrates for tone-conditioned bradycardia demonstrated with 2-deoxyglucose. I. Activation of auditory nuclei. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 14(3), 213–233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-4328(84)90190-6</u>
- Gorelova, N. A., & Yang, C. R. (2000). Dopamine D1/D5 Receptor Activation Modulates a Persistent Sodium Current in Rat Prefrontal Cortical Neurons In Vitro. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 84(1), 75–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.2000.84.1.75</u>
- Graaf, C. de, Donnelly, D., Wootten, D., Lau, J., Sexton, P. M., Miller, L. J., Ahn, J.-M., Liao, J., Fletcher, M. M., Yang, D., Brown, A. J. H., Zhou, C., Deng, J., & Wang, M.-W. (2016). Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 and Its Class B G Protein–Coupled Receptors: A Long March to Therapeutic Successes. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 68(4), 954–1013. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.115.011395</u>

- Griffond, B., & Risold, P. Y. (2009). MCH and feeding behavior-interaction with peptidic network. *Peptides*, *30*(11), 2045–2051. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2009.07.008</u>
- Grill, H. J., & Hayes, M. R. (2012). Hindbrain neurons as an essential hub in the neuroanatomically distributed control of energy balance. *Cell Metabolism*, 16, 296–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2012.06.015
- Grill, H., & Norgren, R. (1978). Chronically Decerebrate Rats Demonstrate Satiation But Not Bait Shyness. *Science*, 201(4352), 267–269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.663655</u>
- Grill, H., & Norgren, R. (1978). The taste reactivity test. II. Mimetic responses to gustatory stimuli in chronic thalamic and chronic decerebrate rats. *Brain Research*, *143*, 281–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(78)90569-3
- Grill, H., & Norgren, R. (1978). The taste reactivity test. I. Mimetic responses to gustatory stimuli in neurologically normal rats. *Brain Research*, *143*, 263–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(78)90568-1
- Groenewegen, H. J., Wright, C. I., Beijer, A. V. J., & Voorn, P. (1999). Convergence and Segregation of Ventral Striatal Inputs and Outputs. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 877(1), 49–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1999.tb09260.x</u>
- Gromada, J., Brock, B., Schmitz, O., & Rorsman, P. (2004). Glucagon-Like Peptide-1: Regulation of Insulin Secretion and Therapeutic Potential. *Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology*, 95(6), 252–262. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-7843.2004.t01-1-pto950502.x
- Gromada, J., Holst, J. J., & Rorsman, P. (1998). Cellular regulation of islet hormone secretion by the incretin hormone glucagon-like peptide 1. *Pflügers Archiv*, 435(5), 583–594. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s004240050558</u>
- Gromada, J., Rorsman, P., Dissing, S., & Wulff, B. S. (1995). Stimulation of cloned human glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor expressed in HEK 293 cells induces cAMP-dependent activation of calcium-induced calcium release. *FEBS Letters*, 373(2), 182–186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(95)01070-u</u>
- Gropp, E., Shanabrough, M., Borok, E., Xu, A. W., Janoschek, R., Buch, T., Plum, L., Balthasar, N., Hampel, B., Waisman, A., Barsh, G. S., Horvath, T. L., & Brüning, J. C. (2005). Agoutirelated peptide–expressing neurons are mandatory for feeding. *Nature Neuroscience*, 8(10), 1289–1291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1548</u>
- Grossman, S. P., Dacey, D., Halaris, A. E., Collier, T., & Routtenberg, A. (1978). Aphagia and Adipsia After Preferential Destruction of Nerve Cell Bodies in Hypothalamus. *Science*, 202(4367), 537–539. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.705344</u>

- Grossman, S. P., & Grossman, L. (1982). Iontophoretic injections of kainic acid into the rat lateral hypothalamus: Effects on ingestive behavior. *Physiology & Behavior*, 29(3), 553–559. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(82)90281-5
- Hajnal, A., Smith, G. P., & Norgren, R. (2004). Oral sucrose stimulation increases accumbens dopamine in the rat. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 286(1), R31–R37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00282.2003</u>
- Halbout, B., Marshall, A. T., Azimi, A., Liljeholm, M., Mahler, S. V., Wassum, K. M., & Ostlund, S. B. (2019). Mesolimbic dopamine projections mediate cue-motivated reward seeking but not reward retrieval in rats. *ELife*, 8, e43551. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/elife.43551</u>
- Halford, J. C. G., Gillespie, J., Brown, V., Pontin, E. E., & Dovey, T. M. (2004). Effect of television advertisements for foods on food consumption in children. *Appetite*, 42, 221–225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2003.11.006</u>
- Hamid, A. A., Pettibone, J. R., Mabrouk, O. S., Hetrick, V. L., Schmidt, R., Weele, C. M. V., Kennedy, R. T., Aragona, B. J., & Berke, J. D. (2015). Mesolimbic dopamine signals the value of work. *Nature Neuroscience*, 19(1), 117–126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4173</u>
- Hamill, S., Trevitt, J. T., Nowend, K. L., Carlson, B. B., & Salamone, J. D. (1999). Nucleus accumbens dopamine depletions and time-constrained progressive ratio performance: Effects of different ratio requirements. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 64, 21–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0091-3057(99)00092-1</u>
- Han, S.-M., Namkoong, C., Jang, P. G., Park, I. S., Hong, S. W., Katakami, H., Chun, S., Kim, S. W., Park, J.-Y., Lee, K.-U., & Kim, M.-S. (2005). Hypothalamic AMP-activated protein kinase mediates counter-regulatory responses to hypoglycaemia in rats. *Diabetologia*, 48(10), 2170–2178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-005-1913-1</u>
- Han, V. K. M., Hynes, M. A., Jin, C., Towle, A. C., Lauder, J. M., & Lund, P. K. (1986). Cellular localization of proglucagon/glucagon-like peptide I messenger RNAs in rat brain. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 16(1), 97–107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.490160110</u>
- Han, W., Tellez, L. A., Perkins, M. H., Perez, I. O., Qu, T., Ferreira, J., Ferreira, T. L., Quinn, D., Liu, Z.-W., Gao, X.-B., Kaelberer, M. M., Bohórquez, D. V., Shammah-Lagnado, S. J., Lartigue, G. de, & Araujo, I. E. de. (2018). A Neural Circuit for Gut-Induced Reward. *Cell*, 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.08.049</u>
- Hardie, D. G. (2018). Keeping the home fires burning[†]: AMP-activated protein kinase. *Journal* of The Royal Society Interface, 15(138), 20170774. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2017.0774</u>
- Harris, J. L., Bargh, J. A., & Brownell, K. D. (2009). Priming effects of television food advertising on eating behavior. *Health Psychology*, 28, 404–413. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014399</u>

- Harris, J. L., Pomeranz, J. L., Lobstein, T., & Brownell, K. D. (2009). A crisis in the marketplace: how food marketing contributes to childhood obesity and what can be done. *Annu. Rev. Public Health*, 30, 211–225. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.031308.100304
- Hatfield, J. S., Millard, W. J., & Smith, C. J. V. (1974). Short-term influence of intraventromedial hypothalamic administration of insulin on feeding in normal and diabetic rats. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 2(2), 223–226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0091-3057(74)90056-2</u>
- Havrankova, J., Brownstein, M., & Roth, J. (1981). Insulin and insulin receptors in rodent brain. *Diabetologia*, 20(Suppl 1), 268–273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00254492</u>
- Hayes, M. R., Bradley, L., & Grill, H. J. (2009). Endogenous hindbrain glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor activation contributes to the control of food intake by mediating gastric satiation signaling. *Endocrinology*, 150, 2654–2659. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2008-1479</u>
- Hayes, M. R., Leichner, T. M., Zhao, S., Lee, G. S., Chowansky, A., Zimmer, D., Jonghe, B. C. D., Kanoski, S. E., Grill, H. J., & Bence, K. K. (2011). Intracellular signals mediating the food intake-suppressive effects of hindbrain glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor activation. *Cell Metabolism*, 13, 320–330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2011.02.001</u>
- Hayes, M. R., Skibicka, K. P., Bence, K. K., & Grill, H. J. (2009). Dorsal hindbrain 5-adenosine monophosphate- activated protein kinase as an intracellular mediator of energy balance. *Endocrinology*, 150, 2175–2182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2008-1319</u>
- Hellekant, G. (1971). The Effect of Stomach Distension on the Efferent Activity in the Chorda Tympani Nerve of the Rat. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica*, *83*(4), 527–531. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-1716.1971.tb05110.x</u>
- Heppner, K. M., Kirigiti, M., Secher, A., Paulsen, S. J., Buckingham, R., Pyke, C., Knudsen, L. B., Vrang, N., & Grove, K. L. (2015). Expression and distribution of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor mRNA, protein and binding in the male nonhuman primate (Macaca mulatta) brain. *Neuroendocrinology*, 156, 255–267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2014-1675</u>
- Hernandez, N. S., Ige, K. Y., Mietlicki-Baase, E. G., Molina-Castro, G. C., Turner, C. A., Hayes, M. R., & Schmidt, H. D. (2018). Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor activation in the ventral tegmental area attenuates cocaine seeking in rats. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 43, 2000–2008. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-018-0010-3
- Herrmann, C., Göke, R., Richter, G., Fehmann, H.-C., Arnold, R., & Göke, B. (1995). Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 and Glucose-Dependent Insulin-Releasing Polypeptide Plasma Levels in Response to Nutrients. *Digestion*, 56(2), 117–126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000201231</u>

- Hoffmann, J. du, & Nicola, S. M. (2014). Dopamine Invigorates Reward Seeking by Promoting Cue-Evoked Excitation in the Nucleus Accumbens. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 34, 14349– 14364. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.3492-14.2014</u>
- Holst, J. J. (2007). The Physiology of Glucagon-like Peptide 1. *Physiological Reviews*, 87(4), 1409–1439. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00034.2006</u>
- Holt, M. K., & Rinaman, L. (2022). The role of nucleus of the solitary tract glucagon-like peptide-1 and prolactin-releasing peptide neurons in stress: anatomy, physiology and cellular interactions. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 179(4), 642–658. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.15576</u>
- Hopf, F. W., Cascini, M. G., Gordon, A. S., Diamond, I., & Bonci, A. (2003). Cooperative Activation of Dopamine D 1 and D 2 Receptors Increases Spike Firing of Nucleus Accumbens Neurons via G-Protein βγ Subunits. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(12), 5079– 5087. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.23-12-05079.2003</u>
- Horton, R. W., Meldrum, B. S., & Bachelard, H. S. (1973). ENZYMIC AND CEREBRAL METABOLIC EFFECTS OF 2-DEOXY-d-GLUCOSE. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 21(3), 507–520. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.1973.tb05996.x</u>
- Howe, M. W., Tierney, P. L., Sandberg, S. G., Phillips, P. E. M., & Graybiel, A. M. (2013). Prolonged dopamine signalling in striatum signals proximity and value of distant rewards. *Nature*, 500, 575–579. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12475</u>
- Hsu, T. M., Bazzino, P., Hurh, S. J., Konanur, V. R., Roitman, J. D., & Roitman, M. F. (2020). Thirst recruits phasic dopamine signaling through subfornical organ neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *117*(48), 30744–30754. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2009233117</u>
- Hsu, T. M., Hahn, J. D., Konanur, V. R., Lam, A., & Kanoski, S. E. (2015). Hippocampal GLP-1 receptors influence food intake, meal size, and effort-based responding for food through volume transmission. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 40, 327–337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.175</u>
- Hsu, T. M., Hahn, J. D., Konanur, V. R., Noble, E. E., Suare, A. N., Thai, J., Nakamoto, E. M., & Kanoski, S. E. (2015). Hippocampus ghrelin signaling mediates appetite through lateral hypothalamic orexin pathways. *ELife*, 4, 1–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/elife.11190.001</u>
- Hsu, T. M., McCutcheon, J. E., & Roitman, M. F. (2018). Parallels and Overlap: The Integration of Homeostatic Signals by Mesolimbic Dopamine Neurons. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00410</u>
- Hsu, T. M., Noble, E. E., Liu, C. M., Cortella, A. M., Konanur, V. R., Suarez, A. N., Reiner, D. J., Hahn, J. D., Hayes, M. R., & Kanoski, S. E. (2018). A hippocampus to prefrontal cortex

neural pathway inhibits food motivation through glucagon-like peptide-1 signaling. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 23(7), 1555–1565. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2017.91</u>

- Hsu, T. M., Noble, E. E., Reiner, D. J., Liu, C. M., Suare, A. N., Konanur, V. R., Hayes, M. R., & Kanoski, S. E. (2018). Hippocampus ghrelin receptor signaling promotes socially-mediated learned food preference. *Neuropharmacology*, 131, 487–496. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017.11.039
- Huang, K.-P., & Raybould, H. E. (2020). Estrogen and Gut Satiety Hormones in Vagus-Hindbrain Axis. *Peptides*, 133, 170389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2020.170389</u>
- Huang, M., Li, D., Cheng, X., Pei, Q., Xie, Z., Gu, H., Zhang, X., Chen, Z., Liu, A., Wang, Y., Sun, F., Li, Y., Zhang, J., He, M., Xie, Y., Zhang, F., Qi, X., Shang, C., & Cao, P. (2021). The tectonigral pathway regulates appetitive locomotion in predatory hunting in mice. *Nature Communications*, *12*(1), 4409. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-24696-3</u>
- Ikemoto, S. (2007). Dopamine reward circuitry: Two projection systems from the ventral midbrain to the nucleus accumbens-olfactory tubercle complex. *Brain Research Reviews*, 56, 27–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2007.05.004</u>
- Ikemoto, S., Glazier, B. S., Murphy, J. M., & McBride, W. J. (1997). Role of Dopamine D1 and D2 Receptors in the Nucleus Accumbens in Mediating Reward. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 17(21), 8580–8587. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.17-21-08580.1997</u>
- Izumi, Y., Benz, A. M., Zorumski, C. F., & Olney, J. W. (1994). Effects of lactate and pyruvate on glucose deprivation in rat hippocampal slices. *NeuroReport*, 5(5), 617–620. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-199401000-00021</u>
- Jennings, J. H., Rizzi, G., Stamatakis, A. M., Ung, R. L., & Stuber, G. D. (2013). The inhibitory circuit architecture of the lateral hypothalamus orchestrates feeding. *Science Reports*, 341, 1517–1521. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1241812</u>
- Jennings, J. H., Ung, R. L., Resendez, S. L., Stamatakis, A. M., Taylor, J. G., Huang, J., Veleta, K., Kantak, P. A., Aita, M., Shilling-Scrivo, K., Ramakrishnan, C., Deisseroth, K., Otte, S., & Stuber, G. D. (2015). Visualizing Hypothalamic Network Dynamics for Appetitive and Consummatory Behaviors. *Cell*, 160(3), 516–527. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.12.026
- Jerlhag, E. (2020). Alcohol-mediated behaviours and the gut-brain axis; with focus on glucagonlike peptide-1. *Brain Research*, 1727, 146562. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2019.146562</u>
- Jin, S. L., Han, V. K., Simmons, J. G., Towle, A. C., Lauder, J. M., & Lund, P. K. (1988). Distribution of glucagonlike peptide I (GLP-I), glucagon, and glicentin in the rat brain: an immunocytochemical study. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 271, 519–532. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902710405</u>

- Johnson, A. W. (2013). Eating beyond metabolic need: How environmental cues influence feeding behavior. *Cell*, *36*, 101–109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2013.01.002</u>
- Jong, J. W. de, Afjei, S. A., Dorocic, I. P., Peck, J. R., Liu, C., Kim, C. K., Tian, L., Deisseroth, K., & Lammel, S. (2018). A Neural Circuit Mechanism for Encoding Aversive Stimuli in the Mesolimbic Dopamine System. *Neuron*, 133–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2018.11.005
- Jonghe, B. C. D., Holland, R. A., Olivos, D. R., Rupprecht, L. E., Kanoski, S. E., & Hayes, M. R. (2016). Hindbrain GLP-1 receptor mediation of cisplatin-induced anorexia and nausea. *Physiology & Behavior*, 153, 109–114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2015.10.031</u>
- Kalra, S. P., Dube, M. G., Sahu, A., Phelps, C. P., & Kalra, P. S. (1991). Neuropeptide Y secretion increases in the paraventricular nucleus in association with increased appetite for food. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 88(23), 10931–10935. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.23.10931</u>
- Kamatchi, G. L., Veeraragavan, K., Chandra, D., & Bapna, J. S. (1986). Antagonism of acute feeding response to 2-deoxyglucose and 5-Thioglucose by GABA antagonists: The relative role of ventromedial and lateral hypothalamus. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 25, 59–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0091-3057(86)90230-3</u>
- Kanoski, S. E., Fortin, S. M., Arnold, M., Grill, H. J., & Hayes, M. R. (2011). Peripheral and central GLP-1 receptor populations mediate the anorectic effects of peripherally administered GLP-1 receptor agonists, liraglutide and exendin-4. *Endocrinology*, 152, 3103–3112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2011-0174</u>
- Kanoski, S. E., Hayes, M. R., & Skibicka, K. P. (2016). GLP-1 and weight loss: unraveling the diverse neural circuitry. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 310, R885–R895. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00520.2015</u>
- Kanoski, S. E., Rupprecht, L. E., Fortin, S. M., Jonghe, B. C. D., & Hayes, M. R. (2012). The role of nausea in food intake and body weight suppression by peripheral GLP-1 receptor agonists, exendin-4 and liraglutide. *Neuropharmacology*, 62(5–6), 1916–1927. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.12.022
- Kaufman, D. M., & Milstein, M. J. (2013). Kaufman's Clinical Neurology for Psychiatrists (Seventh Edition). Section 2: Major Neurologic Symptoms, Neurology782012, 501–525. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-7234-3748-2.00021-9</u>
- Kawai, K., Sugimoto, K., Nakashima, K., Miura, H., & Ninomiya, Y. (2000). Leptin as a modulator of sweet taste sensitivities in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97(20), 11044–11049. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.190066697</u>

- Kelley, A. E., & Berridge, K. C. (2002). The Neuroscience of Natural Rewards: Relevance to Addictive Drugs. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(9), 3306–3311. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.22-09-03306.2002</u>
- Kelley, A. E., Domesick, V. B., & Nauta, W. J. H. (1982). The amygdalostriatal projection in the rat—an anatomical study by anterograde and retrograde tracing methods. *Neuroscience*, 7(3), 615–630. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(82)90067-7</u>
- Kelly, J., & Grossman, S. P. (1979). GABA and hypothalamic feeding systems. II. A comparison of GABA, glycine and actylcholine agonists and their antagonists. *Pharmacology and Biochemistry and Behavior*, 11, 647–652.
- Kelly, J., Rothstein, J., & Grossman, S. P. (1979). GABA and hypothalamic feeding systems. I. Topographic analysis of the effects of microinjections of muscimol. *Physiology & Behavior*, 23(6), 1123–1134. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(79)90306-8</u>
- Kennedy, R. T., Jones, S. R., & Wightman, R. M. (1992). Dynamic Observation of Dopamine Autoreceptor Effects in Rat Striatal Slices. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 59(2), 449–455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.1992.tb09391.x</u>
- Kerr, D., Diamond, M. P., Tamborlane, W. V., Kerr, S., & Sherwin, R. S. (1993). Influence of Counter-Regulatory Hormones, Independently of Hypoglycaemia, on Cognitive Function, Warning Symptoms and Glucose Kinetics. *Clinical Science*, 85(2), 197–202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1042/cs0850197</u>
- Kerr, F. (1962). Facial, Vagal and Glossopharyngeal Nerves in the Cat: Afferent Connections. Archives of Neurology, 6(4), 264–281. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.1962.00450220006003
- Kim, H. F., Ghazizadeh, A., & Hikosaka, O. (2015). Dopamine Neurons Encoding Long-Term Memory of Object Value for Habitual Behavior. *Cell*, 163(5), 1165–1175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.10.063</u>
- Kim, K. M., Baratta, M. V., Yang, A., Lee, D., Boyden, E. S., & Fiorillo, C. D. (2012). Optogenetic Mimicry of the Transient Activation of Dopamine Neurons by Natural Reward Is Sufficient for Operant Reinforcement. *PLoS ONE*, 7(4), e33612. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0033612</u>
- Kinzig, K. P., D'Alessio, D. A., & Seeley, R. J. (2002). The Diverse Roles of Specific GLP-1 Receptors in the Control of Food Intake and the Response to Visceral Illness. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(23), 10470–10476. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.22-23-10470.2002</u>
- Klaus, A., Silva, J. A. da, & Costa, R. M. (2016). What, If, and When to Move: Basal Ganglia Circuits and Self-Paced Action Initiation. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 42(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-072116-031033

- Kleinridders, A., Ferris, H. A., Cai, W., & Kahn, C. R. (2014). Insulin Action in Brain Regulates Systemic Metabolism and Brain Function. *Diabetes*, 63(7), 2232–2243. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/db14-0568</u>
- Knight, Z. A., Tan, K., Birsoy, K., Schmidt, S., Garrison, J. L., Wysocki, R. W., Emiliano, A., Ekstrand, M. I., & Friedman, J. M. (2012). Molecular Profiling of Activated Neurons by Phosphorylated Ribosome Capture. *Cell*, 151(5), 1126–1137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.10.039</u>
- Knop, F. K., Aaboe, K., Vilsbøll, T., Vølund, A., Holst, J. J., Krarup, T., & Madsbad, S. (2012). Impaired incretin effect and fasting hyperglucagonaemia characterizing type 2 diabetic subjects are early signs of dysmetabolism in obesity. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism*, *14*(6), 500–510. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1463-1326.2011.01549.x</u>
- Konanur, V. R., Hsu, T. M., Kanoski, S. E., Hayes, M. R., & Roitman, M. F. (2020). Phasic dopamine responses to a food-predictive cue are suppressed by the glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist Exendin-4. *Physiology & Behavior*, 215, 112771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2019.112771
- Könner, A. C., Klöckener, T., & Brüning, J. C. (2009). Control of energy homeostasis by insulin and leptin: Targeting the arcuate nucleus and beyond. *Physiology & Behavior*, 97(5), 632– 638. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2009.03.027</u>
- Koyama, Y., Jodo, E., & Kayama, Y. (1994). Sensory responsiveness of "Broad-spike" neurons in the laterodorsal tegmental nucleus, locus coeruleus and dorsal raphe of awake rats: Implications for cholinergic and monoaminergic neuron-specific responses. *Neuroscience*, 63(4), 1021–1031. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(94)90569-x</u>
- Krashes, M. J., Koda, S., Ye, C., Rogan, S. C., Adams, A. C., Cusher, D. S., Maratos-Flier, E., Roth, B. L., & Lowell, B. B. (2011). Rapid, reversible activation of AgRP neurons drives feeding behavior in mice. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 121(4), 1424–1428. <u>https://doi.org/10.1172/jci46229</u>
- Krebs, H. (1964). The Croonian Lecture, 1963 Gluconeogenesis. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B. Biological Sciences, 159(977), 545–564. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1964.0019</u>
- Kreisler, A. D., & Rinaman, L. (2016). Hindbrain glucagon-like peptide-1 neurons track intake volume and contribute to injection stress-induced hypophagia in meal-entrained rats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 310, R906–R916. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00243.2015</u>
- Krieger, J. P., Arnold, M., Pettersen, K. G., Lossel, P., Langhans, W., & Lee, S. J. (2016). Knockdown of GLP-1 receptors in vagal afferents affects normal food intake and glycemia. *Diabetes*, 65, 34–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/db15-0973</u>

- Kroemer, N. B., Krebs, L., Kobiella, A., Grimm, O., Pilhatsch, M., Bidlingmaier, M., Zimmermann, U. S., & Smolka, M. N. (2013). Ghrelin and food-cue reactivity. *Addiction Biology*, 18(5), 855–862. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1369-1600.2012.00489.x</u>
- Labouèbe, G., Boutrel, B., Tarussio, D., & Thorens, B. (2016). Glucose-responsive neurons of the paraventricular thalamus control sucrose-seeking behavior. *Nature Neuroscience*, 19, 999–1002. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4331</u>
- Lacroix, M. -C., Badonnel, K., Meunier, N., Tan, F., Poupon, C. S., Durieux, D., Monnerie, R., Baly, C., Congar, P., Salesse, R., & Caillol, M. (2008). Expression of Insulin System in the Olfactory Epithelium: First Approaches to its Role and Regulation. *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*, 20(10), 1176–1190. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2826.2008.01777.x</u>
- Lak, A., Stauffer, W. R., & Schultz, W. (2014). Dopamine prediction error responses integrate subjective value from different reward dimensions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(6), 2343–2348. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1321596111</u>
- Lak, A., Stauffer, W. R., & Schultz, W. (2016). Dopamine neurons learn relative chosen value from probabilistic rewards. *ELife*, *5*, 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/elife.18044</u>
- Lammel, S., Lim, B. K., Ran, C., Huang, K. W., Betley, M. J., Tye, K. M., Deisseroth, K., & Malenka, R. C. (2012). Input-specific control of reward and aversion in the ventral tegmental area. *Nature*, 491, 212–217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11527</u>
- Lammel, S., Steinberg, E. E., Földy, C., Wall, N. R., Beier, K., Luo, L., & Malenka, R. C. (2015). Diversity of Transgenic Mouse Models for Selective Targeting of Midbrain Dopamine Neurons. *Neuron*, 85(2), 429–438. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.12.036</u>
- Lanciego, J. L., Luquin, N., & Obeso, J. A. (2012). Functional Neuroanatomy of the Basal Ganglia. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine, 2(12), a009621. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a009621</u>
- Laque, A., Zhang, Y., Gettys, S., Nguyen, T.-A., Bui, K., Morrison, C. D., & Münzberg, H. (2013). Leptin receptor neurons in the mouse hypothalamus are colocalized with the neuropeptide galanin and mediate anorexigenic leptin action. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 304(9), E999–E1011. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00643.2012</u>
- Lecea, L. de. (2012). Chapter 3 Hypocretins and the neurobiology of sleep–wake mechanisms. *Progress in Brain Research*, 198, 15–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-444-59489-1.00003-3</u>
- Leibowitz, S. F., Hammer, N. J., & Chang, K. (1981). Hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus lesions produce overeating and obesity in the rat. *Physiology & Behavior*, 27(6), 1031–1040. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(81)90366-8

- Leinninger, G. M., Jo, Y. H., Leshan, R. L., Louis, G. W., Yang, H., Barrera, J. G., Wilson, H., Opland, D. M., Faouzi, M. A., Gong, Y., Jones, J. C., Rhodes, C. J., Chua, S., Diano, S., Horvath, T. L., Seeley, R. J., Becker, J. B., Münzberg, H., & Myers, M. G. (2009). Leptin Acts via Leptin Receptor-Expressing Lateral Hypothalamic Neurons to Modulate the Mesolimbic Dopamine System and Suppress Feeding. *Cell Metabolism*, *10*, 89–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2009.06.011</u>
- Lerner, T. N., Shilyansky, C., Davidson, T. J., Evans, K. E., Beier, K. T., Zalocusky, K. A., Crow, A. K., Malenka, R. C., Luo, L., Tomer, R., & Deisseroth, K. (2015). Intact-Brain Analyses Reveal Distinct Information Carried by SNc Dopamine Subcircuits. *Cell*, 162, 635– 647. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.07.014</u>
- Levey, A. I., Hersch, S. M., Rye, D. B., Sunahara, R. K., Niznik, H. B., Kitt, C. A., Price, D. L., Maggio, R., Brann, M. R., & Ciliax, B. J. (1993). Localization of D1 and D2 dopamine receptors in brain with subtype-specific antibodies. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 90(19), 8861–8865. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.90.19.8861</u>
- Levin, B. E. (2006). Metabolic sensing neurons and the control of energy homeostasis. *Physiology and Behavior*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2006.07.003</u>
- Levin, B. E., Kang, L., Sanders, N. M., & Dunn-Meynell, A. A. (2006). Role of Neuronal Glucosensing in the Regulation of Energy Homeostasis. *Diabetes*, 55(Supplement_2), S122– S130. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/db06-s016</u>
- Li, A. J., Wang, Q., Dinh, T. T., Powers, B. R., & Ritter, S. (2014). Stimulation of feeding by three different glucose-sensing mechanisms requires hindbrain catecholamine neurons. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol, 306, R257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00451.2013</u>
- Li, B.-H., Xu, B., Rowland, N. E., & Kalra, S. P. (1994). c-fos expression in the rat brain following central administration of neuropeptide Y and effects of food consumption. *Brain Research*, 665(2), 277–284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(94)91348-x</u>
- Liebman, J. M. (1983). Discriminating between reward and performance: A critical review of intracranial self-stimulation methodology. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 7, 45– 72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0149-7634(83)90007-6</u>
- Lin, S.-C., & Hardie, D. G. (2018). AMPK: Sensing Glucose as well as Cellular Energy Status. *Cell Metabolism*, 27(2), 299–313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.10.009</u>
- Lindemann, B. (1996). Taste reception. *Physiological Reviews*, 76(3), 719–766. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.1996.76.3.719
- Lindgren, N., Xu, Z. D., Herrera-Marschitz, M., Haycock, J., Hökfelt, T., & Fisone, G. (2001). Dopamine D2 receptors regulate tyrosine hydroxylase activity and phosphorylation at Ser40

in rat striatum. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *13*(4), 773–780. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0953-816x.2000.01443.x

- Lissner, L., Levitsky, D. A., Strupp, B. J., Kalkwarf, H. J., & Roe, D. A. (1987). Dietary fat and the regulation of energy intake in human subjects. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 46(6), 886–892. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/46.6.886</u>
- Liu, C. M., Hsu, T. M., Suarez, A. N., Subramanian, K. S., Fatemi, R. A., Cortella, A. M., Noble, E. E., Roitman, M. F., & Kanoski, S. E. (2020). Central oxytocin signaling inhibits food reward-motivated behaviors and VTA dopamine responses to food-predictive cues in male rats. *Hormones and Behavior*, *126*, 104855. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2020.104855</u>
- Liu, C. M., & Kanoski, S. E. (2018). Homeostatic and non-homeostatic controls of feeding behavior: Distinct vs. common neural systems. *Physiology & Behavior*, 193(Pt B), 223–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2018.02.011
- Liu, W. W., & Bohórquez, D. V. (2022). The neural basis of sugar preference. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-022-00613-5</u>
- Ljungberg, T., Apicella, P., & Schultz, W. (1992). Responses of monkey dopamine neurons during learning of behavioral reactions. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 67, 145–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1992.67.1.145</u>
- Lodge, D. J., & Grace, A. A. (2006). The laterodorsal tegmentum is essential for burst firing of ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons. *PNAS*, 103, 5167–5172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0510715103</u>
- López-Ferreras, L., Eerola, K., Mishra, D., Shevchouk, O. T., Richard, J. E., Nilsson, F. H., Hayes, M. R., & Skibicka, K. P. (2019). GLP-1 modulates the supramammillary nucleuslateral hypothalamic neurocircuit to control ingestive and motivated behavior in a sex divergent manner. *Molecular Metabolism*, 20, 178–193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2018.11.005</u>
- López-Ferreras, L., Richard, J. E., Noble, E. E., Eerola, K., Anderberg, R. H., Olandersson, K., Taing, L., Kanoski, S. E., Hayes, M. R., & Skibicka, K. P. (2017). Lateral hypothalamic GLP-1 receptors are critical for the control of food reinforcement, ingestive behavior and body weight. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 23, 1157–1168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2017.187</u>
- Louis-Sylvestre, J., & Magnen, J. L. (1996). A fall in blood glucose level precedes meal onset in free-feeding rats. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *4*, 13–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0149-7634(80)90041-x</u>
- Lovshin, J. A., & Drucker, D. J. (2009). Incretin-based therapies for type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, *5*, 262–269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2009.48</u>

- Luquet, S., Perez, F. A., Hnasko, T. S., & Palmiter, R. D. (2005). NPY/AgRP Neurons Are Essential for Feeding in Adult Mice but Can Be Ablated in Neonates. *Science*, 310(5748), 683–685. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1115524</u>
- Lütcke, H., Murayama, M., Hahn, T., Margolis, D. J., Astori, S., Borgloh, S. M. Z. A., Göbel, W., Yang, Y., Tang, W., Kügler, S., Sprengel, R., Nagai, T., Miyawaki, A., Larkum, M. E., Helmchen, F., & Hasan, M. T. (2010). Optical recording of neuronal activity with a genetically-encoded calcium indicator in anesthetized and freely moving mice. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, 4, 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2010.00009</u>
- Ly, H. G., Dupont, P., Laere, K. V., Depoortere, I., Tack, J., & Oudenhove, L. V. (2017). Differential brain responses to gradual intragastric nutrient infusion and gastric balloon distension: A role for gut peptides? *NeuroImage*, *144*, 101–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.09.032
- Madsbad, S. (2014). The role of glucagon-like peptide-1 impairment in obesity and potential therapeutic implications. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism, 16*(1), 9–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.12119</u>
- Malik, S., McGlone, F., Bedrossian, D., & Dagher, A. (2008). Ghrelin Modulates Brain Activity in Areas that Control Appetitive Behavior. *Cell Metabolism*, 7, 400–409. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2008.03.007</u>
- Malmierca, M. S. (2015). The Rat Nervous System (Fourth Edition). *Section VI: Systems*, 865–946. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-374245-2.00029-2</u>
- Maniscalco, J. W., Kreisler, A. D., & Rinaman, L. (2013). Satiation and Stress-Induced Hypophagia: Examining the Role of Hindbrain Neurons Expressing Prolactin-Releasing Peptide or Glucagon-Like Peptide 1. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 6. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2012.00199</u>
- Maniscalco, J. W., & Rinaman, L. (2013). Overnight food deprivation markedly attenuates hindbrain noradrenergic, glucagon-like peptide-1, and hypothalamic neural responses to exogenous cholecystokinin in male rats. *Physiology & Behavior*, 121, 35–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.01.012</u>
- Maniscalco, J. W., Zheng, H., Gordon, P. J., & Rinaman, L. (2015). Negative Energy Balance Blocks Neural and Behavioral Responses to Acute Stress by "Silencing" Central Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 Signaling in Rats. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(30), 10701–10714. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.3464-14.2015</u>
- Margules, D. L., & Olds, J. (1962). Identical "feeding" and "rewarding" systems in the lateral hypothalamus of rats. *Science*, *135*, 374–375. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.135.3501.374</u>

- Marshall, J. F., Levitan, D., & Stricker, E. M. (1976). Activation-induced restoration of sensorimotor functions in rats with dopamine-depleting brain lesions. *Journal of Comparative* and Physiological Psychology, 90(6), 536–546. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0077230</u>
- Martel, J. C., & McArthur, S. G. (2020). Dopamine Receptor Subtypes, Physiology and Pharmacology: New Ligands and Concepts in Schizophrenia. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 11, 1003. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2020.01003</u>
- Maske, C. B., Jackson, C. M., Terrill, S. J., Eckel, L. A., & Williams, D. L. (2017). Estradiol modulates the anorexic response to central glucagon-like peptide 1. *Hormones and Behavior*, 93, 109–117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2017.05.012</u>
- Mateo, Y., Johnson, K. A., Covey, D. P., Atwood, B. K., Wang, H. L., Zhang, S., Gildish, I., Cachope, R., Bellocchio, L., Guzmán, M., Morales, M., Cheer, J. F., & Lovinger, D. M. (2017). Endocannabinoid Actions on Cortical Terminals Orchestrate Local Modulation of Dopamine Release in the Nucleus Accumbens. *Neuron*, 96, 1112-1126.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.11.012
- Matsuda, W., Furuta, T., Nakamura, K. C., Hioki, H., Fujiyama, F., Arai, R., & Kaneko, T. (2009). Single Nigrostriatal Dopaminergic Neurons Form Widely Spread and Highly Dense Axonal Arborizations in the Neostriatum. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(2), 444–453. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.4029-08.2009</u>
- Mayer, J. (1953). Glucostatic Mechanism of Regulation of Food Intake. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 249, 13–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm195307022490104</u>
- McEwen, B. S., & Reagan, L. P. (2004). Glucose transporter expression in the central nervous system: relationship to synaptic function. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 490(1–3), 13– 24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2004.02.041</u>
- McKinley, M., Allen, A., Burns, P., Colvill, L., & Oldfield, B. (1998). Interaction of Circulating Hormones with the Brain: The Roles of the Subfornical Organ and the Organum Vasculosum of the Lamina Terminalis. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology*, 25(S1), S61–S67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1681.1998.tb02303.x</u>
- McMurray, M. S., Amodeo, L. R., & Roitman, J. D. (2014). Effects of Voluntary Alcohol Intake on Risk Preference and Behavioral Flexibility during Rat Adolescence. *PLoS ONE*, 9(7), e100697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0100697</u>
- Medeiros, N., Dai, L., & Ferguson, A. V. (2012). Glucose-responsive neurons in the subfornical organ of the rat—a novel site for direct CNS monitoring of circulating glucose. *Neuroscience*, 201, 157–165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.11.028</u>
- Medic, N., Ziauddeen, H., Vestergaard, M. D., Henning, E., Schultz, W., Farooqi, I. S., & Fletcher, P. C. (2014). Dopamine Modulates the Neural Representation of Subjective Value

of Food in Hungry Subjects. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *34*(50), 16856–16864. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.2051-14.2014

- Melanson, K. J., Westerterp-Plantenga, M. S., Campfield, L. A., & Saris, W. H. M. (1999).
 Blood glucose and meal patterns in time-blinded males, after aspartame, carbohydrate, and fat consumption, in relation to sweetness perception. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 82(6), 437–446. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0007114599001695
- Merchenthaler, I., Lane, M., & Shughrue, P. (1999). Distribution of pre-pro-glucagon and glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor messenger RNAs in the rat central nervous system. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 403, 261–280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1096-9861(19990111)403:2<261::aid-cne8>3.0.co;2-5</u>
- Merchenthaler, I., Lane, M., & Shughrue, P. (1999). Distribution of Pre-Pro-Glucagon and Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Receptor Messenger RNAs in the Rat Central Nervous System Indexing terms: in situ hybridization; brain mapping; glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor mRNA; ingestive behavior; obesity; pre-pro-glucag. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 403, 261–280. <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/%28SICI%291096-</u> 9861%2819990111%29403%3A2%3C261%3A%3AAID-CNE8%3E3.0.CO%3B2-5
- Meredith, G. E., Baldo, B. A., Andrezjewski, M. E., & Kelley, A. E. (2008). The structural basis for mapping behavior onto the ventral striatum and its subdivisions. *Brain Structure and Function*, *213*(1–2), 17–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-008-0175-3</u>
- Mietlicki-Baase, E. G., Ortinski, P. I., Reiner, D. J., Sinon, C. G., McCutcheon, J. E., Pierce, R. C., Roitman, M. F., & Hayes, M. R. (2014). Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Receptor Activation in the Nucleus Accumbens Core Suppresses Feeding by Increasing Glutamatergic AMPA/Kainate Signaling. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(20), 6985–6992. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.0115-14.2014
- Mietlicki-Baase, E. G., Ortinski, P. I., Rupprecht, L. E., Olivos, D. R., Alhadeff, A. L., Pierce, R. C., & Hayes, M. R. (2013). The food intake-suppressive effects of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor signaling in the ventral tegmental area are mediated by AMPA/kainate receptors. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 305(11), E1367–E1374. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00413.2013</u>
- Mietlicki-Baase, E. G., Reiner, D. J., Cone, J. J., Olivos, D. R., McGrath, L. E., Zimmer, D. J., Roitman, M. F., & Hayes, M. R. (2015). Amylin modulates the mesolimbic dopamine system to control energy balance. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 40, 372–385. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.180</u>
- Mink, M., Evans, A., Moore, C. G., Calderon, K. S., & Deger, S. (2010). Nutritional Imbalance Endorsed by Televised Food Advertisements. *Journal of the AMERICAN DIETETIC* ASSOCIATION, 110, 904–910. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2010.03.020</u>

- Minokoshi, Y., Alquier, T., Furukawa, H., Kim, Y. B., Lee, A., Xue, B., Mu, J., Foufelle, F., Ferré, P., Birnbaum, M. J., Stuck, B. J., & Kahn, B. B. (2004). AMP-kinase regulates food intake by responding to hormonal and nutrient signals in the hypothalamus. *Letters to Nature*, 428, 569–574. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02440</u>
- Mitrakou, A., Ryan, C., Veneman, T., Mokan, M., Jenssen, T., Kiss, I., Durrant, J., Cryer, P., & Gerich, J. (1991). Hierarchy of glycemic thresholds for counterregulatory hormone secretion, symptoms, and cerebral dysfunction. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 260(1), E67–E74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.1991.260.1.e67</u>
- Mobbs, C. V., Kow, L.-M., & Yang, X.-J. (2001). Brain glucose-sensing mechanisms: ubiquitous silencing by aglycemia vs. hypothalamic neuroendocrine responses. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 281(4), E649–E654. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.2001.281.4.e649</u>
- Mogenson, G. J., Jones, D. L., & Yim, C. Y. (1980). From motivation to action: Functional interface between the limbic system and the motor system. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 14(2– 3), 69–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0301-0082(80)90018-0</u>
- Mohebi, A., Pettibone, J. R., Hamid, A. A., Wong, J. M. T., Vinson, L. T., Patriarchi, T., Tian, L., Kennedy, R. T., & Berke, J. D. (2019). Dissociable dopamine dynamics for learning and motivation. *Nature*, 570, 65–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1235-y</u>
- Moore, F., Weekes, J., & Hardie, D. G. (1991). Evidence that AMP triggers phosphorylation as well as direct allosteric activation of rat liver AMP-activated protein kinase. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 199(3), 691–697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-1033.1991.tb16172.x</u>
- Morales, M., & Margolis, E. B. (2017). Ventral tegmental area: Cellular heterogeneity, connectivity and behaviour. *Nature Neuroscience Reviews*, *18*, 73–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2016.165</u>
- Morley, J. (1987). Neuropeptide Regulation of Appetite and Weight. *Endocrine Reviews*, 8(3), 256–287. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/edrv-8-3-256</u>
- Morrens, J., Aydin, Ç., Rensburg, A. J. van, Rabell, J. E., & Haesler, S. (2020). Cue-Evoked Dopamine Promotes Conditioned Responding during Learning. *Neuron*, *106*(1), 142-153.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2020.01.012
- Muller, E., Cocchi, D., & Mantegazza, P. (1972). Brain adrenergic system in the feeding response induced by 2-deoxy-D-glucose. *American Journal of Physiology-Legacy Content*, 223(4), 945–950. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplegacy.1972.223.4.945</u>
- Murphy, S. L., Kochanek, K. D., Xu, J., & Arias, E. (2020). Mortality in the United States, 2020. NCHS Data Brief. <u>https://doi.org/10.15620/cdc:112079</u>

- Nair, A. G., Gutierrez-Arenas, O., Eriksson, O., Jauhiainen, A., Blackwell, K. T., & Kotaleski, J. H. (2014). Modeling Intracellular Signaling Underlying Striatal Function in Health and Disease. *Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science*, 123, 277–304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-397897-4.00013-9</u>
- Nakano, Y., Oomura, Y., Lénárd, L., Nishino, H., Aou, S., Yamamoto, T., & Aoyagi, K. (1986). Feeding-related activity of glucose-and morphine-sensitive neurons in the monkey amygdala. *Brain Research*, 399(1), 167–172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(86)90613-x</u>
- Neve, K. A., Seamans, J. K., & Trantham-Davidson, H. (2004). Dopamine Receptor Signaling. Journal of Receptors and Signal Transduction, 24(3), 165–205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1081/rrs-200029981</u>
- Nieh, E. H., Matthews, G. A., Allsop, S. A., Presbrey, K. N., Leppla, C. A., Wichmann, R., Neve, R., Wildes, C. P., & Tye, K. M. (2015). Decoding neural circuits that control compulsive sucrose seeking. *Cell*, 160, 528–541. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.01.003</u>
- Nieh, E. H., Weele, C. M. V., Matthews, G. A., Presbrey, K. N., Wichmann, R., Leppla, C. A., Izadmehr, E. M., & Tye, K. M. (2016). Inhibitory Input from the Lateral Hypothalamus to the Ventral Tegmental Area Disinhibits Dopamine Neurons and Promotes Behavioral Activation. *Neuron*, 90, 1286–1298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2016.04.035</u>
- Niijima, A. (1969). Afferent Impulse Discharges from Glucoreceptors in the Liver of the Guinea Pig. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *157*(2), 690–700. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1969.tb12914.x
- Nijenhuis, W. A. J., Oosterom, J., & Adan, R. A. H. (2001). AgRP(83–132) Acts as an Inverse Agonist on the Human-Melanocortin-4 Receptor. *Molecular Endocrinology*, *15*(1), 164–171. https://doi.org/10.1210/mend.15.1.0578
- Niki, M., Jyotaki, M., Yoshida, R., Yasumatsu, K., Shigemura, N., DiPatrizio, N. V., Piomelli, D., & Ninomiya, Y. (2015). Modulation of sweet taste sensitivities by endogenous leptin and endocannabinoids in mice. *The Journal of Physiology*, 593(11), 2527–2545. <u>https://doi.org/10.1113/jp270295</u>
- Noble, E. E., Hahn, J. D., Konanur, V. R., Hsu, T. M., Page, S. J., Cortella, A. M., Liu, C. M., Song, M. Y., Suarez, A. N., Szujewski, C. C., Rider, D., Clarke, J. E., Darvas, M., Appleyard, S. M., & Kanoski, S. E. (2018). Control of Feeding Behavior by Cerebral Ventricular Volume Transmission of Melanin-Concentrating Hormone. *Cell Metabolism*, 28, 55-68.e7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2018.05.001</u>
- Norgren, R. (1978). Projections from the nucleus of the solitary tract in the rat. *Neuroscience*, 3(2), 207–218. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(78)90102-1</u>

- Oakley, B. (1985). Taste responses of human chorda tympani nerve. *Chemical Senses*, 10(4), 469–481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/10.4.469</u>
- Obici, S., Feng, Z., Karkanias, G., Baskin, D. G., & Rossetti, L. (2002). Decreasing hypothalamic insulin receptors causes hyperphagia and insulin resistance in rats. *Nature Neuroscience*, 5(6), 566–572. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn0602-861</u>
- Oesch, S., Rüegg, C., Fischer, B., Degen, L., & Beglinger, C. (2006). Effect of gastric distension prior to eating on food intake and feelings of satiety in humans. *Physiology and Behavior*, 87, 903–910. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2006.02.003</u>
- Ogasawara, T., Nejime, M., Takada, M., & Matsumoto, M. (2018). Primate Nigrostriatal Dopamine System Regulates Saccadic Response Inhibition. *Neuron*, *100*(6), 1513-1526.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2018.10.025
- Olds, J., & Milner, P. (1954). Positive reinforcement produced by electrical stimulation of septal area and other regions of rat brain. *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology*, 47, 419–427. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/13233369</u>
- Ollmann, M. M., Wilson, B. D., Yang, Y.-K., Kerns, J. A., Chen, Y., Gantz, I., & Barsh, G. S. (1997). Antagonism of Central Melanocortin Receptors in Vitro and in Vivo by Agouti-Related Protein. *Science*, 278(5335), 135–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.278.5335.135</u>
- Olszewski, P. K., Li, D., Grace, M. K., Billington, C. J., Kotz, C. M., & Levine, A. S. (2003). Neural basis of orexigenic effects of ghrelin acting within lateral hypothalamus. *Peptides*, 24, 597–602. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0196-9781(03)00105-0</u>
- Oomura, Y., Ono, T., Ooyama, H., & Wayner, M. J. (1969). Glucose and Osmosensitive Neurones of the Rat Hypothalamus. *Nature*, 222(5190), 282–284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/222282a0</u>
- Oomura, Y., Ooyama, H., Sugimori, M., Nakamura, T., & Yamada, Y. (1974). Glucose Inhibition of the Glucose-sensitive Neurone in the Rat Lateral Hypothalamus. *Nature*, 247(5439), 284–286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/247284a0</u>
- Pajak, B., Siwiak, E., Sołtyka, M., Priebe, A., Zieliński, R., Fokt, I., Ziemniak, M., Jaśkiewicz, A., Borowski, R., Domoradzki, T., & Priebe, W. (2020). 2-Deoxy-D-Glucose and its analogs: From diagnostic to therapeutic agents. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21010234</u>
- Palmiter, R. D. (2008). Dopamine signaling in the dorsal striatum is essential for motivated behaviors: lessons from dopamine-deficient mice. *Ann N Y Acac Sci*, 1129, 35–46. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1417.003

- Palmiter, R. D., Erickson, J. C., Hollopeter, G., Baraban, S. C., & Schwartz, M. W. (1998). Life without neuropeptide Y. *Recent Progress in Hormone Research*, 53, 163–199.
- Papp, S., Lukáts, B., Takács, G., Szalay, C., & Karádi, Z. (2007). Glucose-monitoring neurons in the nucleus accumbens. *NeuroReport*, 18(15), 1561–1565. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/wnr.0b013e3281667eca</u>
- Pappas, T. N., Melendez, R. L., & Debas, H. T. (1989). Gastric distension is a physiologic satiety signal in the dog. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 34, 1489–1493. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2791798</u>
- Parker, K. E., Pedersen, C. E., Gomez, A. M., Spangler, S. M., Walicki, M. C., Feng, S. Y., Stewart, S. L., Otis, J. M., Al-Hasani, R., McCall, J. G., Sakers, K., Bhatti, D. L., Copits, B. A., Gereau, R. W., Jhou, T., Kash, T. J., Dougherty, J. D., Stuber, G. D., & Bruchas, M. R. (2019). A Paranigral VTA Nociceptin Circuit that Constrains Motivation for Reward. *Cell*, *178*(3), 653-671.e19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.06.034</u>
- Partosoedarso, E. R., & Blackshaw, L. A. (2000). Roles of central glutamate, acetylcholine and CGRP receptors in gastrointestinal afferent inputs to vagal preganglionic neurones. *Autonomic Neuroscience*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-1838(00)00109-0</u>
- Patriarchi, T., Cho, J. R., Merten, K., Howe, M. W., Marley, A., Xiong, W.-H., Folk, R. W., Broussard, G. J., Liang, R., Jang, M. J., Zhong, H., Dombeck, D., Zastrow, M. von, Nimmerjahn, A., Gradinaru, V., Williams, J. T., & Tian, L. (2018). Ultrafast neuronal imaging of dopamine dynamics with designed genetically encoded sensors. *Science*, 4422, eaat4422. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aat4422</u>
- Paupardin-Tritsch, D., Colombaioni, L., Deterre, P., & Gerschenfeld, H. (1985). Two different mechanisms of calcium spike modulation by dopamine. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 5(9), 2522–2532. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.05-09-02522.1985</u>
- Petrovich, G. D. (2013). Forebrain networks and the control of feeding by environmental learned cues. *Physiology & Behavior*, *121*, 10–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.03.024</u>
- Petrovich, G. D., Holland, P. C., & Gallagher, M. (2005). Amygdalar and Prefrontal Pathways to the Lateral Hypothalamus Are Activated by a Learned Cue That Stimulates Eating. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(36), 8295–8302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.2480-05.2005</u>
- Peyron, C., Tighe, D. K., Pol, A. N. van den, Lecea, L. de, Heller, H. C., Sutcliffe, J. G., & Kilduff, T. S. (1998). Neurons Containing Hypocretin (Orexin) Project to Multiple Neuronal Systems. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(23), 9996–10015. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.18-23-09996.1998</u>

- Pfaus, J. G., Damsma, G., Wenkstern, D., & Fibiger, H. C. (1995). Sexual activity increases dopamine transmission in the nucleus accumbens and striatum of female rats. *Brain Research*, 693, 21–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(95)00679-k</u>
- Pfaus, J. G., & Phillips, A. G. (1989). Differential effects of dopamine receptor antagonists on the sexual behavior of male rats. *Psychopharmacology*, *98*, 363–368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00451688</u>
- Phillips, P. E. M., Stuber, G. D., Helen, M. L. A. V., Wightman, R. M., & Carelli, R. M. (2003). Subsecond dopamine release promotes cocaine seeking. *Nature*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01476</u>
- Plasse, G. V. D., Zessen, R. V., Luijendijk, M. C. M., Erkan, H., Stuber, G. D., Ramakers, G. M. J., & Adan, R. A. H. (2015). Modulation of cue-induced firing of ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons by leptin and ghrelin. *International Journal of Obesity*, 39, 1742–1749. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2015.131</u>
- Prechtl, J. C., & Powley, T. L. (1990). The fiber composition of the abdominal vagus of the rat. *Anatomy and Embryology*, 181, 101–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00198950</u>
- Pribadi, A., Rosales, K., Reddy, K. C., & Chalasani, S. H. (2022). Dopamine signaling regulates predator-driven behavioral changes in Caenorhabditis elegans. *BioRxiv*, 2022.10.06.511234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.10.06.511234</u>
- Qian, S., Chen, H., Weingarth, D., Trumbauer, M. E., Novi, D. E., Guan, X., Yu, H., Shen, Z., Feng, Y., Frazier, E., Chen, A., Camacho, R. E., Shearman, L. P., Gopal-Truter, S., MacNeil, D. J., Ploeg, L. H. T. V. der, & Marsh, D. J. (2002). Neither Agouti-Related Protein nor Neuropeptide Y Is Critically Required for the Regulation of Energy Homeostasis in Mice. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 22(14), 5027–5035. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.22.14.5027-5035.2002
- Reiner, D. J., Leon, R. M., Mcgrath, L. E., Koch-Laskowski, K., Hahn, J. D., Kanoski, S. E., Mietlicki-Baase, E. G., & Hayes, M. R. (2018). Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Receptor Signaling in the Lateral Dorsal Tegmental Nucleus Regulates Energy Balance. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 43, 627–637. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2017.225</u>
- Remonti, L., Balestrieri, A., Raubenheimer, D., & Saino, N. (2016). Functional implications of omnivory for dietary nutrient balance. *Oikos*, 125(9), 1233–1240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.02801</u>
- Ricardo, J. A., & Koh, E. T. (1978). Anatomical evidence of direct projections from the nucleus of the solitary tract to the hypothalamus, amygdala, and other forebrain structures in the rat. *Brain Research*, *153*(1), 1–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(78)91125-3</u>

- Rice, M. E., & Cragg, S. J. (2008). Dopamine spillover after quantal release: Rethinking dopamine transmission in the nigrostriatal pathway. *Brain Research Reviews*, 58(2), 303–313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2008.02.004</u>
- Richard, J. E., Anderberg, R. H., Göteson, A., Gribble, F. M., Reimann, F., & Skibicka, K. P. (2015). Activation of the GLP-1 Receptors in the Nucleus of the Solitary Tract Reduces Food Reward Behavior and Targets the Mesolimbic System. *Plos One*, *10*, e0119034. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0119034</u>
- Richard, J. E., Anderberg, R. H., López-Ferreras, L., Olandersson, K., & Skibicka, K. P. (2016). Sex and estrogens alter the action of glucagon-like peptide-1 on reward. *Biology of Sex Differences*, 7, 6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13293-016-0059-9</u>
- Riediger, T., Schmid, H. A., Lutz, T. A., & Simon, E. (2002). Amylin and glucose co-activate area postrema neurons of the rat. *Neuroscience Letters*, *328*(2), 121–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0304-3940(02)00482-2
- Rinaman, L. (1999). Interoceptive stress activates glucagon-like peptide-1 neurons that project to the hypothalamus. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 277(2), R582–R590. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.1999.277.2.r582</u>
- Rinaman, L. (2010). Ascending projections from the caudal visceral nucleus of the solitary tract to brain regions involved in food intake and energy expenditure. *Brain Research*, 1350, 18– 34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2010.03.059</u>
- Ritter, R. C., Covasa, M., & Matson, C. A. (1999). Cholecystokinin: proofs and prospects for involvement in control of food intake and body weight. *Neuropeptides*, 33, 387–399. <u>https://doi.org/10.1054/npep.1999.0051</u>
- Ritter, R. C., Roelke, M., & Neville, M. (1978). Glucoprivic feeding behavior in absence of other signs of glucoprivation. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 234(6), E617-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.1978.234.6.e617</u>
- Ritter, R. C., & Slusser, P. (1980). 5-Thio-D-glucose causes increased feeding and hyperglycemia in the rat. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 238, E141-4. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.1980.238.2.e141
- Ritter, R. C., Slusser, P. G., & Stone, S. (1981). Glucoreceptors Controlling Feeding and Blood Glucose: Location in the Hindbrain. *Science*, 213(4506), 451–452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.6264602</u>
- Ritter, S., Bugarith, K., & Dinh, T. T. (2001). Immunotoxic destruction of distinct catecholamine subgroups produces selective impairment of glucoregulatory responses and neuronal activation. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 432, 197–216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.1097</u>

- Ritter, S., Dinh, T. T., & Zhang, Y. (2000). Localization of hindbrain glucoreceptive sites controlling food intake and blood glucose. *Brain Research*, 856, 37–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-8993(99)02327-6</u>
- RJ, S., K, B., PA, R., S, B., J, E., SC, W., & D, D. (2000). The role of CNS glucagon-like peptide-1 (7-36) amide receptors in mediating the visceral illness effects of lithium chloride. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 20, 1616–1621. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.20-04-01616.2000</u>
- Robbins, T. W., & Everitt, B. J. (1996). Neurobehavioural mechanisms of reward and motivation. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 6(2), 228–236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0959-4388(96)80077-8</u>
- Robinson, T. E., & Berridge, K. C. (1993). The neural basis of drug craving: An incentivesensitization theory of addiction. *Brain Research Reviews*, 18(3), 247–291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-0173(93)90013-p</u>
- Robinson, T. E., Yager, L. M., Cogan, E. S., & Saunders, B. T. (2014). On the motivational properties of reward cues: Individual differences. *Neuropharmacology*, 76, 450–459. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.05.040</u>
- Roitman, M. F., Stuber, G. D., Phillips, P. E. M., Wightman, R. M., & Carelli, R. M. (2004). Dopamine Operates as a Subsecond Modulator of Food Seeking. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(6), 1265–1271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.3823-03.2004</u>
- Roitman, M. F., Wheeler, R. A., & Carelli, R. M. (2005). Nucleus accumbens neurons are innately tuned for rewarding and aversive taste stimuli, encode their predictors, and are linked to motor output. *Neuron*, 45, 587–597. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2004.12.055</u>
- Roitman, M. F., Wheeler, R. A., Wightman, R. M., & Carelli, R. M. (2008). Real-time chemical responses in the nucleus accumbens differentiate rewarding and aversive stimuli. *NATURE NEUROSCIENCE*, 11, 1376–1377. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2219</u>
- Romo, R., & Schultz, W. (1990). Dopamine neurons of the monkey midbrain: Contingencies of responses to active touch during self-initiated arm movements. *The Journal of Neurophysiology*, 63, 592–606. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1990.63.3.592
- Rosin, D. L., Weston, M. C., Sevigny, C. P., Stornetta, R. L., & Guyenet, P. G. (2003). Hypothalamic orexin (hypocretin) neurons express vesicular glutamate transporters VGLUT1 or VGLUT2. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 465(4), 593–603. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.10860</u>
- Rossi, M. A., & Stuber, G. D. (2017). Overlapping Brain Circuits for Homeostatic and Hedonic Feeding. *Cell Metabolism*, 27, 42–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.09.021</u>

- Roussin, A. T., D'Agostino, A. E., Fooden, A. M., Victor, J. D., & Lorenzo, P. M. D. (2012). Taste Coding in the Nucleus of the Solitary Tract of the Awake, Freely Licking Rat. *Journal* of Neuroscience, 32(31), 10494–10506. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.1856-12.2012</u>
- RR, M., & AN, E. (1975). Feeding induced by intracerebroventricular 2-deoxy-D-glucose in the rat. American Journal of Physiology, 229, 1438–1447. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplegacy.1975.229.5.1438
- Sachs, B. D., & Richmond, G. (1980). Grooming in Norway Rats: the Development and Adult Expression of a Complex Motor Pattern. *Behaviour*, 75(1–2), 82–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1163/156853980x00573</u>
- Sackett, D. A., Saddoris, M. P., & Carelli, R. M. (2017). Nucleus Accumbens Shell Dopamine Preferentially Tracks Information Related to Outcome Value of Reward. *ENeuro*, 4, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1523/eneuro.0058-17.2017
- Sacks, O. (1973). Awakenings. Duckworth & Co.
- Saelens, B. E., Sallis, J. F., Frank, L. D., Couch, S. C., Zhou, C., Colburn, T., Cain, K. L., Chapman, J., & Glanz, K. (2012). Obesogenic neighborhood environments, child and parent obesity: the Neighborhood Impact on Kids study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 42, e57-64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2012.02.008</u>
- Salamone, J. D., & Correa, M. (2012). The Mysterious Motivational Functions of Mesolimbic Dopamine. *Neuron*, 76(3), 470–485. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.10.021</u>
- Salamone, J. D., Cousins, M. S., & Snyder, B. J. (1997). Behavioral functions of nucleus accumbens dopemine: Empirical and conceptual problems with the Anhedonia hypothesis. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 21, 341–359. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0149-7634(96)00017-6</u>
- Saunders, B. T., Richard, J. M., Margolis, E. B., & Janak, P. H. (2018). Dopamine neurons create Pavlovian conditioned stimuli with circuit-defined motivational properties. *Nature Neuroscience*, 21(8), 1072–1083. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0191-4</u>
- Sawchenko, P. E., & Swanson, L. W. (1983). The organization of forebrain afferents to the paraventricular and supraoptic nuclei of the rat. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *218*(2), 121–144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902180202</u>
- Schelbert, K. B. (2009). Comorbidities of Obesity. Primary Care: Clinics in Office Practice, 36(2), 271–285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pop.2009.01.009</u>
- Schmidt, H. D., Mietlicki-Baase, E. G., Ige, K. Y., Maurer, J. J., Reiner, D. J., Zimmer, D. J., Nest, D. S. V., Guercio, L. A., Wimmer, M. E., Olivos, D. R., Jonghe, B. C. D., & Hayes, M. R. (2016). Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Receptor Activation in the Ventral Tegmental Area

Decreases the Reinforcing Efficacy of Cocaine. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *41*, 1917–1928. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.362</u>

- Schmidt, W. E., Siegel, E. G., & Creutzfeldt, W. (1985). Glucagon-like peptide-1 but not glucagon-like peptide-2 stimulates insulin release from isolated rat pancreatic islets. *Diabetologia*, 28, 704–707. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00291980</u>
- Schultz, W. (1986). Responses of midbrain dopamine neurons to behavioral trigger stimuli in the monkey. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 56(5), 1439–1461. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1986.56.5.1439</u>
- Schultz, W. (1998). Predictive Reward Signal of Dopamine Neurons. *The American Physiological Society*, 80, 1–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1998.80.1.1</u>
- Schultz, W. (2007). Behavioral dopamine signals. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *30*(5), 203–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2007.03.007
- Schultz, W. (2013). Updating dopamine reward signals. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 23(2), 229–238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2012.11.012</u>
- Schultz, W. (2015). Neuronal Reward and Decision Signals: From Theories to Data. *Physiological Reviews*, *95*(3), 853–951. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00023.2014</u>
- Schultz, W. (2016). Dopamine reward prediction error coding. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *18*(1), 23–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.31887/dcns.2016.18.1/wschultz</u>
- Schultz, W., Apicella, P., & Ljungberg, T. (1993). Responses of monkey dopamine neurons to reward and conditioned stimuli during successive steps of learning a delayed response task. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 13, 900–913. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.13-03-00900.1993</u>
- Schultz, W., Carelli, R. M., & Wightman, R. M. (2015). Phasic dopamine signals: from subjective reward value to formal economic utility. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, 5, 147–154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2015.09.006</u>
- Schultz, W., Dayan, P., & Montague, P. R. (1997). A Neural Substrate of Prediction and Reward. Science, 275(5306), 1593–1599. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.275.5306.1593</u>
- Schultz, W., & Romo, R. (1990). Dopamine neurons of the monkey midbrain: Contingencies of responses to stimuli eliciting immediate behavioral reactions. *The Journal of Neurophysiology*, 63, 607–624. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1990.63.3.607</u>
- Schwartz, M. W., Bergman, R. N., Kahn, S. E., Taborsky, G. J., Fisher, L. D., Sipols, A. J., Woods, S. C., Steil, G. M., & Porte, D. (1991). Evidence for entry of plasma insulin into cerebrospinal fluid through an intermediate compartment in dogs. Quantitative aspects and

implications for transport. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 88(4), 1272–1281. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci115431

- Schwartz, M. W., Figlewicz, D. P., Baskin, D. G., Woods, S. C., & Porte, D. (1992). Insulin in the Brain: A Hormonal Regulator of Energy Balance*. *Endocrine Reviews*, 13(3), 387–414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/edrv-13-3-387</u>
- Schwartz, M. W., Seeley, R. J., Campfield, L. A., Burn, P., & Baskin, D. G. (1996). Identification of targets of leptin action in rat hypothalamus. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 98(5), 1101–1106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1172/jci118891</u>
- Secher, A., Jelsing, J., Baquero, A. F., Hecksher-Sørensen, J., Cowley, M. A., Dalbøge, L. S., Hansen, G., Grove, K. L., Pyke, C., Raun, K., Schäffer, L., Tang-Christensen, M., Verma, S., Witgen, B. M., Vrang, N., & Knudsen, L. B. (2014). The arcuate nucleus mediates GLP-1 receptor agonist liraglutide-dependent weight loss. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 124, 4473–4488. <u>https://doi.org/10.1172/jci75276</u>
- Sewards, T. V. (2004). Dual separate pathways for sensory and hedonic aspects of taste. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 62(4), 271–283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2003.10.004</u>
- Shams, W. M., Sanio, C., Quinlan, M. G., & Brake, W. G. (2016). 17β-Estradiol infusions into the dorsal striatum rapidly increase dorsal striatal dopamine release in vivo. *Neuroscience*, 330, 162–170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.05.049</u>
- Sharpe, M. J., Marchant, N. J., Whitaker, L. R., Richie, C. T., Zhang, Y. J., Campbell, E. J., Koivula, P. P., Necarsulmer, J. C., Mejias-Aponte, C., Morales, M., Pickel, J., Smith, J. C., Niv, Y., Shaham, Y., Harvey, B. K., & Schoenbaum, G. (2017). Lateral Hypothalamic GABAergic Neurons Encode Reward Predictions that Are Relayed to the Ventral Tegmental Area to Regulate Learning. *Current Biology*, 27(14), 2089-2100.e5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.06.024</u>
- Sheng, Z., Santiago, A. M., Thomas, M. P., & Routh, V. H. (2014). Metabolic regulation of lateral hypothalamic glucose-inhibited orexin neurons may influence midbrain reward neurocircuitry. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2014.08.001</u>
- Shih, K.-C., Liu, L.-Y., Kwok, C.-F., Hwu, C.-M., Juan, C.-C., Hsu, Y.-P., & Ho, L.-T. (2007). Effect of reversing dark-light cycles on normal diurnal variation and related metabolic disturbance in rats. *The Chinese Journal of Physiology*, 50(2), 69–76.
- Shirazi, R. H., Dickson, S. L., & Skibicka, K. P. (2013). Gut peptide GLP-1 and its analogue, Exendin-4, decrease alcohol intake and reward. *Plos One*, *8*, e61965. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061965</u>

- Silva, J. A. da, Tecuapetla, F., Paixão, V., & Costa, R. M. (2018). Dopamine neuron activity before action initiation gates and invigorates future movements. *Nature*, *554*(7691), 244–248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature25457</u>
- Silver, I., & Erecinska, M. (1994). Extracellular glucose concentration in mammalian brain: continuous monitoring of changes during increased neuronal activity and upon limitation in oxygen supply in normo-, hypo-, and hyperglycemic animals. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 14(8), 5068–5076. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.14-08-05068.1994</u>
- Simon, S. A., Araujo, I. E. de, Gutierrez, R., & Nicolelis, M. A. L. (2006). The neural mechanisms of gustation: a distributed processing code. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 7(11), 890–901. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2006</u>
- Sisley, S., Gutierrez-Aguilar, R., Scott, M., D'Alessio, D. A., Sandoval, D. A., & Seeley, R. J. (2014). Neuronal GLP1R mediates liraglutide's anorectic but not glucose-lowering effect. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1172/jci72434</u>
- Skibicka, K. P., Hansson, C., Alvarez-Crespo, M., Friberg, P. A., & Dickson, S. L. (2011). Ghrelin directly targets the ventral tegmental area to increase food motivation. *Neuroscience*, 180, 129–137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.02.016</u>
- Slusser, P. G., & Ritter, R. C. (1980). Increased feeding and hyperglycemia elicited by intracerebroventricular 5-thioglucose. 202, 474–478. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(80)90158-4</u>
- Slusser, P. G., & Ritter, R. C. (1980). Increased feeding and hyperglycemia elicited by intracerebroventricular 5-thioglucose. *Brain Research*, 202(2), 474–478. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(80)90158-4</u>
- Smith, G. P. (2004). Accumbens dopamine mediates the rewarding effect of orosensory stimulation by sucrose. *Appetite*, 43(1), 11–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2004.02.006</u>
- Song, Z., Levin, B. E., McArdle, J. J., Bakhos, N., & Routh, V. H. (2001). Convergence of Preand Postsynaptic Influences on Glucosensing Neurons in the Ventromedial Hypothalamic Nucleus. *Diabetes*, 50(12), 2673–2681. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.50.12.2673</u>
- Sørensen, G., Reddy, I. A., Weikop, P., Graham, D. L., Stanwood, G. D., Wortwein, G., Galli, A., & Fink-Jensen, A. (2015). The glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) receptor agonist exendin-4 reduces cocaine self-administration in mice. *Physiology & Behavior*, 149, 262–268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2015.06.013</u>
- Spector, A. C., Grill, H. J., & Norgren, R. (1993). Concentration-dependent licking of sucrose and sodium chloride in rats with parabrachial gustatory lesions. *Physiology & Behavior*, 53(2), 277–283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(93)90205-t</u>

- Stanley, B. G., Ha, L. H., Spears, L. C., & Dee, M. G. (1993). Lateral hypothalamic injections of glutamate, kainic acid,d,l-α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-isoxazole propionic acid or Nmethyl-d-aspartic acid rapidly elicit intense transient eating in rats. *Brain Research*, 613(1), 88–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(93)90458-y</u>
- Stanley, B. G., & Leibowitz, S. F. (1984). Neuroreptide Y: Stimulation of feeding and drinking by injection into the paraventricular nucleus. *Life Sciences*, 35(26), 2635–2642. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0024-3205(84)90032-8</u>
- Stauffer, W. R., Lak, A., & Schultz, W. (2014). Dopamine Reward Prediction Error Responses Reflect Marginal Utility. *Current Biology*, 24(21), 2491–2500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.08.064</u>
- Steidl, S., O'Sullivan, S., Pilat, D., Bubula, N., Brown, J., & Vezina, P. (2017). Operant responding for optogenetic excitation of LDTg inputs to the VTA requires D1 and D2 dopamine receptor activation in the NAcc. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 333, 161–170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2017.06.045</u>
- Steidl, S., & Veverka, K. (2015). Optogenetic excitation of LDTg axons in the VTA reinforces operant responding in rats. *Brain Research*, 1614, 86–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2015.04.021
- Steidl, S., Wang, H., Ordonez, M., Zhang, S., & Morales, M. (2017). Optogenetic excitation in the ventral tegmental area of glutamatergic or cholinergic inputs from the laterodorsal tegmental area drives reward. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 45, 559–571. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.13436</u>
- Stein, L. (1964). Self-Stimulation of the Brain and the Central Stimulant Action of Amphetamine. *Federation Proceedings*, 23, 836–850. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14195468</u>
- Steinberg, E. E., Boivin, J. R., Saunders, B. T., Witten, I. B., Deisseroth, K., & Janak, P. H. (2014). Positive reinforcement mediated by midbrain dopamine neurons requires D1 and D2 receptor activation in the nucleus accumbens. *Plos One*, 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0094771</u>
- Steinberg, E. E., Keiflin, R., Boivin, J. R., Witten, I. B., Deisseroth, K., & Janak, P. H. (2013). A causal link between prediction errors, dopamine neurons and learning. *Nature Neuroscience*, 16(7), 966–973. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3413</u>
- Steinert, R. E., Beglinger, C., & Langhans, W. (2016). Intestinal GLP-1 and satiation: from man to rodents and back. *International Journal of Obesity*, 40(2), 198–205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2015.172</u>

Stellar, E. (1954). The physiology of motivation. *Psychological Review*, 61(1), 5–22. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0060347

- Stoof, J. C., & Kebabian, J. W. (1981). Opposing roles for D-1 and D-2 dopamine receptors in efflux of cyclic AMP from rat neostriatum. *Nature*, 294(5839), 366–368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/294366a0</u>
- Stratford, T. R., & Kelley, A. E. (1997). GABA in the Nucleus Accumbens Shell Participates in the Central Regulation of Feeding Behavior. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 17(11), 4434– 4440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.17-11-04434.1997</u>
- Strubbe, J. H., & Mein, C. G. (1977). Increased feeding in response to bilateral injection of insulin antibodies in the VMH. *Physiology & Behavior*, 19(2), 309–313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(77)90343-2</u>
- Stuber, G. D., Klanker, M., Ridder, B. de, Bowers, M. S., Joosten, R. N., Feenstra, M. G., & Bonci, A. (2008). Reward-predictive cues enhance excitatory synaptic strength onto midbrain dopamine neurons. *Science Reports*, 321, 1690–1692. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1160873
- Swanson, L. W., & Sawchenko, P. E. (1983). Hypothalamic Integration: Organization of the Paraventricular and Supraoptic Nuclei. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 6(1), 269–324. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ne.06.030183.001413</u>
- Swinburn, B., Egger, G., & Raza, F. (1999). Dissecting Obesogenic Environments: The Development and Application of a Framework for Identifying and Prioritizing Environmental Interventions for Obesity. *Preventive Medicine*, 29(6), 563–570. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/pmed.1999.0585</u>
- Syed, E. C. J., Grima, L. L., Magill, P. J., Bogacz, R., Brown, P., & Walton, M. E. (2015). Action initiation shapes mesolimbic dopamine encoding of future rewards. *Brief Communications to Nature Neuroscience*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4187</u>
- Szczypka, M. S., Kwok, K., Brot, M. D., Marck, B. T., Matsumoto, A. M., Donahue, B. A., & Palmiter, R. D. (2001). Dopamine production in the caudate putamen restores feeding in dopamine-deficient mice. *Neuron*, 30, 819–828. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11430814</u>
- Takai, S., Yasumatsu, K., Inoue, M., Iwata, S., Yoshida, R., Shigemura, N., Yanagawa, Y., Drucker, D. J., Margolskee, R. F., & Ninomiya, Y. (2015). Glucagon-like peptide-1 is specifically involved in sweet taste transmission. *FASEB*, 29, 2268–2280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.14-265355</u>

- Takikawa, Y., Kawagoe, R., & Hikosaka, O. (2004). A Possible Role of Midbrain Dopamine Neurons in Short- and Long-Term Adaptation of Saccades to Position-Reward Mapping. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 92(4), 2520–2529. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00238.2004</u>
- Teitelbaum, P., & Epstein, A. N. (1962). The lateral hypothalamic syndrome: Recovery of feeding and drinking after lateral hypothalamic lesions. *Psychological Review*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0039285</u>
- Tellez, L. A., Han, W., Zhang, X., Ferreira, T. L., Perez, I. O., Shammah-Lagnado, S. J., Pol, A. N. van den, & Araujo, I. E. de. (2016). Separate circuitries encode the hedonic and nutritional values of sugar. *Nature Neuroscience*, 19, 465–470. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4224</u>
- Thompson, D. A., & Campbell, R. G. (1977). Hunger in humans induced by 2-deoxy-D-glucose: Glucoprivic control of taste preference and food intake. *Science*, *198*, 1065–1068. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.929188</u>
- Thompson, D. A., Penicaud, L., & Welle, S. L. (1984). Alpha 2-adrenoreceptor stimulation inhibits thermogenesis and food intake during glucoprivation in humans. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 247(3), R560–R566. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.1984.247.3.r560</u>
- Thorndike, E. L. (1898). Animal Intelligence: An Experimental Study of the Associative Processes in Animals. *The Psychological Review: Monograph Supplements*, 2(4), i–109. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0092987
- Threlfell, S., Lalic, T., Platt, N. J., Jennings, K. A., Deisseroth, K., & Cragg, S. J. (2012). Striatal Dopamine Release Is Triggered by Synchronized Activity in Cholinergic Interneurons. *Neuron*, 75(1), 58–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.04.038</u>
- Tian, J., Huang, R., Cohen, J. Y., Osakada, F., Kobak, D., Machens, C. K., Callaway, E. M., Uchida, N., & Watabe-Uchida, M. (2016). Distributed and Mixed Information in Monosynaptic Inputs to Dopamine Neurons. *Neuron*, 91(6), 1374–1389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2016.08.018</u>
- Tong, Q., Ye, C.-P., Jones, J. E., Elmquist, J. K., & Lowell, B. B. (2008). Synaptic release of GABA by AgRP neurons is required for normal regulation of energy balance. *Nature Neuroscience*, 11(9), 998–1000. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2167</u>
- Tordoff, M. G., Flynn, F. W., Grill, H. J., & Friedman, M. I. (1988). Contribution of fat metabolism to "glucoprivic" feeding produced by fourth ventricular 5-thio-d-glucose. *Brain Research*, 445, 216–221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(88)91181-x</u>
- Torvik, A. (1956). Afferent connections to the sensory trigeminal nuclei, the nucleus of the solitary tract and adjacent structures. An experimental study in the rat. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *106*(1), 51–141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901060104</u>
- Travers, S. P., & Norgren, R. (1995). Organization of orosensory responses in the nucleus of the solitary tract of rat. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 73(6), 2144–2162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1995.73.6.2144</u>
- Tsai, H.-C. C., Zhang, F., Adamantidis, A., Stuber, G. D., Bond, A., Lecea, L. D., Deisseroth, K., Bonci, A., Lecea, L. D., & Deisseroth, K. (2009). Phasic firing in dopaminergic neurons is sufficient for behavioral conditioning. *SCIENCE*, 324, 1080–1084. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1168878</u>
- Tschöp, M., Weyer, C., Tataranni, P. A., Devanarayan, V., Ravussin, E., & Heiman, M. L. (2001). Circulating Ghrelin Levels Are Decreased in Human Obesity. *Diabetes*, 50(4), 707– 709. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.50.4.707</u>
- Turton, M. D., O'Shea, D., Gunn, I., Beak, S. A., Edwards, C. M., Meeran, K., Choi, S. J., Taylor, G. M., Heath, M. M., Lambert, P. D., Wilding, J. P., Smith, D. M., Ghatei, M. A., Herbert, J., & Bloom, S. R. (1996). A role for glucagon-like peptide-1 in the central regulation of feeding. *Letters to Nature*, 379, 69–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/379069a0</u>
- Unger, J. W., Moss, A. M., & Livingston, J. N. (1991). Immunohistochemical localization of insulin receptors and phosphotyrosine in the brainstem of the adult rat. *Neuroscience*, 42, 853–861. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(91)90049-t</u>
- Ungerstedt, U. (1970). Is interruption of the nigro-striatal dopamine system producing the "lateral hypothalamus syndrome"? *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica*, 80, 35A-36A. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-1716.1970.tb04858.x
- Ungerstedt, U. (1971). Adipsia and Aphagia after 6-Hydroxydopamine Induced Degeneration of the Nigro-striatal Dopamine System. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica*, 82(S367), 95–122. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-201x.1971.tb11001.x
- Usypchuk, A., Maes, E., Lozzi, M., Gardner, M., Schoenbaum, G., Esber, G. R., & Iordanova, M. (2022). Rewarding Value or Prediction Error: Settling the debate over the role of dopamine in reward learning. *BioRxiv*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.11.06.515338</u>
- Vallöf, D., Kalafateli, A. L., & Jerlhag, E. (2019). Brain region specific glucagon-like peptide-1 receptors regulate alcohol-induced behaviors in rodents. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 103, 284–295. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.02.006</u>
- Verharen, J. P. H., Zhu, Y., & Lammel, S. (2020). Aversion hot spots in the dopamine system. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2020.02.002</u>
- Vogel, H., Wolf, S., Rabasa, C., Rodriguez-Pacheco, F., Babaei, C. S., Stöber, F., Goldschmidt, J., DiMarchi, R. D., Finan, B., Tschöp, M. H., Dickson, S. L., Schürmann, A., & Skibicka, K. P. (2016). GLP-1 and estrogen conjugate acts in the supramammillary nucleus to reduce food-

reward and body weight. *Neuropharmacology*, *110*, 396–406. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2016.07.039

- von Holstein-Rathlou, S., BonDurant, L. D., Peltekian, L., Naber, M. C., Yin, T. C., Claflin, K. E., Urizar, A. I., Madsen, A. N., Ratner, C., Holst, B., Karstoft, K., Vandenbeuch, A., Anderson, C. B., Cassell, M. D., Thompson, A. P., Solomon, T. P., Rahmouni, K., Kinnamon, S. C., Pieper, A. A., ... Potthoff, M. J. (2016). FGF21 Mediates Endocrine Control of Simple Sugar Intake and Sweet Taste Preference by the Liver. *Cell Metabolism*, 23(2), 335–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2015.12.003
- Vries, M. G. de, Arseneau, L. M., Lawson, M. E., & Beverly, J. L. (2003). Extracellular Glucose in Rat Ventromedial Hypothalamus During Acute and Recurrent Hypoglycemia. *Diabetes*, 52(11), 2767–2773. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.52.11.2767</u>
- Waelti, P., Dickinson, A., & Schultz, W. (2001). Dopamine responses comply with basic assumptions of formal learning theory. *Nature*, 412(6842), 43–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/35083500</u>
- Walker, A. K., Ibia, I. E., & Zigman, J. M. (2012). Disruption of cue-potentiated feeding in mice with blocked ghrelin signaling. *Physiology and Behavior*, 108, 34–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2012.10.003</u>
- Walker, Q. D., Rooney, M. B., Wightman, R. M., & Kuhn, C. M. (1999). Dopamine release and uptake are greater in female than male rat striatum as measured by fast cyclic voltammetry. *Neuroscience*, 95(4), 1061–1070. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0306-4522(99)00500-x</u>
- Wang, Q., Liu, C., Uchida, A., Chuang, J.-C., Walker, A., Liu, T., Osborne-Lawrence, S., Mason, B. L., Mosher, C., Berglund, E. D., Elmquist, J. K., & Zigman, J. M. (2014). Arcuate AgRP neurons mediate orexigenic and glucoregulatory actions of ghrelin. *Molecular Metabolism*, 3(1), 64–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2013.10.001</u>
- Wang, R., Liu, X., Hentges, S. T., Dunn-Meynell, A. A., Levin, B. E., Wang, W., & Routh, V. H. (2004). The Regulation of Glucose-Excited Neurons in the Hypothalamic Arcuate Nucleus by Glucose and Feeding-Relevant Peptides. *Diabetes*, 53(8), 1959–1965. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.53.8.1959</u>
- Wang, X. F., Liu, J. J., Xia, J., Liu, J., Mirabella, V., & Pang, Z. P. (2015). Endogenous Glucagon-like Peptide-1 Suppresses High-Fat Food Intake by Reducing Synaptic Drive onto Mesolimbic Dopamine Neurons. *Cell Reports*, 12, 726–733. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.06.062</u>
- Ward, Z. J., Bleich, S. N., Long, M. W., & Gortmaker, S. L. (2021). Association of body mass index with health care expenditures in the United States by age and sex. *PLoS ONE*, 16(3), e0247307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0247307</u>

- Wassum, K. M., Ostlund, S. B., & Maidment, N. T. (2012). Phasic Mesolimbic Dopamine Signaling Precedes and Predicts Performance of a Self-Initiated Action Sequence Task. *Biological Psychiatry*, 71(10), 846–854. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.12.019</u>
- Watabe-Uchida, M., Zhu, L., Ogawa, S. K., Vamanrao, A., & Uchida, N. (2012). Whole-Brain Mapping of Direct Inputs to Midbrain Dopamine Neurons. *Neuron*, 74, 858–873. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.03.017</u>
- Watts, A. G. (2001). International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences. Behavioral and Cognitive Neuroscience: Motivational and Emotional Functions: Regulatory Systems: Motivational/Emotional Psychology: Biological Basis and Correlates: Article Titles: M, 10117–10120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b0-08-043076-7/03529-4</u>
- Weiner, D. M., Levey, A. I., Sunahara, R. K., Niznik, H. B., O'Dowd, B. F., Seeman, P., & Brann, M. R. (1991). D1 and D2 dopamine receptor mRNA in rat brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 88(5), 1859–1863. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.5.1859</u>
- Weingarten, H. P. (1984). Meal initiation controlled by learned cues: Basic behavioral properties. *Appetite*, 5(2), 147–158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0195-6663(84)80035-5</u>
- Weingarten, H. P. (1985). Stimulus control of eating: Implications for a two-factor theory of hunger. *Appetite*, 6(4), 387–401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0195-6663(85)80006-4</u>
- Weller, M. E., Rose, S., Jenner, P., & Marsden, C. D. (1987). in vitro characterisation of dopamine receptors in the superior colliculus of the rat. *Neuropharmacology*, 26(4), 347–354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0028-3908(87)90187-0</u>
- Wenkstern, D., Pfaus, J. G., & Fibiger, H. C. (1993). Dopamine transmission increases in the nucleus accumbens of male rats during their first exposure to sexually receptive female rats. *Brain Research*, 618, 41–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(93)90426-n</u>
- Wieland, S., Schindler, S., Huber, C., Köhr, G., Oswald, M. J., & Kelsch, W. (2015). Phasic Dopamine Modifies Sensory-Driven Output of Striatal Neurons through Synaptic Plasticity. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(27), 9946–9956. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.0127-15.2015</u>
- Willner, P., Golembiowska, K., Klimek, V., & Muscat, R. (1991). Changes in mesolimbic dopamine may explain stress-induced anhedonia. *Psychobiology*, 19(1), 79–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf03337960</u>
- Wilson, C., Nomikos, G. G., Collu, M., & Fibiger, H. C. (1995). Dopaminergic correlates of motivated behavior: importance of drive. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal* of the Society for Neuroscience, 15(7 Pt 2), 5169–5178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.15-</u> 07-05169.1995

- Wise, R. A., Spindler, J., DeWit, H., & Gerberg, G. J. (1978). Neuroleptic-induced "anhedonia" in rats: pimozide blocks reward quality of food. *Science*, 201, 262–264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/275028</u>
- Witten, I. B., Steinberg, E. E., Lee, S. Y., Davidson, T. J., Zalocusky, K. A., Brodsky, M., Yizhar, O., Cho, S. L., Gong, S., Ramakrishnan, C., Stuber, G. D., Tye, K. M., Janak, P. H., & Deisseroth, K. (2011). Recombinase-Driver Rat Lines: Tools, Techniques, and Optogenetic Application to Dopamine-Mediated Reinforcement. *Neuron*, 72(5), 721–733. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.10.028</u>
- Woods, S. C. (1991). The Eating Paradox: How We Tolerate Food. *Psychological Review*, *98*(4), 488–505. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295x.98.4.488</u>
- Woods, S. C., & Porte, D. (1983). The Role of Insulin as a Satiety Factor in the Central Nervous System. Advances in Metabolic Disorders, 10, 457–468. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-027310-2.50024-4</u>
- Wyvell, C. L., & Berridge, K. C. (2000). Intra-Accumbens Amphetamine Increases the Conditioned Incentive Salience of Sucrose Reward: Enhancement of Reward "Wanting" without Enhanced "Liking" or Response Reinforcement. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 20(21), 8122–8130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.20-21-08122.2000</u>
- Xu, B., Li, B.-H., Rowland, N. E., & Kalra, S. P. (1995). Neuropeptide Y injection into the fourth cerebroventricle stimulates c-Fos expression in the paraventricular nucleus and other nuclei in the forebrain: effect of food consumption. *Brain Research*, 698(1–2), 227–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(95)00905-6
- Xue, B., & Kahn, B. B. (2006). AMPK integrates nutrient and hormonal signals to regulate food intake and energy balance through effects in the hypothalamus and peripheral tissues. *The Journal of Physiology*, 574(1), 73–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2006.113217</u>
- Yamamoto, T. (2006). Neural substrates for the processing of cognitive and affective aspects of taste in the brain. Archives of Histology and Cytology, 69(4), 243–255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1679/aohc.69.243</u>
- Yamanaka, A., Beuckmann, C. T., Willie, J. T., Hara, J., Tsujino, N., Mieda, M., Tominaga, M., Yagami, K., Sugiyama, F., Goto, K., Yanagisawa, M., & Sakurai, T. (2003). Hypothalamic Orexin Neurons Regulate Arousal According to Energy Balance in Mice. *Neuron*, 38(5), 701– 713. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00331-3</u>
- Yang, C. R., Seamans, J. K., & Gorelova, N. (1999). Developing a Neuronal Model for the Pathophysiology of Schizophrenia Based on the Nature of Electrophysiological Actions of Dopamine in the Prefrontal Cortex. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 21(2), 161–194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0893-133x(98)00112-2</u>

- Yawata, S., Yamaguchi, T., Danjo, T., Hikida, T., & Nakanishi, S. (2012). Pathway-specific control of reward learning and its flexibility via selective dopamine receptors in the nucleus accumbens. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(31), 12764–12769. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1210797109</u>
- Yen, T. T., Gill, A. M., Frigeri, L. G., Barsh, G. S., & Wolff, G. L. (1994). Obesity, diabetes, and neoplasia in yellow Avy/- mice: ectopic expression of the agouti gene. *The FASEB Journal*, 8(8), 479–488. <u>https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.8.8.8181666</u>
- Yoest, K. E., Cummings, J. A., & Becker, J. B. (2019). Oestradiol influences on dopamine release from the nucleus accumbens shell: sex differences and the role of selective oestradiol receptor subtypes. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 176(21), 4136–4148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.14531</u>
- Yokosuka, M., Xu, B., Pu, S., Kalra, P. S., & Kalra, S. P. (1998). Neural substrates for leptin and neuropeptide Y (NPY) interaction: hypothalamic sites associated with inhibition of NPYinduced food intake. *Physiology & Behavior*, 64(3), 331–338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0031-9384(98)00065-1</u>
- Yoshida, R., Niki, M., Jyotaki, M., Sanematsu, K., Shigemura, N., & Ninomiya, Y. (2013). Modulation of sweet responses of taste receptor cells. *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology*, 24(3), 226–231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2012.08.004</u>
- Yung, K. K. L., Bolam, J. P., Smith, A. D., Hersch, S. M., Ciliax, B. J., & Levey, A. I. (1995). Immunocytochemical localization of D1 and D2 dopamine receptors in the basal ganglia of the rat: Light and electron microscopy. *Neuroscience*, 65(3), 709–730. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(94)00536-e</u>
- Zhao, W.-Q., Chen, H., Quon, M. J., & Alkon, D. L. (2004). Insulin and the insulin receptor in experimental models of learning and memory. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 490(1–3), 71–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2004.02.045</u>
- Zhou, Q. Y., & Palmiter, R. D. (1995). Dopamine-deficient mice are severely hypoactive, adipsic, and aphagic. *Cell*, *83*, 1197–1209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(95)90145-0</u>
- Zimmerman, F. J., & Bell, J. F. (2010). Associations of television content type and obesity in children. *Research and Practice*, 100, 334–340. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2008.155119</u>

Copyright Statement

<u>Author's note:</u> The third chapter of this thesis has been published in the journal Physiology and Behavior. The article is titled "Phasic dopamine responses to a food-predictive cue are suppressed by the glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist Exendin-4" and is cited in the Citations section (PMID#: 31821815). Below is the current copyright information from Physiology and Behavior that states that I do not need permission to republish that content here.

Author rights

The below table explains the rights that authors have when they publish with Elsevier, for authors who choose to publish either open access or subscription. These apply to the corresponding author and all co-authors.

Author rights in Elsevier's proprietary journals	Published open access	Published subscription
Retain patent and trademark rights	v	\checkmark
Retain the rights to use their research data freely without any restriction	\checkmark	\checkmark
Receive proper attribution and credit for their published work	\checkmark	\checkmark
Re-use their own material in new works without permission or payment (with full acknowledgement of the original article): 1. Extend an article to book length 2. Include an article in a subsequent compilation of their own work 3. Re-use portions, excerpts, and their own figures or tables in other works.	\checkmark	\checkmark
Use and share their works for scholarly purposes (with full acknowledgement of the original article): 1. In their own classroom teaching. Electronic and physical distribution of copies is permitted 2. If an author is speaking at a conference, they can present the article and distribute copies to the attendees 3. Distribute the article, including by email, to their students and to research colleagues who they know for their personal use 4. Share and publicize the article via Share Links, which offers 50 days' free access for anyone, without signup or registration 5. Include in a thesis or dissertation (provided this is not published commercially) 6. Share copies of their article privately as part of an invitation-only work group on commercial sites with which the publisher has a hosting agreement	√ 	√
Publicly share the preprint on any website or repository at any time.	\checkmark	V
Publicly share the accepted manuscript on non-commercial sites	\checkmark	√ using a CC BY-NC-ND license and usually only after an embargo period (see Sharing Policy for more information)
Publicly share the final published article	in line with the author's choice of end user license	×
Retain copyright	\checkmark	×

Curriculum Vitae

Vaibhav Konanur

933 W Van Buren St, Apt 421, Chicago, IL 60607 (310) 809-7929

vkonanur@gmail.com

Education

Neuroscience Ph.D., University of Illinois at Chicago (UIC), 2016-present Biological Sciences, M.S., University of California, San Diego (UCSD), June 2012 Biological Sciences, B.S., UCSD, December 2010 Human Development, B.A., UCSD, December 2010

Awards and Honors

New Investigator Travel Award, Society for the Study of Ingestive Behavior, 2022 Laboratory of Integrative Neuroscience Travel Award, UIC, 2018 Graduate Student Council Travel Award, UIC, 2018, 2019 Eugene and Ruth Roberts Summer Student Academy Fellowship, City of Hope, 2008

Leadership Activities

• New Investigator Advisory Board, Society for the Study of Ingestive Behavior, 2019-2022.

• External Relations Chair: Secured sponsorship and organized the biotechnology job fair, career development workshops, and biotech information panels. Biological Sciences Student Association in UCSD, 2008, 2009, 2010.

Research Experience

Graduate Student, Department of Psychology, UIC, 2016-present (Laboratory of Dr. Mitch Roitman). Investigating the neural basis of motivated ingestive behavior, including the involvement of the mesolimbic dopamine system in hunger/satiety. Using immunohistochemistry, pharmacology, behavior, and fiber photometry to characterize these mechanisms.

Laboratory Manager/Technician, Department of Human and Evolutionary Biology, USC, 2013-2016 (Laboratory of Dr. Scott Kanoski). Explored the neuronal control of "higher-order" aspects of eating behavior, including decisions about whether to feed or not to feed, what to consume, and how much of it to consume. Used immunohistochemistry, pharmacology, behavior, and gene expression to characterize these mechanisms.

Master's Student Researcher, Department of Biology, UCSD, 2010-2012 (Laboratory of Dr. Kathleen French). Identified novel inhibitory cell type in the central nervous system of the medicinal leech. Characterized the cell using immunohistochemistry and electrophysiology leading to further investigation of its role in leech behavior. **Undergraduate Research Assistant**, Department of Virology, City of Hope, 2008 (research advisor: Dr. Aprille

Seidel). Investigated a potential biomarker protein overexpressed in carcinogenic melanocytes. Used molecular biology and immunology to produce candidate melanoma vaccines.

Peer-reviewed Journal Publications (reverse chronological order)

Hsu TM, Bazzino P, Hurh SJ, **Konanur VR**, Roitman JD, Roitman MF. Thirst recruits phasic dopamine signaling through subfornical organ neurons. *PNAS*. 2020.

Konanur VR, Hsu TM, Kanoski SE, Hayes MR, Roitman MF. Phasic dopamine responses to a food-predictive cue are suppressed by the glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist Exendin-4. *Phys & Behav.* 2020. Noble EE, Hahn JD, **Konanur VR**, Hsu TM, Page SJ, Cortella AM, Liu CM, Song MY, Suarez AN, Szujewski CC, Rider D, Clarke JE, Darvas M, Appleyard SM, Kanoski SE. Control of Feeding Behavior by Cerebral Ventricular Volume Transmission of Melanin-Concentrating Hormone. *Cell Metab.* 2018. Hsu TM, Noble EE, Liu CM, Cortella AM, **Konanur VR**, Suarez AN, Reiner DJ, Hahn JD, Hayes MR, Kanoski SE. A hippocampus to prefrontal cortex neural pathway inhibits food motivation through glucagon-like peptide-1 signaling. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2018.

Hsu TM, Noble EE, Reiner DJ, Liu CM, Suarez AN, **Konanur VR**, Hayes MR, Kanoski SE. Hippocampus ghrelin receptor signaling promotes socially-mediated learned food preference. *Neuropharmacology*. 2018.

Reiner DJ, Mietlicki-Baase EG, McGrath LE, Zimmer DJ, Bence KK, Sousa GL, **Konanur VR**, Krawczyk J, Burk DH, Kanoski SE, Hermann GE, Rogers RC, Hayes MR. Astrocytes Regulate GLP-1 Receptor-Mediated Effects on Energy *Balance. J Neurosci.* 2016.

Hsu TM, Hahn JD, **Konanur VR**, Noble EE, Suarez AN, Thai J, Nakamoto EM, Kanoski SE. Hippocampus ghrelin signaling mediates appetite through lateral hypothalamic orexin pathways. *eLife*. 2015.

Hsu TM, **Konanur VR**, Taing L, Usui R, Kayser BD, Goran MI, Kanoski SE. Effects of sucrose and high fructose corn syrup consumption on spatial memory function and hippocampal neuroinflammation in adolescent rats. *Hippocampus*, 2015.

Hsu TM, Hahn JD, **Konanur VR**, Lam A, Kanoski SE. Hippocampal GLP-1 receptors influence food intake, meal size, and effort-based responding for food through volume transmission. *Neuropyschopharmacology*. 2015.

Presentations / Abstracts (# presenting author, reverse chronological order)

#Konanur VR, Roitman MF. (Jul. 2022) Cytoglucopenia Potentiates Sucrose- and Sucrose Cue-Evoked Dopamine Signaling in the Ventral Tegmental Area. The Society for the Study of Ingestive Behavior (annual meeting). Porto, Portugal (oral presentation; New Investigator Travel Award).

#Konanur VR, Roitman MF. (May 2022) Cytoglucopenia Potentiates Sucrose Evoked Dopamine Signaling in the Ventral Tegmental Area. UIC Graduate Program in Neuroscience Annual Symposium. Chicago, IL (**poster**). **#Konanur VR**, Roitman MF. (Oct. 2021) Glucose dynamics modulate dopamine signaling: implications for foodmotivated behavior. Center for Alcohol Research in Epigenetics: Emerging techniques in Neuroscience. Chicago, IL (**oral presentation**).

#Konanur VR, Roitman MF. (Oct. 2021) Glucose dynamics modulate dopamine signaling: implications for foodmotivated behavior. UIC Neuroscience Graduate Research Symposium (annual meeting). Chicago, IL (**oral presentation**).

#Konanur VR, Roitman MF. (Jul. 2021) Blocking Glucose Utilization via 5-thio-D-glucose Potentiates Sucrose-Evoked Dopamine Signaling in the Ventral Tegmental Area. The Society for the Study of Ingestive Behavior (annual meeting). Virtual meeting (**poster**).

#Konanur VR, Roitman MF. (Apr. 2021) Blocking glucose utilization via 5-thio-D-glucose enhances sucrose evoked dopamine signaling. UIC Graduate Program in Neuroscience Annual Symposium. Chicago, IL (**poster**).

#Konanur VR, Hsu TM, Roitman MF. (Dec 2020) Modulation of Food-Driven Phasic Dopamine Signaling by Glucagon-like Peptide 1. Center for Alcohol Research in Epigenetics Junior Scholar Seminar Series. Chicago, IL (oral presentation).

#Konanur VR, Hsu TM, Roitman MF. (Jan 2020) Modulation of Food-Driven Phasic Dopamine Signaling by Glucagon-like Peptide 1. UIC Neuroscience Graduate Research Symposium (annual meeting). Chicago, IL (**oral presentation**).

#Konanur VR, Hsu TM, Roitman MF. (Nov. 2019) Central Exendin-4 selectively suppresses cue-evoked phasic dopamine spikes and resultant behavior. The Society for Neuroscience (annual meeting). Chicago, IL (**poster**). **#Konanur VR**, Hsu TM, Roitman MF. (Jul. 2019) Central Exendin-4 selectively suppresses cue-evoked phasic dopamine spikes and resultant behavior. The Society for the Study of Ingestive Behavior (annual meeting). Utrecht, Netherlands. (**poster**).

#Konanur VR, Hsu TM, Roitman MF. (May 2019) Central Exendin-4 Selectively Suppresses Cue-Evoked Phasic Dopamine Spikes and Resultant Behavior. Center for Alcohol Research in Epigenetics (annual meeting). Chicago, IL (**poster**).

#Konanur VR, Hsu TM, Roitman MF. (Apr. 2019) Central Exendin-4 Selectively Suppresses Cue-Evoked Phasic Dopamine Spikes and Resultant Behavior. The Society for Neuroscience Chicago Chapter (annual meeting). Chicago, IL (**poster**).

#Konanur VR, Hsu TM, Roitman MF. (Feb. 2019) The satiety factor GLP-1 modulates phasic dopamine signaling and behavior. UIC Neuroscience Graduate Student Symposium (annual meeting). Chicago, IL (**oral presentation**). #Hsu TM, **Konanur VR**, Bazzino P, Roitman MF. (Nov. 2018) Homeostatic need states differentially recruit cue evoked VTA phasic dopamine signaling. The Obesity Society (annual meeting). Nashville, Tennessee (oral presentation). #Hsu TM, **Konanur VR**, Roitman MF. (Jul. 2018) Thirst and the hormone Angiotensin II recruit VTA dopamine signaling to water availability. The Society for the Study of Ingestive Behavior (annual meeting). Bonita Springs, Florida (oral presentation).

#Konanur VR, Roitman MF. (Mar. 2018) Using in vivo Fiber Photometry to Further Understand Mechanisms of Amphetamine Action. Monitoring Molecules in Neuroscience (Biannual meeting). Oxford, UK (**poster**).

#Hsu TM, **Konanur VR**, Roitman MF. (Mar. 2018) Thirst and the hormone Angiotensin II recruit VTA dopamine signalling to water consumption. Monitoring Molecules in Neuroscience (Biannual meeting). Oxford, UK (poster). **#Konanur VR**, Roitman MF. (Oct. 2017) Using in vivo Fiber Photometry to Further Understand Mechanisms of Amphetamine Action. UIC Neuroscience Symposium (annual meeting). Chicago, IL (**poster**).

#Noble EE, Song MY, **Konanur VR**, Hsu TM, Suarez AN, Hahn JD, Kanoski SE. (Jul. 2016) Evidence for "bulk flow" neurohumoral transmission by the orexigenic neuropeptide, melanin-concentrating hormone. The Society for the Study of Ingestive Behavior (Annual Meeting) Porto, Portugal (oral presentation).

#Suarez AN, Hsu TM, **Konanur VR**, Noble EE, Kanoski SE. (Jul. 2016) The role of vagus nerve signaling in hippocampal-dependent memory function. The Society for the Study of Ingestive Behavior (annual meeting) Porto, Portugal (oral presentation).

#Konanur VR, Noble EE, Hsu TM, Kanoski SE, Hahn JD. (Nov. 2015) Neuroanatomical Evidence for Neurohumoral Transmission by Melanin-Concentrating Hormone Neurons in the Rat. The Society for Neuroscience (annual meeting) Chicago, IL (**poster**).

#Hsu TM, Hahn JD, **Konanur VR**, Kanoski SE. (Jul. 2015) A novel hippocampal-hypothalamic neural circuit mediating appetite through ghrelin receptor signaling. The Society for the Study of Ingestive Behavior (annual meeting). Denver, CO (poster).

#Hsu TM, **Konanur VR**, Kanoski SE. (Aug. 2014) Adolescent consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages impairs hippocampal-dependent learning. The Society for the Study of Ingestive Behavior (annual meeting). Seattle, WA (oral presentation).

#Konanur VR, Todd KL, Kristan WB, French K. (Nov. 2011) Identifying and characterizing leech neurons labeling for GABA. The Society for Neuroscience (annual meeting). San Diego, CA (**poster**).

Teaching Experience

Teaching Assistant:

Neuroanatomy - BIOS 483. Spring 2019, 20, 21, 22 Laboratory in Behavioral Neuroscience – PSCH 363. Fall 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021; Spring 2018 Laboratory in Cognitive Neuroscience - PSCH 367, Fall 2017 Biological Techniques - BIBC 103. Fall 2011; Winter 2011, 2012; Spring 2011, 2012 Metabolic Biochemistry - BIBC 102. Fall 2009, 2010, 2012; Winter 2010; Spring 2010 **Guest Lecturer:** Neuroanatomy - BIOS 483. Spring 2022 Seminal on Neurobiology - BIOS 386. Fall 2017 Mentored Undergraduate Research Students: University of Illinois at Chicago: • Paula Bazzino (2018-2019); Post-baccalaureate researcher • Beto Araiza (2021-2022); Post-baccalaureate researcher University of Southern California: • Lilly Taing (2013-2016); Health and Humanity/ Health care studies. • Joanna Liang (2013-2015); Psychology/Natural Science. • Mehul Trivedi (2013-2015); Biological Sciences/ Psychology.

- Dven Llevi (2013-2015), Biological Science
 Dven Llevi (2012-2015), Llymon Biology
- Ryan Usui (2013-2015); Human Biology.
- Emily Nakamoto (2013-2016); Neuroscience/ Art.
- Jessica Thai (2013-2016); Biological Sciences.
- Agustina Kim (2013-2016); Human Biology.
- Allison Apfel (2014-2016); Health Promotion and Disease Prevention.
- Natalie Demirjian (2014-2016); Neuroscience.
- Kaitlin Sontag (2014-2016); Human Biology.

Affiliations/Memberships

• The Society for the Study of Ingestive Behavior (2019, 2021, 2022)

- The Society for Neuroscience Chicago Chapter (2019)
 The Society for Neuroscience (2011, 2015, 2019)
 Monitoring Molecules in Neuroscience (2018)